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ARROW BIDCO LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT

The directors present their strategic report for Arrow Bidco Limited for the year ended 31 December 2020.
SECTION 172(1) STATEMENT

The Company’s principal activity is to act as a holding company for the Artemis group. As it has no employees, the
directors consider that the Company’s principal stakeholders are its shareholders.

The performance of the Company depends solely on dividends received from its subsidiary undertaking, Artemis
Asset Management Limited.

More details on the approach taken by the Artemis group in relation to its corporate governance arrangements are set
out in the annual report of Artemis Investment Management LLP (the main operating entity in the Artemis group) and
do not form part of this report.

RESULTS OF THE BUSINESS

The audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 are set out on pages 8 to 15. The profit for the
financial year was £40,952,000 (2019: £48,062,000) and was transferred to reserves. The directors approve the results
for the year.

Dividends of £40,954,000 were paid during the year (2019: £48,064,000). These dividends were funded by dividends
received from the Company’s subsidiary company, Artemis Asset Management Limited. The reduction in dividend
income is due to a decrease in profit generated by Artemis Investment Management LLP (the main operating entity
in the Artemis group).

On 2 April 2020, 530,036 Ordinary F shares of 50p and 795,053 Ordinary G shares of 10p were issued by the
Company.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES -

From the perspective of the Company, the principal risks and uncertainties are integrated with the principal risks of
the Artemis group and are not managed separately. The Company’s principal activity is to act as a holding company,
receiving dividends from its subsidiary, Artemis Asset Management Limited. Therefore, the Company is not exposed
to specific risks that differ from the Artemis group as a whole. The principal risks and uncertainties of the Artemis
group, which include those of the Company, are set out in the annual report of Artemis Investment Management LLP
(the main operating entity in the Artemis group) and do not form part of this report.

Approved by the Board of Directors
and signed on behalf of the Board

-

M J Murray
Director
1 April 2021



ARROW BIDCO LIMITED

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The directors present their report and the audited financial statements for Arrow Bidco Limited for the year ended 31
December 2020. ‘

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS

Arrow Bidco Limited is a private company limited by shares. It was incorporated, and is domiciled, in England with
registration number 07135283. As referred to in the strategic report, the Company is a holding company for the
Artemis group and its future development is dependent on the level of dividends received from its subsidiary
undertaking. The directors do not anticipate any change to the principal activity in the foreseeable future.

DIVIDENDS

As stated previously, dividends of £40,954,000 were paid during the year (2019: £48,064,000). These dividends were
funded by dividends received from the Company’s subsidiary company, Artemis Asset Management Limited.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Dividends of £10,010,000 were paid in January 2021. These were funded from a dividend received from the
Company’s subsidiary undertaking, Artemis Asset Management Limited.

DIRECTORS
The directors of the Company who served during the year ended 31 December 2020 are listed on page 1.
The following directors had interests in the share capital of the Company at 31 December 2020: -

Ordinary B shares of S0p each

2020 2019

No. No.

A C Frost 2,660,778 2,993,375
M J Murray 1,125,585 1,125,585
Ordinary D shares of SOp each

2020 2019

No. No.

A C Frost 262,294 295,080
M J Murray 244,453 159,419
Ordinary F shares of SOp each

2020 2019

No. No.

M J Murray 63,412 -

STATEMENT OF DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION TO AUDITORS

The directors who held office at the date of approval of this directors’ report confirm that, so far as they are each
aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditors are unaware and each director has taken
all the steps that he ought to have taken as a director to make himself aware of any relevant audit information and to
establish that the Company’s auditors are aware of that information.

DIRECTORS’ INSURANCE

Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance cover is held by the Company to cover directors against certain liabilities
that may arise when conducting their duties.



ARROW BIDCO LIMITED

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES

The directors are responsible for preparing the strategic report, directors’ report and financial statements in accordance
with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law, the
directors have prepared the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising Financial Reporting Standard 102 “The Financial
Reporting Standard Applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland” (FRS 102), and applicable law). Under company
law, directors must not approve financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss of the Company for that period. In preparing financial
statements, directors are required to:

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

¢ make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards comprising FRS 102 have been followed, subject to any
material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and

o  prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company
will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
Company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and
enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible
for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of
fraud and other irregularities.

ENERGY AND CARBON REPORTING

The directors have considered the requirements of the Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting framework. As the
principal activity of Arrow Bidco Limited is to act as a holding company for the Artemis group it is not an energy
user. Therefore, as its energy consumption is below the 40MWh threshold it is not required to make detailed
disclosures of energy and carbon information. Disclosure of Artemis’ energy use, emissions and the actions taken to
improve its energy efficiency during the year are set out in the Energy and Carbon Report within the annual report of
Artemis Investment Management LLP (the main operating entity in the Artemis group).

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
Pursuant to section 487 of the Companies Act 2006, the auditors will be deemed to be re-appointed and

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP will therefore continue in office.

Approved by the Board of Directors
and signed on behalf of the Board

-

M J Murray
Director
1 April 2021



ARROW BIDCO LIMITED

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE DIRECTORS OF ARROW BIDCO
LIMITED

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion
In our opinion, Arrow Bidco Limited’s financial statements:

e give atrue and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31 December 2020 and of its profit and
cash flows for the year then ended;

e have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland”, and applicable law); and

e have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Report and Financial Statements (the “Annual
Report™), which comprise: the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020; the income statement, the
statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and the notes to the financial
statements, which include a description of the significant accounting policies.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”) and applicable
law. Our responsibilities under ISAs (UK) are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We remained independent of the company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit
of the financial statements in the UK, which includes the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

Conclusions relating to going concern

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a
going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this conclusion is not a guarantee as to the
company's ability to continue as a going concern.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the
relevant sections of this report.

Reporting on other information

The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the financial statements
and our auditors’ report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the
financial statements does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or,
except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, any form of assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent material

5



ARROW BIDCO LIMITED

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE DIRECTORS OF ARROW BIDCO
LIMITED

inconsistency or material misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conclude whether there is a
material misstatement of the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on
the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report based on these responsibilities.

With respect to the Strategic report and Directors’ report, we also considered whether the disclosures required by
the UK Companies Act 2006 have been included.

Based on our work undertaken in the course of the audit, the Companies Act 2006 requires us also to report certain
opinions and matters as described below.

Strategic Report and Directors’ Report

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Strategic report
and Directors’ report for the year ended 31 December 2020 is consistent with the financial statements and has been
prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit,
we did not identify any material misstatements in the Strategic report and Directors’ report.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit
Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities, the directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable framework and for being satisfied that
they give a true and fair view. The directors are also responsible for such internal control as they determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error. .

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures
in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities,
including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is
detailed below.

Based on our understanding of the company and industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance
with laws and regulations related to breaches of the Companies Act 2006, and we considered the extent to which
non-compliance might have a material effect on the financial statements, in particular those parts of the Companies
Act 2006 which directly impact the financial statements. We evaluated management’s incentives and opportunities
for fraudulent manipulation of the financial statements (including the risk of override of controls) and determined
that the principal risks were related to posting inappropriate journal entries. Audit procedures performed included:

¢ Enquiries with management, including consideration of known or suspected instances of non-compliance
with laws and regulations and fraud;



ARROW BIDCO LIMITED

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE DIRECTORS OF ARROW BIDCO
LIMITED

e Understanding management's internal controls designed to prevent and detect irregularities;

e Identifying and testing journal entries, meeting certain risk-based criteria, including unusual or unexpected
account combinations and entries posted by unexpected users, where any such journal entries were
identified; ’

e Designing audit procedures to incorporate unpredictability around the nature, timing or extent of our
testing; and,

e Reviewing relevant meeting minutes, including those of the Management Committee and the Compliance,
Risk & Internal Audit Committee.

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above. We are less likely to become aware of
instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations that are not closely related to events and transactions
reflected in the financial statements. Also, the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher
than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example,
forgery or intentional misrepresentations, or through collusion. ‘

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC’s website
at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors’ report.

Use of this report

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s directors as a body in
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving
these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is
shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Other required reporting
Companies Act 2006 exception reporting
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

e we have not obtained all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or

e adequate accounting records have not been kept by the company, or returns adequate for our audit have
not been received from branches not visited by us; or

e  certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

e the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

Waq Alxarder

Gillian Alexander (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Edinburgh

1 April 2021



ARROW BIDCO LIMITED

INCOME STATEMENT
For the year ended 31 December 2020

2020 2019

Note £000 £000

Income from shares in group undertakings 3 40,954 48,064
Proﬁt.before interest and taxation 4 40,954 48,064
Interest payable and similar expenses (2) (2)
Profit before taxation 40,952 48,062
Tax on profit 5 - -
Profit for the financial year 40,952 48,062

There have been no recognised gains and losses attributable to the shareholders other than the profit for the current
and preceding financial year and, accordingly, no Statement of Comprehensive Income is shown.

The current and prior year results have been derived wholly from continuing operations.

The notes on pages 12 to 15 form an integral part of these financial statements.



ARROW BIDCO LIMITED

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2020

2020 2019

Note £000 £000
Fixed assets
[nvestments. 7 201,443 201,443
Current assets )
Cash at bank and in hand 3,770 22
Net current assets 3,770 22
Total assets 205,213 201,465
Capital and reserves .
Called up share capital 8 28,869 28,524
Share premium account 89,091 85,686
Other distributable reserves 54,390 54,390
Profit and loss account 32,863 32,865
Total shareholders’ funds 4 205,213 201,465

The notes on pages 12 to 15 form an integral part of these financial statements. These financial statements were
approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 1 April 2021.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors

C

M J Murray
Director

Company registration number: 07135283



ARROW BIDCO LIMITED

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2020

Balance at 1 January 2019

Profit for the financial year

Total comprehensive income for the year
Dividends

Balance at 31 December 2019

Ordinary share capital issued

Profit for the financial year

Total comprehensive income for the year
Dividends

Balance at 31 December 2020

Share Other Profit and
Share premium distributable loss
capital account reserves account Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
28,524 85,686 54,390 32,867 201,467
- - - 48,062 48,062
- - - 48,062 48,062
- - - (48,064) (48,064)
28,524 85,686 54,390 32,865 201,465
345 3,405 - - 3,750
- - - 40,952 40,952
- - - 40,952 40,952
- - - (40,954) (40,954)
28,869 89,091 54,390 32,863 205,213

Included in the income statement is £nil (2019: £nil) of profits which are not available for distribution as they are

unrealised.

The notes on pages 12 to 15 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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ARROW BIDCO LIMITED

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Cash flows from investing activities
" Dividends from shares in subsidiary

Net cash generated from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Ordinary share capital issued

Dividends paid

Bank charges

Net cash used in financing activities

Net movement in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

The notes on pages 12 to 15 form an integral part of these financial statements.

2020 2019
£000 £000
40,954 48,064
40,954 48,064
3,750 -
(40,954)  (48,064)
@ @
(37,206)  (48,066)
3,748 2)
22 24
3,770 22

11



ARROW BIDCO LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2020

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies are set out below. They have all been applied consistently throughout the
current and preceding years.

General information and basis of accounting

Arrow Bidco Limited is a company domiciled in England and incorporated under the Companies Act,
registration number 07135283. The address of the registered office is given on page 1. The nature of the
Company’s operations and its principal activities are set out on page 2.

These financial statements have been prepared under the historic cost convention (modified to include certain
items at fair value), and in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 102 (FRS 102) and with the
Companies Act 2006.

The financial statements are presented in pound sterling, which is the Company’s functional and operating
currency.

The financial statements contain information about Arrow Bidco Limited as an individual company and do not
contain consolidated financial information as the parent of a group. Having undertaken the analysis required
by Application Guidance to FRS 100 ‘The interpretation of equivalence for the purposes of section 401 of the
Companies Act 2006°, the directors have concluded that the Company is able to take advantage of the
Companies Act exemption from preparing consolidated financial statements on the basis that its ultimate parent
undertaking, Affiliated Managers Group, Inc., prepares group financial statements which incorporate all the
subsidiary and associated undertakings of the Company’s ownership structure and meet the equivalence test in
accordance with international accounting standards, in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act
2006. Copies of the consolidated financial statements of Affiliated Managers Group, Inc. can be obtained from
Affiliated Managers Group, Inc., 777 South Flagler Drive, West Palm Beach, Florida 33401, USA.

Going concern

The directors have assessed the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, which included
consideration of the impact of COVID-19 on the Company, and have a reasonable expectation that the
Company has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. The Company
therefore continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparing its financial statements.

Taxation

UK corporation tax is provided at amounts expected to be paid (or recovered) using the tax rates and laws that
have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Investments

Investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less accumulated impairment. At each balance sheet date an
assessment is undertaken to determine if there is any indication of impairment of subsidiaries. If there is an
indication of impairment, an estimate of the recoverable amount is made. Any impairment is taken to the profit
and loss account.

Interest

Interest receivable comprises interest on bank accounts and on inter-company loans and is recognised in the
income statement on an accruals basis.

Dividends

Dividend receivables and liabilities are only recognised when the dividends have been declared and approved.

12



ARROW BIDCO LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2020

2,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

In the application of the Company’s accounting policies, which are described in note 1, the directors are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources. As the estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant, actual results may differ from these
estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.

The directors consider that there are no accounting estimates that have been made or sources of uncertainty in
the current year that would have a material effect on these financial statements.

INCOME FROM SHARES IN GROUP UNDERTAKINGS

During the year the Company received dividends of £40,954,000 (2019: £48,064,000) from its subsidiary,
Artemis Asset Management Limited.

PROFIT BEFORE INTEREST AND TAXATION

The audit fee for the Company of £5,057 (2019: £4,910) was borne by Artemis Investment Management LLP.
No fees were paid to the auditors in respect of non-audit services for the current or prior year.

No directors received remuneration for services to the Company in the current or prior year directly from the
Company. Two directors were also members of Artemis Investment Management LLP during the year.

There were no employees during the current year or prior year. All service contracts are with Artemis
Investment Management LLP.

TAX ON PROFIT

2020 2019
£000 £000
Reconciliation of tax charge
Profit before taxation 40,952 48,062
Tax charge on profit at 19% (2019: 19%) 7,781 9,132
Non-taxable dividend from subsidiary undertaking (7,781) (9,132)

Tax charge for the year - -

The tax assessed for the year is equal to (2019: equal to) the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK.

13



ARROW BIDCO LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2020

6.

ORDINARY DIVIDENDS PAID

2020 2019
£000 £000
Dividends on ordinary shares 40,954 48,064

Dividends on Ordinary B, C, D and E shares of 10.73p, 9.49p, 8.45p and 8.45p per share were paid in January,
April, August and October respectively (2019: 11.40p, 10.79p, 11.02p and 10.59p per share were paid in
January, April, July and October respectively).

On 2 April 2020, 530,036 Ordinary F shares of S0p and 795,053 Ordinary G shares of 10p were issued by the
Company. Dividends on Ordinary F and G shares of 8.45p and 8.45p per share were paid in August and
October.

INVESTMENTS
2020 2019
£000 £000
Investment in subsidiary undertaking 201,443 201,443

The Company owns 100% of the ordinary share capital of Artemis Asset Management Limited, a company
registered in Scotland. The directors consider the value of the investment to be supported by that entity’s
underlying assets.

CALLED UP SHARE CAPITAL

2020 2019

£000 £000
Authorised, Allotted and fully paid
38,808,000 Ordinary B shares of 50p each 19,404 19,404
58,212,000 Ordinary C shares of 10p each 5,821 5,821
5,075,120 Ordinary D shares of 50p each 2,538 2,538
7,612,680 Ordinary E shares of 10p each 761 761
530,036 Ordinary F shares of 50p each 265 -
795,053 Ordinary G shares of 10p each 80 -

28,869 28,524

Holders of the Ordinary B, C, D, E, F and G shares have the right to receive dividends out of the profits of the
Company. The ordinary shares cannot be redeemed at the option of the Company or its shareholders.

14
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ARROW BIDCO LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2020

9.

10.

11

ULTIMATE PARENT UNDERTAKING

As at 31 December 2020, the Company’s immediate parent undertaking was AMG Arrow Holdings Limited, a
company incorporated in the Bahamas.

The Company’s ultimate parent undertaking which presents group financial statements in which the Company
is included is Affiliated Managers Group, Inc., a company incorporated in the USA. These group financial
statements are available from Affiliated Managers Group, Inc., 777 South Flagler Drive, West Palm Beach,
Florida 33401, USA.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company received dividends of £40,954,000 (2019: £48,064,000) from its subsidiary, Artemis Asset
Management Limited.

The Company paid dividends of £111,961 (2019: £64,680) to its immediate parent undertaking, AMG Arrow
Holdings Limited. At the year end, there was a net balance due to AMG Arrow Holdings Limited of £nil (2019:
£nil).

The Company paid dividends of £24,572,000 (2019: £28,838,000) to its ultimate parent undertaking, Affiliated
Managers Group, Inc. At the year end, there was a net balance due to Affiliated Managers Group, Inc. of £nil
(2019: £nil).

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Dividends of £10,010,000 were paid in January 2021. These were funded from a dividend from the Company’s
subsidiary undertaking, Artemis Asset Management Limited, in January 2021.

15
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(800) 345-1100
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Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of each class Trading Symbol(s) Name of each exchange on which registered
Common Stock ($0.01 par value) AMG New York Stock Exchange
5.875% Junior Subordinated Notes due 2059 MGR New York Stock Exchange
4.750% Junior Subordinated Notes due 2060 MGRB . New York Stock Exchange

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act:

None

Indicate by checli marl if the registrant is a well known scasoned issuer; as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act. Yes No 0
Tudicate by check maik if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act. Yeso  No

Indicate by checlk mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the Registrant was required to file such reports); and (2) has been subject to such
filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes ® No o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405
of Regulation S-T (§ 232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such



files). Yes Noo

Indicate by check marl: whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company; or
emerging growth company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” “smaller reporting company,” and “emerging growth
company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer Accelerated filer OJ Non-accelerated filer O Smaller reporting company O Emerging growth O
company

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has clected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any
new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed a report on and attestation to its management’s assessment of the effectiveness of its internal
control over financial reporting under Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (15 U.S.C. 7262(b)) by the registered public accounting firm that prepared
or issued its audit report.

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act). Yes O No

At June 30, 2020, the aggregate market value of the common stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant, based upon the closing price of $74.56 on
June 30, 2020 on the New York Stock Exchange, was $3,462,090,036. There were 42,622,300 shares of the registrant’s common stock outstanding on
February 18, 2021.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the definitive proxy statement to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after December 31, 2020, and
delivered to stockholders in connection with the registrant’s annual meeting of stockholders, are incorporated by reference into Part III.
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PART I
Forward-Looking Statements

Certain matters discussed in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, in our other filings with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC?”), in
our press releases and in oral statements made with the approval of an executive officer may constitute “forward-looking statements” within the meaning
of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These statements include, but are not limited to, statements related to our expectations regarding
the performance of our business, our financial results, our liquidity and capital resources, and other non-historical statements, and may be prefaced with
words such as “outlook,” “guidance,” “believes,” “expects,” “potential,” “preliminary,” “continues,” “may,” “will,” “should,” “seeks,”
“approximately,” “predicts,” “projects,” “positioned,” “prospects,” “intends,” “plans,” “estimates,” “pending investments,” “anticipates” or the
negative version of these words or other comparable words. Such statements are subject to certain risks and uncertaintics, including, among others, the
factors discussed under the caption “Jiem 1A. Risk Factois. " These factors (among others) could affect our financial condition, business activities, results
of operations, cush flows v vverull financial perforiance and cause actual results and business activitics to differ materially from historical periods and
those presently anticipated and projected. Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date they are made, and we will not undertake and we
specifically disclaim any obligation to release publicly the result of any revisions that may be made to any forward-looking statements to reflect events or
circumstances after the dute of such statenients or to reflect the occurrence of events, whether or not anticipated. In that respect, we caution readers not to
place undue reliance on any such forward-looking statements.

”» @ 3 o« » o« 3 o« » o« " a 2«

Ttem 1. Business

We are a leading partner to independent active investment management firms globally. Our strategy is to generate long-term value by investing in a
diverse array of excellent partner-owned investment firms, which we call our “Affiliates,” through a proven partnership approach, and allocating
resources across our unique opportunity set to the areas of highest growth and return. Our innovative partnership approach enables each Affiliate’s
management team to own significant equity in their firm while maintaining operational and investment autonomy. In addition, we offer our Affiliates
growth capital, global distribution, and other strategic value-added capabilities, which enhance the long-term growth of these independent businesses and
enable them to align equity incentives across generations of principals to build enduring franchises. As of December 31, 2020, our aggregate assets under
management were approximately $716 billion, across a broad range of active, return-oriented strategies.

We generate long-term value by investing in new Affiliates, existing Affiliates, and centralized capabilities through which we can leverage our scale
and resources to benefit our Affiliates, and then by returning excess capital to shareholders, primarily through share repurchases. In partnering with
Affiliates, we are focused on investing in leading independent investment firms around the world managing active, return-oriented strategies, including
traditional, alternative, and wealth management firms. Within our target universe, we seek strong and growing firms that offer illiquid and liquid
alternative strategies, global equity strategies, US equity strategies and multi-asset and fixed income strategies. Given their long-term performance
records, our Affiliates are recognized as being among the industry’s leaders in their respective investment disciplines.

Through our partnership approach, we hold meaningful equity interests in each of our Affiliates, and typically each Affiliate’s management team
retains a significant equity interest in their own firm. Affiliate management equity ownership (along with our long-term ownership) aligns our interests
and preserves Affiliate management equity incentives, including the opportunity for Affiliate management to participate directly in the long-term future
growth and profitability of their firms.

In certain cases, we invest in our Affiliates by providing growth capital or complementing their own marketing resources with our proven global
distribution capabilities. We also provide succession planning sclutions and advice to our Affiliates, which can include a degree of liquidity and financial
diversification along with incentive alignment for next-generation partners. We take a long-term partnership approach with our Affiliates, which provides
stability in facilitating succession planning across generations of Affiliate management principals. We are uniquely able to provide strategic support and
expertise across various stages of our Affiliates’ growth. We believe that clients recognize certain fundamental characteristics of focused independent
investment managers, especially direct equity ownership by management principals as well as investment and operational independence, as competitive
advantages for these firms in achieving client investment goals and objectives, especially through alpha generation. Our investment approach preserves
these essential elements for our Affiliates, and in partnering with us, our Affiliates can continue to grow while retaining their independence. Independent
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firms seeking an institutional partner are attracted to our unique partnership approach and our global reputation and track record across nearly three
decades as a successful and supportive partner to boutique investment firms around the world.

We anticipate that the principal owners of independent investment firms will continue to seek access to an evolving range of growth and succession
solutions. We will, therefore, continue to have a significant opportunity to invest in outstanding firms across the global asset management industry,
including investment opportunities resulting from subsidiary divestitures, secondary sales and other special situations. In addition, we have the
opportunity to make additional equity investments in our existing Affiliates, or invest in their growth by providing seed or other growth capital. We are
well-positioned to execute upon these investment opportunities through our established process of identifying and cultivating high-quality investment
prospects; our broad industry network and proprietary relationships developed with prospects over many years; our substantial experience and expertise
in structuring and negotiating transactions; and our strong global reputation as an outstanding partner to our Affiliates, as well as for providing innovative
solutions for the strategic needs of independent investment firms.

Investment Management Operations

Through our Affiliates, we provide a comprehensive and diverse range of active, return-oriented strategies designed to assist institutional, retail, and
high net worth clients worldwide in achieving their investment objectives. We manage disciplined and focused investment strategies that address the
specialized needs of institutional clients, including foundations and endowments, defined benefit and defined contribution plans for corporations and
municipalities, and multi-employer plans. We provide investment management expertise to retail investors through advisory and sub-advisory services to
active, return-oriented mutual funds, Undertakings for the Collective Investment of Transferable Securities (“UCITS”), collective investment trusts, and
other retail products. We also provide investment management and customized investment counseling and fiduciary services to high net worth individuals,
families, charitable foundations, and individually managed accounts directly and through intermediaries, including brokerage firms or other sponsors.

As of December 31, 2020, we managed approximately $716 billion in equity, alternative, and multi-asset strategies across investment styles, asset
classes, and geographies. The following chart provides information regarding our equity, alternative, and multi-asset strategies as of December 31, 2020.

Assets Under Management

Equities
. Global /. Int1 Equities’
Equities Emeiging Markets Equities

54% U.S. Equities

Altemnatives

Liquid Alfernatives

1Biquid Alternatives

Mutfi-Asset
Il Multi-Asset & Fixed Income

Through our Affiliates, we offer investors access to a broad and diverse array of independent investment managers with distinct brands and specialized
investment processes. Our Affiliates distribute their investment services and products to institutional investors through direct sales efforts and established
relationships with consultants and intermediaries around the world through their own business development resources. In addition, our global distribution
platform operates in major markets to extend the reach of our Affiliates’ own business development efforts, including strategy, marketing, distribution, and
product development. Our Affiliates benefit from the expertise of our senior sales and marketing professionals located in the U.S., the UK, the Middle East,
Asia, and Australia.
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Our Affiliates’ investment management services are also distributed globally to retail investors through our Affiliates’ own efforts and through our
retail distribution platform in the form of advisory and sub-advisory services to mutual funds and other retail oriented products. Our Affiliates’ investment
management services are delivered to retail investors through various intermediaries, including independent investment advisers, retitement plan sponsors,
broker-dealers, major fund marketplaces, sponsors of separately managed accounts (including unified managed accounts), and bank trust departments.

Our Affiliates currently manage assets for investors in more than 50 countries, including all major developed markets.
Our Structure and Relationship with Affiliates

‘We maintain long-term partnerships with the management equity owners of our Affiliates, and believe that Affiliate management equity ownership
(along with our long-term ownership) aligns our and our Affiliates’ interests, enhances Affiliate management equity incentives, and preserves the
opportunity for Affiliate management to participate directly in the long-term future growth and profitability of their firm. Our innovative partnership
approach maintains our Affiliates’ unique entrepreneurial cultures, investment independence, and operational autonomy in managing their businesses.
Although the equity structure of each Affiliate investment is tailored to meet the needs of the management equity owners of the particular Affiliate, we
typically maintain a meaningful equity interest in the Affiliate, with a significant equity interest retained by Affiliate management.

Each of our Affiliates operates through distinct legal entities, which affords us the flexibility to design a separate operating agreement for each Affiliate
that reflects our customized arrangements with respect to governance, economic participation, equity incentives and the other terms of our relationship. In
each case, the operating agreement provides for a governance structure that gives Affiliate management the authority to manage and operate the business
on a day-to-day basis. The operating agreement also reflects the specific terms of our economic participation in the Affiliate, which, in each case, uses a
“structured partnership interest” to ensure alignment of our economic interests with those of Affiliate management.

For a majority of our Affiliates, we use structured partnership interests in which we contractually share in the Affiliate’s revenue without regard to
expenses. In this type of structured partnership interest, the Affiliate allocates a specified percentage of its revenue to us and Affiliate management, while
using the remainder of its revenue for operating expenses and for additional distributions to Affiliate management. We and Affiliate management, therefore,
participate in any increase or decrease in revenue, and only Affiliate management participates in any increase or decrease in expenses. Under these
structured partnership interests our contractual share of revenue generally has priority over distributions to Affiliate management.

For other Affiliates, we use structured partnership interests in which we contractually share in the Affiliate’s revenue less agreed-upon expenses. This
type of partnership interest allows us to benefit from any increase in revenue or any decrease in the agreed-upon expenses, but also exposes us to any
decrease in revenue or any increase in such expenses. The degree of our exposure to expenses from these structured partnership interests varies by Affiliate
and includes Affiliates in which we fully share in the expenses of the business.

When we own a controlling equity interest in an Affiliate, we consolidate the Affiliate’s financial results into our Consolidated Financial Statements.
When we do not own a controlling equity interest in an Affiliate, but have significant influence, we account for our interest in the Affiliate under the equity
method. Under the equity method of accounting, we do not consolidate the Affiliate’s results into our Consolidated Financial Statements. Instead, our share
of earnings or losses, net of amortization and impairments, is included in Equity method loss (net) in our Consolidated Statements of Income, and our
interest in these Affiliates is reported in Equity method investments in Affiliates (net) in our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Whether we consolidate an Affiliate’s financial results or use the equity method of accounting, we maintain the same innovative partnership approach
and provide support and assistance in substantially the same manner for all of our Affiliates. From time (o time, we may restructure our interest in an
Affiliate to better support the Affiliate’s growth strategy.

Competition

Our Affiliates compete with a large number of domestic and foreign investment management firms, as well as with subsidiaries of larger financial
organizations. These finns may have significantly greater financial, technological, and marketing resources; captive distribution; and assets under
management. Many of these firms offer an even broader array of products and services in particular investment strategies such as passively-managed
products, including exchange traded funds, that typically carry lower fee rates, as well as environmental, social, and governance (“ESG”) strategies and
other developing strategies or trends. Certain of our Affiliates offer their investment management services to the same client types and, from
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time to time, may compete with each other for clients. In addition, there are relatively few barriers to entry for new investment management firms,
especially for those looking to provide investment management services to institutional and high nct worth investors. We believe that the most important
factors affecting our Affiliates’ ability to compete for clients are the:

+ investment performance; investment styles, and reputations of our Affiliates and their management tcams;

- diversity of our Affiliates’ investment strategies and products and the continued development, either organically or through new investments, of
investiment strategies to meet the changing needs and risk tolerances of investors;

= depth and continuity of our and our Affiliates’ client relationships and the level of client service offered;
+ maintenance of strong business relationships by us and our Affiliates with major intermediaries; and

«  continued success of our and our Affiliates’ distribution efforts.

The relative importance of each of these factors can vary depending on client type and the investment management service involved, as well as general
market conditions. The ability to compete with other investment management firms also depends, in part, on the relative attractiveness of vur Al(iliates’
active, return-oriented strategics, market trends, fees, or a combination of these factors.

We compete with a number of acquirers of and investors in boutique investment firms, including other investment management coinpanies, privale
equity firms, sovercign wealth funds, and larger financial organizations. We believe that the most important factors affecting our ability to coinpete (ot
future investments are the:

- breadth and depth of our relationships with boutique investment firms;

« target firms’ view of our innovative partnership approach, including our succession planning solutions and the preservation of their unique
entrepreneurial cultures, investment independence, and operational autonomy in managing their businesses;

»  purchase price, liquidity, equity incentive structures, and access to economies of scale that we offer (financially, operationally or otherwise) as
compared to acquisition or investment arrangements offered by others; and

- reputation and performance of our Affiliates, by which target firms may judge us and our future prospects.

Government Regulation

Qur Affiliates offer their investment management services and products around the world, and are subject to complex and cxtensive vegulation by
regulatory and self regulatory authorities and exchanges in various jurisdictions. Virtually all aspeets of the asact management business, including the
provision of advice, investment strategies and trading; fund sponsorship, and product related sales and distribution activitics, are subject to rcgulation.
These regulations are primarily intended to protect the clients of investment advisers and generally grant regulatory authorities broad administrative and

enforcement powers.

The majority of our Affiliates are registered with the SEC as investment advisers under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, as amended (the
“Advisers Act”). The Advisers Act imposes numerous obligations on registered investment advisers, including fiduciary duties, compliance and disclosure
obligations, and operational and recordkeeping requirements. Our Affiliates operating outside of the U.S. may be subject to the Advisers Act and arc also
subject to regulation by various regulatory and self-regulatory authorities and exchanges in the relevant jurisdictions, including, for those Affiliates active
in the UK, the Financial Conduct Authority (the “FCA”). Many of our Affiliates also sponsor or advise registered and unregistered funds in the U.S. and in
other juricdictions, and are subject to regulatory requircments in the jurisdictions where those funds are sponsored or offcred, including, with respect to
mutual funds in the U.S., the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (the “Investment Company Act”). The Investment Company Act governs the
eporations of muwal funds and imposes obligations on their advisers, including investment restrictions and other govemnance, compliance, repoiting aird
fiduciary obligations relating to the management of murual funds. Many of our Affiliates arc also subject to dircctives and regulations in the Curopean
Union and other jurisdictions relating to funds, such as the UCITS Directive and the Alternative Investment Fund Managers Directive (“AIFMD”) with

respect to depositary functions, remuncration policics and sanctions, among other matters.
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Our Affiliates’ sales and marlketing activitics are subject to regulation by authorities in the jurisdictions in which they offer investment management
products and services. Our Affiliates” ability to transact business in these jurisdictions, and to conduct related cross border activities, is subject to the
continuing availability of regulatory authorizations and cxemptions. Through our global distribution platform; we also engage in sales and marketing
activitics that extend the rcach of our Affiliates” own business development efforts, and which are subject to regulation in numerous jurisdictions. Our U.S.
retail distribution subsidiary is registered with the SEC under the Advisers Act. This subsidiary sponsors mutual funds registered under the Investment
Company Act, and scrves as an investment adviser and/or administrator for the AMG Tunds complex. In the UK, our global distribution subsidiary is
regulated by the TCA. We also have global distribution subsidiarics or branches of subsidiarics regulated by the Dubai Financial Services Authority, the
Securities and Futures Commission in Hong Kong, and the Australian Securities and Investments Commission, and our activities in the European Union
are regulated by various regulators in European jurisdictions.

Certain of our Affiliates and our U.S. retail distribution subsidiary are subject to the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended
(“ERISA”), and related regulations, with respect to retirement plan clients. ERISA imposes duties on persons who are fiduciaries under ERISA, and
prohibits certain transactions involving related parties to a retirement plan. The U.S. Department of Labor (“DOL”) administers ERISA and regulates
investment advisers who service retirement plan clients, and has been increasingly active in proposing and adopting additional regulations applicable to the
asset management industry. Certain of our Affiliates and our U.S. retail distribution subsidiary are also members of the National Futures Association and
arc regulated by the U.S. Commeodity Futures Trading Commission (“CFTC”) with respect to the management of funds and other products that utilize
futures, swaps or other CFTC-regulated instruments.

Tn addition, certain of our Affiliates and our U.S. retail broker-dealer subsidiary are registered broker dealers and members of the Financial Industry
Regulatory Authority (“FINRA™), for the purpose of distributing funds or other products. FINRA has adopted extensive regulatory requirements relaring tn
sales practices, registration of personncl, compliance and supervision, and compensation and disclosure. FINRA and the SEC have the authority to conduct
periodic examinations of mcmber broker-dealers, and may also conduct administrative proceedings. These broker-dealers are also subject to net capital
rules in the U.S. that mandate the maintenance of certain levels of capital, and our Affiliates and our global distribution subsidiaries may alco be subject to
other regulatory capital requirements imposed by non-U.S. regulatory authorities.

Duc to the extensive laws and regulations to which we and our Affiliates are subject, we and our Affiliates must devote substantial time, expense and
cffort to remain current on, and to addrese, legal and regulatory compliance matters. We have established compliance programs for each of our operating,
subsidiarics, and cach of our Affiliatcs has established compliance programs to address regulatory compliance requirements for its operations. We and our
Affiliates have expericneed legal and compliance professionals in place to address these requirements, and have relationships with various legal and
regulatory advisers in each of the countries where we and our Affiliates conduct business. See “Item 1A. Risk Factors”.

Human Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2020, we and our Affiliates had approximately 3,900 employees, the substantial majority of which were employed by our
Affiliatcs and not by AMG. Through our innovative partnership approach with our Affiliates, cach Affiliate’s management team retains operational
autonomy in managing and operating their business on a day to day basis, including with respect to their human capital. AMG and Affiliates frequently
share and discuss best practices in managing, aligning and engaging their respective worliforce. Given this approach, the following is a discussion of
AMG’s workforce, or approximately 5% of the total employees, and the policies and cultural initiatives in respect of our human capital.

Our employees and our reputation are our most important assets, and attracting, retaining, and motivating top talent to execute on our strategic business
objectives is a fundamental imperative. We support that imperative through our strong values based culture, commitment to career development and
training, cmploycc engagement, attractive compensation and benefits programs, attention to succession planning, and fostering of diversity and inclusion at
all levels of our organization.

Our lcadcrship training and sponsored skills development programs cover a wide range of subject arca enpertise as well as career development
generally, and arc anchored on a comprehensive performance review process, which includes a company wide 260-degree review program. Further, we
support cmployces’ educational pursuits relating to degree programs and certifications through company-supported time off for professional development
and flexible work arrangements tailored to individual employees’ educational goals. We regularly conduct company wide surveys to solicit feedback from
our employces on a varicty of topics, including philanthropic intcrests, remote working, work from home technology needs, flexible time off, and general
job satisfaction, which help us enhance employee engagement and retention. OQur 2020 anonymous employee
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engagement survey reported an employee satisfaction rating of 92%, relative to 88% in 2019, which we attribute to our focus and commitment to our
employees.

We prioritize employee engagement through a range of cross functional, multi-level communication mediums, which historically have included siall
working group lunches; company wide town halls, management off sitcs, and charitable voluntcer activities, and more recently have continued inn virtual
forums. Through employee participation in our corporate philanthropic initiatives across our global offices, we are committed to giving back to the
communities in which we operate; and we believe that these initiatives also support our cfforts to attract and rctain employees. We provide coipaiiy-
supported time off to encourage employees in their charitable endeavers. We also have a formal program to match empluyee donations Lo eligible non=
profit institutions through AMG and The AMG Charitable Foundation. Through our matching program as well as through direct grants, AMG and The
AMG Charitable Foundation have made donations to over 300 organizations around the world.

We believe diversity and inclusion result in a highly creative and innovative workforce, and are committed to fostering and promoting an inclusive and
diverse work environment. We seek to recruit the best people for the job without regard to gender, ethnicity or other protected traits, and it is our policy to
comply fully with all domestic, foreign and local laws relating to discrimination in the workplace. We have achieved gender diversity of approximately
40% across management positions in our worliforce, and overall approximatcly 5036 of our cmployces arc women (in cach case, excluding our U.5. retail
distribution subsidiary). Further, 50% of the independent members of our Board of Directors are women, and 33% of the independent directors are
ethnically diverse, in each case, above the average of S&P 500 companies. We continually seek to enhance the diversity of our employee base, as our
employees around the world contribute their distinct perspectives to improve our business and the communities in which our businesses operate. Our
executive management team has responsibility for diversity initiatives, in coordination with our Sustainability Committee, and reviews these initiatives
with our Board of Directors at least annually.

Our Website

Qur website i5 www.amg.com. Our website provides information about us, and, from time to time, we may use it to distribute material copany
information. We routinely post financial; investment performance and other important information regarding the Company it the Investor Relations sectivu
of our website and we encourage investors to consult that section regularly. The Investor Relations section of our website also includes copies of our
Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and Current Reports on Form 8-K, including exhibits, and any amendments to those
reports filed or furnished with the SEC pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. We make these reports
available threugh our website as soon as reasonably practicable after our electronic filing of such materials with, or the furnishing of thein to, the SEC. The
information contained or incorporated on our website is not a part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Ttem 1A. Risk Factors

We and our Affiliates face a variety of risks that are substantial and inherent in our businesses. The following are some of the more important factors
that could affect our and our Affiliates’ businesses. Certain statements in “Risk Factors” are forward-looking statements. See “Forward-Looking
Statements.” ’ ’

RISKS RELATED TO OUR INDUSTRY, BUSINESS AND OPERATIONS

Our financial results depend on our Affiliates’ receipt of asset and performance based fees, and are impacted by investment performance, as well as
changes in fee levels, product mix and the relative levels of assets under management among our Affiliates.

Our financial results depend on our Affiliates’ receipt of asset and performance based fees, which may vary substantially from year to year. Our
Affiliates’ ability to maintain curent fee levels depends on a number of factors, including our Affiliates’ investment performance, as well as competition
and tiends in the asset management industry, including investor demand for passively-managed products, including exchange traded funds, that typically
cany luwer fee vates, ov prefereiices for other developing strategics or trends. Further, different types of asscts under management can generate different
ratius of assel based fees to asscts under management (“asset based fee ratio”), based on factors such as the investment strategy and the type of client. Thug,
a change in the composition of our assets under management, either within an Affiliate or among our Affiliates, could result in a decrease in our aggregate
fees even if our aggregate asscts under management remaing unchanged or increases. Products that use fee structures based on investment performance may
alsu vary sigiificaitly fium peiiod to paricd, depending on the investment performance of the particular product. Tor some of our Affiliates; performance
based fees include a high-watermark provision, which gencrally provides that if a product underperforms on an absolute basis or relative to its benchmark,
it must regain such underperformance before the Affiliate will earn any performance based fees. In addition, in the ordinary course of business, our
Affiliates may reduce or waive fees on certain products for particular time periods, to attract or retain assets or for other reasons. Mo assurances can be
given that oui Affiliatcs will be able to maintain current fee structures or levels. A reduction in the fees that our Affiliates receive could have an adverse
impact on our financial condition and results of operations.

Additionally, cur structured partnership interests arc tailored to meet the needs of cach Affiliate and are therefore varied, and our earnings may be
adversely affected by changes in the relative performance or in the relative levels and mix of assets under management among our Affiliates, independent
uof our aggregate operating performaince measures. Further, certain Affiliates contribute more significantly to our results than other Affiliates and, therefore,
chiainges in fee levels, product mix, assets under management or investment performance of such Affiliates could have a disproportionate adverse impact on
our financial condition and results of operations.

Our financial results could be adversely affected by any reduction in our assets under management, which could reduce the asset and performance
based fees earned by our Affiliates.

Our financial results may be impacted by changes in the total level of our assets under management. The total level of our assets under management
generally or with respect to particular products or Affiliates could be adversely affected by conditions outside of our contral, including:

+ & decline in the market value of our asscts under management, due to declines or heightened volatility in the capital markets, fluctuations in
foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates, inflation rates or the yield curve, and other market factors;

«  changes in investor risk tolerance or investment preferences, which could result in investor allocations away from active, return -oriented strategies
offered by our Affiliates;

- i Affiliates’ ability to atract and retain client assets and market products and services, which may be impacted by investment performance,
client relationships, demand for product and service offerings, and the prices of securities generally;

+ global economic conditions, which may be exacerbated by changes in the equity or debt markets;

- financial ciises, political or diplomatic developments, public health crises, such as pandemics, trade wars, social or civil unrest; insurrection; war,
terrorism, or natural disasters; and

»  other factors that are difficult to predict.
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A reduction in our assets under management could adversely affect the fees payable to our Affiliates and, ultimately, our financial condition and results
of operations.

If our or our Affiliates’ reputations are harmed, we could suffer losses in our business and financial results.
D

The success of our business depends on earning and maintaining the trust and confidence of our Affiliates and our stockholders, our ability to compete
for future investment opportunities, and our and our Affiliates’ reputations among existing and potential clients. Our and our Affiliates’ reputations are
critical to our business and could be impacted by events that may be difficult or impossible to control, and costly or impossible to remediate. For example,
alleged or actual failures by us, our Affiliates or our respective employees to comply with applicable laws, rules or regulations, errors in our public reports,
cyber-attack or data breach incidents, expectations and perceptions of our or our Affiliates’ ESG practices, threatened or actual litigation against us, any of
our Affiliates or our respective employees, or the public announcement and potential publicity surrounding any of these issues, even if inaccurate,
satisfactorily addressed, or if no violation or wrongdoing actually occurred, could adversely impact our or our Affiliates’ reputations and their relationships
with clients, our relationships with our Affiliates, and our ability to negotiate agreements with new independent investment firms, any of which could have
an adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

The asset management industry is highly competitive.

Our Affiliates compete with a broad range of domestic and foreign investment management firms, including public, private and client-owned
investment advisers; firms managing passively-managed products, including exchange traded funds, as well as other firms managing active, return-oriented
strategies; firms associated with securities broker-dealers, financial institutions, insurance companies, private equity firms, sovereign wealth funds; and
other entities. These firms may have significantly greater financial, technological and marketing resources, captive distribution and assets under
management, and many of these firms offer an even broader array of products and services in particular invesument strategies, including ESG strategies and
other developing strategies and trends. These firms may also compete by seeking to capitalize on a trend towards institutions consolidating the number of
investment managers they work with. Competition from these firms may reduce the fees that our Affiliates can obtain for investment management services,
or could impair our Affiliates’ ability to attract and retain client assets. We believe that our Affiliates’ ability to compete effectively with other firms
depends upon our Affiliates’ strategies, investment performance, reputations, client relationships, fee structures, client-servicing capabilities, and the
marketing and distribution of their investment strategies, among other factors. See “Competition” in Ttem 1. Our Affiliates may not compare favorably with
their competitors in any or all of these categories. From time to time, our Affiliates may also compete with each other for clients.

Investment management contracts are subject to termination on short notice.

Through our Affiliates, we derive almost all of our asset and performance based fees from clients pursuant to investment management contracts. While
certain of our Affiliates’ private equity and alternative products have long-term commitment periods, many of our Affiliates’ investment management
contracts are terminable by the client without penalty upon relatively short notice (typically not longer than 60 days). We cannot be certain that our
Affiliates will be able to retain their existing clients or attract new clients. If our Affiliates’ clients terminate their investment management contracts or
withdraw a substantial amount of assets, it is likely to harm our results of operations. In addition, investment management contracts with mutual funds or
other retail products are subject to annual approval by the fund’s board of directors.

We may need to raise additional capital in the future, and existing or future resources may not be available to us in sufficient amounts or on acceptable
terms.

While we believe that our existing cash resources and cash flow from operations will be sufficient to meet our working capital needs for normal
operations for the foreseeable future, our continuing acquisitions of interests in independent investment firms and our other strategic initiatives may require
additional capital. Further, we have significant repurchase obligations relating to Affiliate equity interests, and it is difficult to predict the frequency and
magnitude of these repurchases. As of December 31, 2020, the current redemption value relating to Affiliate equity repurchase obligations was presented
within Redeemable non-controlling interests on our Consolidated Balance Sheets and was $671.5 million, which includes $35.4 million of consolidated
Affiliate sponsored investment products primarily attributable to third-party investors. See “Liquidity and Capital Resources-Affiliate Equity” in Item 7 and
Notes 17 and 18 of the Consolidated Financial Statements. These obligations may require more cash than is then available from our existing cash resources
and cash flows from operations. Thus, we may need to raise capital through additional borrowings or by selling shares of our common stock or other equity
or debt securities, or otherwise refinance a portion of these obligations.
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As of December 31, 2020, we had outstanding debt of $2.5 billion. Our level of indebtedness may increase if we fund future investments or other
expenses through borrowings. Any additional indebtedness could increase our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions and may
require us to dedicate a greater portion of our cash flows from operations to payments on our indebtedness.

The financing activities described above could increase our Interest expense, decrease our Net income (controlling interest) or dilute the interests of
our existing stockholders. In addition, our access to additional capital, and the cost of capital we are able to access, is influenced by a number of factors,
including the state of global credit and equity markets, interest rates, credit spreads and our credit ratings. We are rated A3 by Moody’s Investors Service
and BBB+ by S&P Global Ratings. A reduction in our credit ratings could also increase our borrowing costs under our credit facilities or, in certain cases,
give rise to a termination right by the counterparty under our derivative financial instruments.

Our debt agreements impose certain covenants relating to the conduct of our business, including financial covenants under our credit facilities, any
breach of which could result in the acceleration of the repayment of any amounts borrowed or outstanding thereunder.

Our debt agreements contain customary affirmative operating covenants and negative covenants that, among other things, place certain limitations on
our and our subsidiaries’ ability to incur-debt, merge or transfer assets, and create liens and, in the case of our credit facilities, require us to maintain
specified financial ratios, including a maximum leverage ratio and a minimum interest coverage ratio. The breach of any covenant (either due to our actions
or omissions or, in the case of financial covenants, due to a significant and prolonged market-driven decline in our operating results) could result in a
default under the applicable debt agreement and, in the case of our credit facilities, lenders could refuse to make further extensions of credit to us. Further,
in the event of certain defaults, amounts borrowed under our debt agreements, together with accrued interest and other fees, could become immediately due
and payable. If any indebtedness were to become subject to accelerated repayment, we may not have sufficient liquid assets to repay such indebtedness in
full.

We have substantial intangibles on our balance sheet, and any impairment of our intangibles could adversely affect our financial condition and results
of operations.

As of December 31, 2020, our total assets were $7.9 billion, of which $3.7 billion were intangibles, and $2.1 billion were equity method investments in
Affiliates, an amount primarily composed of intangible assets. We cannot be certain that we will realize the value of such intangible assets. Our intangible
assets may become impaired as a result of any number of factors, including changes in market conditions, declines in the value of assets under
management, client attrition, product performance, reductions in fee rates and changes in strategic objectives or growth prospects of an Affiliate. An
impairment of our intangible assets or an other-than-temporary decline in the value of our equity method investments could adversely affect our financial
condition and results of operations. Determining the value of intangible assets, and evaluating them for impairment, requires management to exercise
significant judgment. In recent periods, we have recorded expenses to reduce the carrying value to fair value of certain Affiliates and certain acquired client
relationships, and may experience similar impainment events in future reporting periods. See “Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments” in Ttem 7 and
Notes 9 and 10 of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Market risk management activities may adversely affect our liquidity and results of operations.

From time to time, we and our Affiliates seek to offset exposure to changes in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates and markets by entering
into derivative financial instruments. See Note 7 of the Consolidated Financial Statements. The scope of these risk management activities is selective and
varies based on the level and volatility of interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates and other changing market conditions. We and our Affiliates do not
seek to hedge exposure to all market risks, which means that exposure to certain market risks is not limited. Further, the use of derivative financial
instruments does not entirely eliminate the possibility of fluctuations in the value of the underlying position or prevent losses if the value of the position
declines, and also can limit the opportunity for gain if the value of the position increases. There can be no assurance that our or our Affiliates’ derivative
financial instruments will meet their overall objective or that we or our Affiliates will be successful in entering into such instruments in the future. Further,
while hedging arrangements may reduce certain risks, such arrangements themselves may entail other risks, may generate significant transaction costs, and
may require the posting of cash collateral. For example, if our or our Affiliates’ counterparties fail to honor their obligations in a timely manner, including
any obligations to return posted collateral, our liquidity and results of operations could be adversely impacted.

The anticipated replacement of the London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) introduces a number of risks for us, our Affiliates and their clients, and
for the global asset management industry more broadly.
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LIBOR and other financial benchmarks are currently the subject of national, international, and other regulatory guidance and proposals for reform.
Currently, LIBOR is expected to be discontinued, but there remains uncertainty as to such timing, as well as the nature of any replacement rate. These
reforms may have consequences that create uncertainties, including changes in the valuation of financial instruments linked to benchmark indices, which
could impact Affiliate sponsored investment products, investiments, derivatives or other instruments, and may result in pricing, operational and legal
implementation risks. Further, the proposed reforms could result in an increase in our or our Affiliates” debt service costs. While it is not currently possible
to determine precisely how, or to what extent, the withdrawal and replacement of LIBOR or the alteration of any other financial benchmarks would affect
us and our Affiliates, the changes may have an adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, or an outbreak of another highly infectious or contagious disease, could adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

As of the date of this Form 10-K, the outbreak of COVID-19, which the World Health Organization declared a Public Health Emergency of
International Concern in early 2020, is ongoing. This pandemic has adversely impacted the global economy and contributed to significant volatility in
equity and debt markets. Many jurisdictions continue (o institute quarantines, limitations on travel, and restrictions on access to schools, offices, and other
public venues. Businesses have implemented similar precautionary measures, many of which remain in effect. Such measures, as well as the general
uncertainty surrounding the containment and impact of COVID-19, have created significant disruption in economic activity.

These developments, including the duration and spread of the pandemic, the timing and effectiveness of vaccines, the terms and duration of mandated
shut downs and other restrictions, and the impact on the global economy and financial markets, as well as the extent of the impact on us and our Affiliates,
remain difficult to predict and will depend on a number of factors, including actions taken by governmental authorities and other third parties that are not
within our control. If financial markets become depressed for a prolonged period as a result of the COVID-19 or another pandemic or public health crisis,
our assets under management, aggregate fees, and earnings could be adversely affected and our intangible assets could become impaired. These
developments could also increase our costs of capital or reduce the availability of credit, or adversely change the interest rates or credit ratings applicable to
us. Further, our growth strategy depends in part upon our ability to make investments in independent investment firms and to pursue other strategic
partnerships. Our ability to pursue these transactions could be impacted during the period of market and economic disruption relating to COVID-19 or
another pandemic or public health crisis, as a result of the availability of capital or other factors. Additionally, although we maintain contingency plans for
pandemics and we and our Affiliates have remained fully operational throughout the pandemic, the further spread of COVID-19, or an outbreak of another
contagious disease, could also impact the availability of key personnel necessary to conduct our or our Affiliates’ businesses or the business and operations
of third parties that perform critical services for our or our Affiliates’ businesses.

These factors and others relating to the COVID-19 pandemic, or of another highly infectious or contagious disease, could adversely affect our
business, financial condition, and results of operations, or cause volatility in the market price of our common stock.

RISKS RELATED TO OUR STRATEGY AND OUR STRUCTURED PARTNERSHIPS WITH AFFILIATES
Our growth strategy depends in part upon our ability to make investments in independent investment firms and to pursue other strategic partnerships.

Our continued success in investing in independent investment firms will depend upon our ability to find suitable firms in which to invest or make
additional investments in our existing Affiliates, our ability to negotiate agreements with such firms on acceptable terms, and our ability to raise the capital
necessary to finance such transactions. The market for acquisitions of interests in these firms is highly competitive. Many other public and private financial
services companies, including commercial and investment banks, private equity firms, sovereign wealth funds, insurance companies and investment
management firms, also invest in boutique investment firms and may have significantly greater resources than we do. Tn addition to direct competition on
particular prospects, these firms can also negatively impact the volume and value of transactions more broadly. Further, our long-term innovative
partnership approach with our Affiliates is designed to provide succession planning and enhanced equity incentives for management equity owners, and the
management of some target firms may prefer terms and structures offered by our competitors.

The success of our investments depends on our and our Affiliates’ ability to grow their businesses and carry out their management succession plans. In
addition, our investments involve a number of risks, including the existence of unknown liabilities that may arise after making an investment, some of
which may depend upon factors that are not under our control.
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We may not be successful in making investments in new firms or maintaining existing investments, and any firms that we do invest in may not have
favorable results or performance following our investment, which could have an adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations. Further,
the consummation of our announced investments is generally subject to a number of closing conditions, contingencies and approvals, including, but not
limited to, obtaining certain consents of the independent investment firm’s clients and applicable regulatory approvals. In the event that an announced
transaction is not consummated, we may experience a decline in the price of our common stock.

Our growth strategy also includes pursuing strategic partnerships in areas where we can assist our Affiliates in growing and diversifying their
businesses. These strategic partnerships may involve risks and require resources and investment, and there is no certainty that such partnerships will deliver
the anticipated benefits over the expected time frame or at all.

The structure of our partnership interests in our Affiliates may expose us to unanticipated changes in Affiliate revenue, operating expenses and other
commitments, which we imay not anticipate and may have limited ability to control.

For a majority of our Affiliates, we use structured partnership interests in which we contractually share in the Affiliate’s revenue without regard to
expenses. In this type of structured partnership interest, the Affiliate allocates a specified percentage of its revenue to us and Affiliate management, while
using the remainder of its revenue for operating expenses and for additional distributions to Affiliate management. In these types of structures, while our
distributions generally have priority, our agreed allocations may not anticipate changes in the revenue and operating expense base of the Affiliate, and the
revenue remaining after our specified share is allocated to us may not be large enough to cover all of the Affiliate’s operating expenses, which could result
in a reduction of the amount allocated to us or could negatively impact the Affiliate’s operations and prospects.

For other Affiliates, we use structured partnership interests in which we contractually share in the Affiliate’s revenue less agreed-upon expenses. This
type of partnership interest allows us to benefit from any increase in revenue or any decrease in the agreed-upon expenses, but also exposes us to any
decrease in revenue or any increase in such expenses. The degree of our exposure to expenses from these structured partnership interests varies by Affiliate
and includes Affiliates in which we fully share in the expenses of the business. In these types of stiuctures, we may have limited or no ability to control the
level of expenses at the Affiliate, and our distributions generally do not have priority. Further, the impact of Affiliate expenses on our earnings and our
stock price could increase if the portion of our earnings derived from such Affiliates increases.

As a result of these factors, unanticipated changes in revenue, operating expenses or other commitments at any of our Affiliates could leave the
Affiliate with a shortfall in remaining funds for distribution to us or Affiliate management, or for funding their operations. Changes in the global
marketplace in particular could result in rapid changes to our Affiliates’ eamings or expenses, and our Affiliates may be unable to make appropriate
expense reductions in a timely manner to respond to such changes. Any of these developments could have an adverse effect on our financial condition
generally and on our results of operations for the applicable reporting period.

Additionally, regardless of the particular structure, we may elect to defer or forgo the receipt of our share of an Affiliate’s revenue or earnings, or to
adjust any expenses allocated to us, to permit the Affiliate to fund expenses in light of unanticipated changes in revenue or operating expenses, with the aim
of maximizing the long-term benefits. We cannot be certain that any such deferral or forbearance would be of any greater long-term benefit to us, and such
a deferral or forbearance may have an adverse effect on our near- or long-term financial condition and results of operations.

We may reposition or divest our equity interests in our Affiliates, and we cannot be certain that any such repositioning or divestment will benefit us in
the near- or long-term.

From time to time, we may reposition our relationships with our Affiliates, which could, among other things, include changes to our structured
partnership interests, including changes in our ownership level and in the calculation of our share of revenue and/or operating expenses. Such repositioning
may be done in order to address an Affiliate’s succession planning, changes in its revenue or operating expense base, strategic planning or other
developments. Any repositioning of our interest in an Affiliate may result in increased exposure to changes in the Affiliate’s revenue and/or operating
expenses, or in additional investments or commitments from us, or could increase or reduce our interest in the Affiliate. In some cases, this could result in
the full divestment of our interest to Affiliate management or to a third party, or in our acquisition of all of the equity interests of the Affiliate. In addition,
certain of our Affiliates accounted for under the equity method have customary rights in certain circumstances o sell a majority interest in their firm to a
third party and to cause us to participate in such sale. Any such changes could have an adverse impact on our financial condition and results of operations.

We and our Affiliates rely on certain key personnel and cannot guarantee their continued service.
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We depend on the efforts of our executive officers and our other officers and employees. Our executive officers; in particular, play an important role in
the stability and growth of our existing Affiliates and in identifying potential investments in independent investment firms. There i no guarantee that these
exccutive officers will remain with the Company. We generally do not have employment agreements with our executive officers, although each hag a
significant deferred equity interest in the Company and is subject to non selicitation and non competition restrictions that may be triggered upon their
departure. Further, we seek to attract and retain our liey officers and employees through a number of initiatives and programs, including developing a strong
values-based culture, a commitment to carcer development, employce engagement; attractive compensation and benefits programe, attention to succession
planning, and fostering of diversity and inclusion, any of which may not be succeseful in contributing to the retention of such employees. Changes in our
management team; in particular, may be disruptive to our business, and failure to attract and retain members of our executive or senior management tgam,
or to cffectively implement and manage appropriatc succession plans; could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

In addition; our Affiliates depend heavily on the services of key principals who, in many caseg, have managed their firms for many years. These
principals often are primarily responsible for their firm’s investment decisions. Although we use a combination of economic incentives, transfer restrictions
and, in some instances, non-selicitation, non-competition and employment agreements in an effort o retain key Affiliate personnel, there is no guarantee
that these principals will remain with their firms. Since certain of our Affiliates contribute more significantly to our revenue than other Affiliates, the loss
of key personnel at these Affiliates could have a disproportionately adverse impact on our business; financial condition and resulte of operatione.

RISKS RELATED TO OUR COMMON STOCK

Equity markets and our common stock have been volatile.

The market price of our common stock has experienced and may continue to experience volatility, and the broader equity markets have experienced
and may continuc to cxperience significant price and volume fluctuations as a resule of the COVID 19 pandemic or other factors. In addition,
announcements of our financial and operating results or other material information, including changes in net client cash flows and assets under
management, changes in our financial guidance of our failure to mect cuch guidance, our new invegtmente activity, changes in general conditiong in the
cconamy or the financial markets, perceptions regarding our ESG profile, and other developments affecting us, our Affiliates or our competitors, as well ag
geopolitical, social, regulatory, capital markets, economic, and business factors unrelated to us, could cause the market price of our common stock to
fluctuate substantially.

The sale or issuance of substantial amounts of our common stack, or the expectation that such sales or issuances will occur, could adversely impact the
price of our common stock.

The sale or issuance of substantial amounts of our common stock in the public market could adversely impact its price. In connection with our
financing activities, we have issued junior convertible trust preferred securities and entered into an equity distribution program, either of which may regult
in the issuance of our common stock upen the occurrence of certain events. We also have exercisable options outctanding and unvested restricted stock that
have been awarded under our share-based incentive plans. Additionally; we have the right to settle certain Affiliate equity repurchase obligations with
shares of our common stock. Morcover, in connection with future financing activities, we may issue additional convertible securities or shares of our
common stocl, including through forward equity transactions. Any such issuance of shares of our common stock could have the effect of substantially
diluting the interests of our current equity holders: In the event that a large number of shares of our common stock are sold or issued in the public market,
or the expectation that such sales or issuances will occur; the price of our common stock may decline a¢ a result,

Provisions in our organizational documents, Delaware law and other factors could delay or prevent a change in control of the Company, or adversely
affect our financial results in periods prior to and following a change in control.

Provisions in our charter and by-laws and anti-takeover provisions under Delaware law could discourage, delay or prevent an unsolicited change in
control of the Company. These provisions may also have the effect of making it more difficult for third parties to replace our executive officers without the
consent of our Board of Directors. These provisions include:

- the ability of our Board of Dircctors to issue preferred stock and to determine the terms, rights, and preferences of the preferred stock without
stockholder approval;
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+  the prohibition on the right of stockholders to call meetinge or act by written consent and limitations on the right of stockholders to present
proposals or make nominations at stockholder meetings; and

+ lepal restrictions on mergers and other business combinations between us and any holder of 15 percent or more of our outstanding common stock.

Further, given our long-term innovative partnership approach with our Affiliates; which is designed to maintain their unique entreprencurial culwres,
investment independence, and operational autonomy in managing their businesses, a change in control may be viewed negatively by our Affiliates,
impacting their relationships with us. Additionally, the dispocition of certain of our Affiliates following a change in control could regult in the immediate
realization of taxes owed on any excess proceeds above our tax basis in the relevant Affiliate, which could impact the valuation a third party may apply to
us in a change in control. Any of the forgoing factors may inhibit a change in control in circumstances that could give our stockholders the opportunity to
realize a premium over the market price of our common stock, or may result in negative impacts on our financial results in periods prior to and following a
change in control.

In addition, a change in control of the Compauy or the acquisition of a large ownership position in shares of our outstanding common stock by a single
helder may conctitute a change in control for certain of our Affiliates for purposes of the Advisers Act and the Investment Company Act. In that case,
absent client consents, the Affiliate’s management agreemente may be decmed to be “assigned” in violation of the agreement and, for mutual fund clients,
will terminate. We cannot be certain that any required client consents (which the impacted Affiliates would need to be involved in requesting) would be
obtained if such a change of control occurs. Any termination, deemed assignment or renegotiation of any of our Affiliates” management agreements could
result in a reduction in our assets under management or the fees payable to our Affiliates and, ultimately, our aggregate fees. Further, certain of our
Affiliates operate regulated businesses in jurisdictions outside of the U.S. that, in some cases, require regulatory notifications and other filings if a single
stockholder acquires an ownership position in the Company exceeding certain specified thresholds, regardless of whether a change in control has occurred
for purposes of the Advisers Act or the Investment Company Act. Such an ownership position could also trigger approvals under FINRA, for Affiliates
nperating a hroker-dealer in the U.S. As a recult, a large ownerchip positien in our stock, whether or not resulting in a change of control of the Company,
could result in increased regulatory reporting and compliance costs, and potential restrictions on our or our Affiliates’ business activities, and could reduce
the fees that our Affiliates receive under investment management contracts, any of which could have an adverse effect on the Company’s financial
condition and results of operations.

LEGAL AND REGULATORY RISKS
Our and our Affiliates’ businesses are highly regulated.

Qur and our Affiliates” businesses are subject to complex and extensive regulation by regulatory and self regulatory authoritics and exchanges in
various jurisdictions around the world, which, for our Affiliates and our U.S. retail distribution subsidiary, include thosc applicable to investment advisers,
as detailed in “Government Regulation” in Item 1. Applicable laws, rules and regulations impose requirements, restrictions and limitations on our and our
Affiliates” businesses, and can result in cignificant compliance costs. Further, this regulatory environment may be altered without notice by new laws or
regulations, revisions to existing laws or regulations, or new or reviged interpretations, guidance or enforcement priorities. Any determination of a failure to
comply with applicable laws, rules or regulations could expose us, our Affiliates, or our respective employees to civil liability, criminal liability, or
disciplinary or enforcement action, with penalties that could include the disgorgement of fecs, fines, sanctions, suspensions, termination of adviser status,
or censure of individual employees or revocation or limitation of business activities or registration, any of which could have an adverse impact on our stock
price, financial condition, and results of operations. Further, if we, any of our Affiliates or our respective employecs were to fail to comply with applicable
laws, rules, or regulations, or be named as a subject of an investigation or other regulatory action, the public announcement and potential publicity
surrounding any such investigation or action ceuld have an adverse effect on our stock price and result in increased costs, even if we, our Affiliates, or our
respective employees were found not to have violated such laws, rules or regulations.

Recently implemented and proposed regulatione globally have called for more ctringent overcight of the financial services industry in which we and
our Affiliates operate. Tn the U.S., the new presidential administration may shift enforcement prioritics under cxisting regulations, alter existing regulations
or pursue additional rulemaking impacting the financial gervices industry. These regulatory developments could adversely affect our and our Affiliates’
businesses, increase compliance costs, require that we or our Affiliates curtail operations or investment offerings, or impact our and our Affiliates’ access to
capital and the market for our common stock.
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Further, in recent years, regulators in the U.S., the UK and other jurisdictions have expanded rules and devoted greater resources and attention to the
enforcement of anti-bribery and anti-money laundering laws, and while we and our Affiliates have developed and implemented policies and procedures
designed to comply with these rules, such policies and procedures may not be effective in all instances to prevent violations.

Our and our Affiliates’ international operations are subject to foreign risks, including political, regulatory, economic and currency risks.

We and certain of our Affiliates conduct business outside the U.S., and a number of our Affiliates are based outside the U.S. and, accordingly, are
subject to risks inherent in doing business internationally. These risks may include difficulties in staffing and managing foreign operations, longer payment
cycles, difficulties in collecting investment advisory fees receivable, different (and in some cases less stringent) legal, regulatory and accounting regimes,
political instability, exposure to fluctuations in currency exchange rates, expatriation controls, expropriation risks and potential adverse tax consequences.
For example, our and our Affiliates’ businesses may be impacted by the terms of trade agreements negotiated by the UK in connection with its exit from
the European Union, which could resulc in fluctuations in exchange rates, disruptions in the capital markets, changes in investor risk tolerance or
investment preferences, potential regulatory shifts resulting from the UK’s status as a third-country with the European Union, increased compliance and
administrative costs, or other impacts. Further, as part of our and certain of our Affiliates’ response to the UK’s exit from the European Union, we and such
Affiliates have implemented changes to our business operations and, while we do not expect these changes to have a significant impact on our or our
Affiliates’ businesses, these changes could result in increased compliance and administrative outsourcing and costs. Additionally, regulations in the
European Union pertaining to integrating ESG topics may materially impact the asset management industry in member states that adopt such legislation.
For example, the European Union’s recent action plan on financing sustainable growth includes initiatives to integrate ESG into the financial system,
including such areas as MiFID2, UCITS and AIFMD regulations. Similar regulatory measures may be introduced in other jurisdictions in which we or our
Affiliates currently have investments or plan to invest in the future, including in the U.S. and the UK. These types of ESG-related regulations could impact
our or our Affiliates’ businesses, increases regulatory and compliance costs and adversely affect our profitability. In addition, as a result of operating
internationally, certain of our Affiliates and our global distribution subsidiaries are subject to requirements under foreign regulations to maintain minimum
levels of capital, and such capital requirements may be increased from time to time, which may have the effect of limiting withdrawals of capital and the
payment of distributions to us. These or other risks related to our and our Affiliates’ international operations may have an adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

Changes in tax laws or exposure to additional tax liabilities could have an adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

We are subject to income taxes as well as non-income-based taxes in the U.S. and certain foreign jurisdictions, and our Affiliates are generally subject
to taxes in the jurisdictions in which they operate. Tax laws, regulations and administrative practices in these jurisdictions may be subject to significant
change, with or without notice, and significant judgment is required in estimating and evaluating tax provisions and accruals. Our and our Affiliates’
effective tax rates could be affected by a change in the mix of earnings with differing statutory tax rates, changes to our or their existing businesses, and
changes in relevant tax, accounting or other laws, regulations, administrative practices and interpretations. In the U.S., the new presidential administration
has indicated that it may raise the corporate tax rate and may pursue other tax reforms. If any such proposals are ultimately enacted into legislation, they
could materially impact our tax provision, deferred tax assets, tax liabilities and effective tax rate. Further, a portion of our earnings is from outside of the
U.S., and the foreign government agencies in jurisdictions in which we and our Affiliates do business continue to focus on the taxation of multinational
companies, and could implement changes to their tax laws. For example, changes in the tax laws of foreign jurisdictions could arise as a result of the base
erosion and profit shifting (“BEPS”) project undertaken by the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (“OECD”), which includes
recommendations that may be adopted in various jurisdictions in which we and our Affiliates do business. Any changes to federal, state or foreign tax laws,
regulations, accounting standards or administrative practices, or the release of additional guidance, interpretations or other information, could impact our
estimated effective tax rate and overall tax expense, as well as our earnings estimates, and could result in adjustments to our treatment of deferred taxes,
including the realization or value thereof, or in unanticipated additional tax liabilities, any of which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

In addition, we and our Affiliates may be subject to tax examinations by certain federal, state, and foreign tax authorities. We regularly assess the likely
outcomes of examinations that we are subject to, in order to determine the appropriateness of our tax provision; however, tax authorities may disagree with
certain positions we have taken or may take, and may assess
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additional taxes and/or penalties and interest. There can be no assurance that we will accurately predict the outcomes of any examinations and the acrual
outcomes could have an adverse impact on our financial condition and results of operations.

We or our Affiliates may be involved in legal proceedings and regulatory matters from time to time, and we may be held responsible for liabilities
incurred by certain of our Affiliates.

Our operating agreements with our Affiliates provide for governance structures that give Affiliate management the authority to manage and operate
their businesses on a day-to-day basis, including investment management operations, marketing, product development, client relationships, employee
matters, compensation programs, and compliance activities. As a conseguence, our financial condition and results of operations may be adversely affected
by problems stemming from the day-to-day operations of our Affiliates that we are not involved in, and where weaknesses or failures in internal processes
or systems, legal or regulatory matters, or other operational challenges could lead to a disruption or cessation of our Affiliates’ operations, liability to their
clients, exposure to claims or disciplinary action, or reputational harm.

Certain of our Affiliates are limited liability companies or limited partnerships (or equivalent non-U.S. forms) of which we, or entities controlled by us,
are the managing member or general partner (or equivalent). Consequently, to the extent that any of these Affiliates incur liabilities or expenses that exceed
their ability to pay for them, we may be directly or indirectly liable for their payment. Similarly, an Affiliate’s payment of distributions to us may be subject
to claims by potential creditors, and an Affiliate may default on distributions that are payable to us. In addition, with respect to each of these Affiliates, we
may be held liable in some circumstances as a control person for the acts of the Affiliate or its employees. Further, we also conduct distribution, sales, and
marketing activities through our U.S. retail distribution subsidiary and our global distribution subsidiaries, to extend the reach of our Affiliates’ own
business development efforts, and any liability arising in connection with these activities, whether as a result of our own actions or the actions of our
participating Affiliates, could result in direct liability to us. Accordingly, we and our Affiliates may face various claims, litigation or complaints from time
to time, and we cannot predict the eventual outcome of such matters, some of which may be resolved in a manner unfavorable to us or our Affiliates, or
whether any such matters could become material to a particular Affiliate or us in any reporting period. See “Legal Proceedings” in Item 3. While we and
our Affiliates maintain errors and omissions and general liability insurance in amounts believed to be adequate to cover potential liabilities, we cannot be
certain that we or our Affiliates will not have claims or related expenses that exceed the limits of available insurance coverage, that the insurers will remain
solvent and will meet their obligations to provide coverage, or that insurance coverage will continue to be available to us and our Affiliates with sufficient
limits and at a reasonable cost. Any legal proceedings or regulatory matters that we or our Affiliates are subject to could, whether with or without merit, be
time consuming and expensive to defend and could divert management attention and resources, and could result in judgments, findings, settlements or
allegations of wrongdoing that could adversely affect our or their reputation, current and future business relationships, and our financial condition and
results of operations.

Our or our Affiliates’ controls and procedures and risk management policies may be inadequate, fail or be circumvented, and operational risk could
adversely affect our or our Affiliates’ reputation and financial position.

We and our Affiliates have adopted various controls, procedures, policies, and systems to monitor and manage risk in our and their businesses. While
we currently believe that our and our Affiliates’ operational controls are effective, we cannot provide assurance that those controls, procedures, policies,
and systems will always be adequate to identify and manage the internal and external risks in our and our Affiliates’ various businesses. Furthermore, we or
our Affiliates may have errors in business processes or fail to implement proper procedures in operating our respective businesses, which may expose us or
our Affiliates to risk of financial loss or failure to comply with regulatory requirements. Additionally, although we and our Affiliates have systems and
practices in place to monitor third-party service providers, such third parties are subject to similar risks. We and our Affiliates, as well as our respective
service providers, are also subject to the risk that employees or contractors, or other third parties, may deliberately seek to circumvent established controls
to commit fraud or act in ways that are inconsistent with our or their controls, policies and procedures. The financial and reputational impact of control
failures can be significant.

Tn addition, our and our Affiliates’ businesses and the markets in which we and our Affiliates operate are continuously evolving. If our or our
Affiliates’ risk frameworks are ineffective, either because of a failure to keep pace with changes in the financial markets, regulatory requirements, our or
our Affiliates’ businesses, counterparties, clients, or service providers, or for other reasons, we or our Affiliates could incur losses, suffer reputational
damage, or be out of compliance with applicable regulatory or contractual mandates or expectations.

Failure to maintain and properly safeguard an adequate technology infrastructure may limit our or our Affiliates’ growth, result in losses or disrupt
our or our Affiliates’ businesses.
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Our and our Affiliates’ businesses are reliant upon financial, accounting, and technology systems and networks to process, transmit, and store
information; including sensitive client and proprictary information, and to conduct many business activitics and transactions with clicnts, advisers,
regulators, vendors, and other third partics. The failure to implement, maintain, and safeguard an infrastructure commensurate with the size and scope of
our and our Affiliates’ businesses could impede productivity and growth, which could adversely impact our financial condition and resules of vperations.
Further, we and our Affiliates rely on third parties for certain aspeets of our respective businessces, including financial intermediaries, providers of
technology infrastructure, and other service providers such as broker-dealers, custodians, administrators and other agents, as well as accounting, legal aiid
other professional advisors, and these parties arc susceptible to similar risks.

Although we and our Affiliates take protective measures and endeavor to modify them as circumstances warrant, cComputer systcis, sultwaie,
networks; and mobile devices may be vulnerable to cyber-attacks, data privacy or sccurity breaches, ransomware, social engineering, unauthorized access,
theft, misuse; computer viruses, or other malicious code and other cvents that could have a security impact. Further, although we and our Affiliates have
systems and practices in place to monitor the third partics on whom we and our Affiliates rely, such third partics may have similar vulnerabilities and may
lack the necessary infrastructure or resources, or may otherwise fail, to adequately protect against or respond to any cybcr-attacks, data breaches, ur other
incidents. If any such events occur, it could jeopardize confidential, proprictary, or other sensitive information of ours, our Affiliates and vir 1espective
clients, employees or counterpartics that may be stored in, or transmitted through, internal or third-party computer systems, networks, and mobile devices,
or could otherwise cause interruptions or malfunctions in our and our Affiliates’ operations or those of our respective clicnts or couiterparties, or in the
operations of third parties on whom we and our Affiliates rely. Despite cfforts to cnsure the integrity of systems and networks, it is possible that we, vui
Affiliates or our respective third party service providers may not be able to anticipate or to implement effective preventive measures agaiinst all thieats,
especially because the techniques used change frequently and can originate from a wide varicty of sources. The recent shift to work-from~home
environments has increased exposurcs to these security- related risks. As a result, we or our Affiliates could experience distuption, signilicant losses,
increased costs, reputational harm, regulatory actions, or legal liability, any of which could have an adverse effect vu our {inancial condition and results of
operations. We or our Affiliates may be required to spend significant additional resources to modify protective measures or to investigate and remediace
vulnerabilities or other exposures; and may be subject to litigation, regulatory investigations, and potential fincs, and financial losses that are either not
insurcd against fully or not fully covered through any insurance that we or our Affiliates maintain. Furthey, government and regulatoiy oversiglit of dala
privacy in particular has been growing in recent years, including through the European Union’s General Data Protection Regulation and the Califoinia
Consumer Privacy Act; resulting in heightened data security and handling requirements, increased fines, and expandcd incident response and repoiting
obligations. Recent well-publicized security breaches at other companics have exemplified security- related vulnerabilitics, and may lead to faither
government and regulatory scrutiny and heightened security requircments.

Ttem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
Ttem 2. Properties . .

We conduct our operations around the world using a combination of leased and owned facilitics. While we believe we have suitable property resources
currently, we will continuce to cvaluate our property nceds and will adjust these resources as necessary. Our Affiliates also typically lease office space in the
city or citics in which they conduct business, as appropriate for their respective business needs.

Ttem 3. Legal Proceedings

Governmental and regulatory authorities in the U.S. and other jurisdictions in which we and our Affiliates operate regularly make inguiries and
adminigter examinations with respect to our and our Affiliates” compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and from time to dmc, we and our
Affiliates may be parties to various claims, lawsuits, complaints, regulatory investigations, and other procccdings in the vidinacy cuurse of business.

Currently, there are no such claims, lawsuits, complaints, regulatory investigations, or other proceedings against us or our Affiliates that, in our
opinion, would have a macerial adverse cffect on our financial position, liquidity, or results of operations. However, there is no assurance as to whethei ot
not any such matters could arise or have a material effect on our or our Affiliates’ financial position, liquidity, or results of opcrations in any future
reporting period.

Ttem 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
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PART 11

Ttem 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Our common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange (symbol: AMG). As of February 18, 2021, there were 101 stockholders of record,

including banks, brokers, and other financial institutions holding shares in omnibus accounts for their customers (in total representing substantially all of
the beneficial holders of our common stock).

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Total Number of Shares Maximum Number of Shares
: Purchased as Part of Publicly that May Yet Be Purchased
Total Number of Average Price Paid Announced Plans or Average Price Paid  Under Outs(andinE Plans or
Period Shares Purchased” Per Share Programs Per Share Programs®
iOctober (=34, 2020~ - "' R L 113756 $° " . .74.76 . 113256 _$ 74.76: 3,960,298 - _§
November 1-30, 2020 483,400 87.44 483,400 87.44 3,476,898
December 1;31.2020¢__ °; 7, , TONRRIR 11247 ... 1,558,226 » . - - 112.40 1,016,672 |
Total 2,155,469 104.88 2,154,882 104.88

[©)

Includes shares surrendered to the Company to satisfy tax withholding and/or option exercise price obligations in connection with stock swap option
exercise transactions, if any.

Our Board of Directors authorized share repurchase programs in January 2021, October 2019, and January 2019 to repurchase up to 5.0 million, 6.0
million, and 3.3 million shares of our common stock, respectively, and these authorizations have no expiry. Purchases may be made from time to time,
at management’s discretion, in the open market or in privately negotiated transactions, including through the use of trading plans as well as pursuant to
accelerated share repurchase programs or other share repurchase strategies that may include derivative financial instruments. As of December 31,
2020, we had repurchased all of the shares of the January 2019 program. As of the January 2021 authorization, there were a total of 6.9 million shares
available for repurchase under our January 2021 and October 2019 share repurchase programs.

As of December 31, 2020, we had unsettled market share repurchases under a $100.0 million accelerated share repurchase program, of which 0.8
million shares are included in our total number of shares purchased during December 2020 in accordance with the upfront delivery of shares in the
agreement. Under the program, which was completed on February 5, 2021, we repurchased a total of 0.9 million shares of our common stock at an
average price of $110.10 per share.

Between January 1 and February 18, 2021, we repurchased 1.2 million shares of our common stock for $151.9 million, including shares repurchased in

the open market, through a 10b5-1 trading plan, and pursuant to an accelerated share repurchase program.
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Performance Graph

Our peer group comprises AllianceBemstein Holding L.P., Ameriprise Financial, Inc., Ares Management Corporation, Franklin Resources, Inc.,
Invesco Ltd., Janus Henderson Group plc, Lazard Ltd. and T. Rowe Price Group, Inc. Prior to this year, our peer group also included Eaton Vance Corp.
and Legg Mason, Inc., both of which have been, or are in the process of being, acquired. The following graph compares the cumulative stockholder return
on our common stock from December 31, 2015 through December 31, 2020, with the cumulative total return, during the same period, on the Standard &
Poor’s MidCap 400 Index, and our current peer group. The comparison below assumes the investment of $100 on December 31, 2015 in our common stock
and each of the comparison indices and, in each case, assumes reinvestment of all dividends.

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN"
‘Among Affiliated: Managérs Graup, Inc., the S&P-MidCap 400,index;.
: and a Peer Group ’ R

so 1, . [ 1 i
12115 1216 12147 1218 1219 12120
—&— Affiliated Managers Group, Inc: —- 4o 'SEP'MIdCap 400 —-o— Peer-Group

*$100 ifivested on 12/31/15 in stock or index; indluding re
Fiscdl yedr ending December 31. B )

astment of dividend:

19




Table of Contents

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following executive overview, which summarizes the significant trends affecting our results of operations and financial condition, as well as the
remainder of this Management’s Discussicn and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of Affiliated Managers Group; Inc. and its
subsidiaries, should be read in conjunction with the “Forward-Looking Statements” section set forth in Part I and the “Risk Factors” section set forth in
TIrem 1A of Pare T of thiz Aniiiial Report on Form 10-K and in any more recent filings with the SEC, and with our Conselidiated Financial Sevenieins amd the
notes thereto contained elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Ouwr discussion and unulysis of the key vperaiing performance meusures and financial resulis for fiscul year 2020 compuared w fiscal yeur 2019 is
included hercin. For discussion and analysis of fiscal year 2019 compared to fiscal year 2018, please refer to “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in Item 7 of Part IT in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 20109,
which was filed with the SEC on February 28, 2020.

Executive Overview

We are a lvading parmer (o independent active invastiment managemeit fiios globally. Our atiategy is o geiverati long-ter vahie by investing in a
diverse array of excellent parmer-owned investment firms, which we call our “Affiliates,” through a proven partnership appioach, aind allocating
rESOUICES aCT0SS our unigue opportunity sei (o the areas of highest growih and return. Qur innovative pannership approach enables each Afliliate’s
management teaim to own significant equity in their firm while maintaining operational and investmeint autonory. In addition, we offer our Affiliates
growth capital, global diswribution, and other strategic value added capabilitics, which enhance the long-term growth of these independent businesses and
cnablc them to align cquity incentives across gencrations of principals to build enduring franchiscs. As of December 31, 2020, our aggicgate assets under
management were approximately $716 billion across a broad range of active, return oricnted strategies.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, the onguing pandemic caused by the novel coronavirus (“COVID=19") had a significant impact on the global
economy. The overall extent and duration of COVID-19, including the timing and effectiveness of vaccines, and its impact on businesses and economic
activity going forward, remains difficult to predict. We and our Affiliates remain focused on the health and well-being of the individuals and families at
AMG, our Affiliates, and the community at large. Given the nature of our decentalized operations and our enwrepreneurial culture, we and our Affiliates
remain flly operatonal wid have expevienced winimal disrupdon in our ability © serve sur key stakeholders, most limportanty our clens. We comdnue w
monitor the economic uncertainty related to COVID-19, and the extent of the impact on our business operations and financial results will depend on a
number of factors and future developments, which are uncertain and cannaot be predicted.

New Investments

In 2020, we completed minority investments in Comvest Partners, a leading middle-market private equity and credit investment firm, Inclusive Capital
Partners LF, a newly founded investment firm focused on responsible capitalism and the advancement of economic and social inclusion and environmental
stewardship, and Jackson Sqnare Parmers LLC, an investment manager specializing in long-nnly, growrh-oriented eruiry strategies. On February 1, 2021,
we completed a minority investment in Doston Common Asset Management LLC, a women-owned leader in sustainable and impact investing.

We account for these investments under the equity method of accounting. Following the close of each transaction, Affiliate management continues to
hold a significant portion of the equity in their business and directs the day-to-day-operations.

Operating Performance Measures

Uunder accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. (“GAAP”), we are required to consolidate certain of our Affiliates and use the equity
methad of accounting for athers, Whether we consolidate an Affiliare or nse the equity method of accounting, we maintain the same innovative partnership
approach and provide support and assistance in substantially the same manner for all of our Affiliates. Furthermore, all of our Affiliates are boutique
investment managers and are impacted by similar marketplace factovs and induany trends. Thevefore, onr key aggregare operating performance measures
are important in providing management with a more comprehensive view of the operating performance and material trends across our entire business.
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The following table presents our key aggregate operating performance measures:
For the Years Ended December 31,

(in billions, exceptas noted) 2018 7 2019 % Change 2020 % Change
© _ Assetsundermanagement _ § 7360 § _ 7225 @ % 8 762 (1) %
_ Average assets under management 8199 7581 (8) % Q) %
Aggregate fees (in millions) . 54424 48627 (9 % b (%

Assets under management and, therefore average assets under management, include the assets under management of our consolidated and equity
method Affiliates, and as of October 1, 2019, exclude the assets under management of certain Affiliates in which we have repositioned our interests and
that are not significant to our operating performance measures or our results of operations. Assets under management is presented on a current basis
without regard to the timing of the inclusion of an Affiliate’s financial results in our operating performance measures and Consolidated Financial
Statements. Average assets under management reflects the timing of the inclusion of an Affiliate’s financial results in our operating performance measures
and Consolidated Financial Statements. Average assets under management for mutual funds and similar retail investment products represents an average of
the daily net assets under management, while for institutional and high net worth clients, average assets under management generally represents an average
of the assets at the beginning or end of each month during the applicable period.

Aggregate fees cansist of the total asset and performance based fees earned by all of our consolidated and equity method Affiliates, and include the
aggregate fees of cortain Affiliates in which we have repositioned our interests: These Affiliates are not significant to our operating performance measures
or our results of operations. For certain of our Affiliates accounted for under the equity method, we report aggregate fees and the Affiliate’s financial results
in our Consolidated Financial Statements one quarter in arrcars. Aggregate fees are provided in addition to, but not as a substitute for, Consolidated revenue
or other GAAP performance measures.

Assets Under Management

Through our Affiliates, we provide a comprehensive and diverse range of active; return-oriented strategies designed to assist institutional, retail, and
high net worth clients worldwide in achieving their investment objectives: We continue to see demand for active, return oriented strategies, particulatly in
illiquid altcmative and multi-assct and fixed income stratcgics, reflecting continued investor demand for retuins that are less coirvelated o traditional equity
markets, while we are experiencing outflows in quantitative strategies across liquid alternative strategies and cquity strategies. In addition; investor demand
for passively-managed products, including cxchange traded funds has continucd, and we have expericnced outflows in cortain cquity swratcgics, consisteitl
with thig industry- wide trend. We believe the best performing active equity managers (whether global-; regional -, or country-specific) will continue to have
significant opportunities to grow as a result of net client cash inflows. We believe we are well-positioned to benefit from these trends.

The following charts present information regarding the composition of our assets under management by active, return-oriented strategy as of
December 31, 2019 and 2020:

Assets Under Management by Strategy

2019 2020

B Alternativest)

n V,Gllob‘a| Equitiest?

[J u.S. Equities

3 Multi-Asset & Fixed Income
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o Alternatives include illiquid alternative strategies, which accounted for 13% and 14% of our assets under management as of December 31, 2019 and
2020, respectively.

@ Global equities include emerging markets strategies, which accounted for 9% of our assets under management as of both December 31, 2019 and 2020.

The following table presents changes in our assets under management by active, return-oriented strategy:

Multi-Asset &

(in billions) o Alternatives Global Equities U.S. Equities Fixed Income __Total
:DeCE?nHef-3‘l,'{?lr"l,!§_ ‘“,ai?;:' S e co 8 24125 8 "=,ji"':‘.-"':5;2‘74‘.9'_‘.3""$: ';71?00.0 S8 w1064 0 % 22,
Client cash inflows and commitments 29.6 33.3 147 239 1015
Coalient cash ontfidwe™ T e e B EE) e TOLE) A r@OA) T T (20 (163.3)
Net client cash flows . (22.1) (27.9) . (14.7) 2.9 ) (61.8)
Newfavestiienes™ . T3 T Al e = s
Market changes o (3.4) 26.4 12.7 8.3 44.0
" Toreigii éxchange® - .~ S B+ X IS e EE T 03 - - 02 27
Realizations and distributions (net) (2.6) 0.2) 0.2) (0.2) » 3.2)
Orhor .. e e ‘ X 5 R 0277 ey e Ry
December 31, 2020 $ 216.5 $ 2785 § 1035 $ 1177  $ 716.2

o Foreign exchange reflects the impact of translating into U.S. dollars the assets under management of our Affiliates whose functional currency is not the
U.S. dollar.

@  QOther includes assets under management attributable to product transitions and reclassifications.

The following charts present information regarding the composition of our assets under management by client type as of December 31, 2019 and 2020:

Assets Under Management by Client Type

2019 2020

B 'nstitutional
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The following table presents changes in our assets under management by client type:

(in billions) Institutional Retail High Net Worth N Total
December 31, 2019 ; $__ 4072 $ 1981 § 172§ 722.5]
Client cash inflows and commitments ’ 40.8 39.9 20.8 101.5
{_Client cash outflows ' s . (78.8) _ (63.3) . (21.2) | (163.3)

Net client cash flows : (38.0) (234) (0.4) (61.8)

| New investments - ' 12.1 .22 — 143}
Market changes 22.0 12.7 9.3 44.0

{_Foreign exchange® 1.4 1.1 : 0.2 2.7]
Realizations and distributions (net) (2.6) (0.5) (0.1) 3.2)

[Cther= - . - L) (0.9). 0.3)" (Z3)
December 31, 2020 $ 401.0 $ 1893 $ 1259 §$ 716.2

®  TForeign exchange reflects the impact of translating into U.S. dollars the assets under management of our Affiliates whose functional currency is not the
U.S. dollar. :

@ QOther includes assets under management attributable to product transitions and reclassifications.

Aggregate Fees

Aggregate fees consist of asset and performance based fees of our consolidated and equity method Affiliates. Asset based fees include advisory and
other fees eamed by our Affiliates for services provided to their clients and are typically determined as a percentage of the value of a client’s assets under
management. Performance based fees are based on investment performance, typically on an absolute basis or relative to a benchmark, and are generally
recognized when it is improbable that there will be a significant reversal in the amount of revenue recognized. Performance based fees are generally billed
less frequently than asset based fees, and although performance based fees inherently depend on investment performance and will vary from period to
period, we anticipate performance based fees will be a recurring component of our aggregate fees.

Aggregate fees are generally determined by the level of our average assets under management and the composition of these assets across our strategies
that realize different asset based fee ratios and performance based fees. Our asset based fee ratio is calculated as asset based fees divided by average assets
under management.

Aggregate fees were $4,626.4 million in 2020, a decrease of $336.3 million or 7% as compared to 2019. The decrease in our aggregate fees was due to
a $525.0 million or 11% decrease in asset based fees, partially offset by a $188.7 million or 4% increase in performance based fees. The decrease in asset
based fees was due to a decrease in our average assets under management, due to net client cash outflows principally in our quantitative strategies, and a
change in the composition of our assets under management.

Financial and Supplemental Financial Performance Measures

The following table presents our key financial and supplemental financial performance measures:
For the Years Ended December 31,

(in millions) 2018 T 2019 . % Change . 2020 % Change
| Net incomé (conmolling interest) . ; h 24136 § 157 ¢ 9N % 5. 2022 T N.M.o
Adjusted EBITDA (controlling interest)® 961.8 | 841.6 (12) % 798.8 (5) %
{__ Economic net income (controlling interest)® 780.7 720.2 ®) % 624.4 13) %

™ Percentage change is not meaningful.

@ Adjusted EBITDA (controlling interest) and Economic net income (controlling interest) are non-GAAP performance measures and are discussed in
“Supplemental Financial Performance Measures.”
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Adjusted EBITDA (controlling interest) is an important supplemental financial performance measure for management as it provides a comprehensive
view of our share of the financial performance of our business. Adjusted EBITDA (controlling interest) decreased $42.8 million or 5% in 2020. The
decrease in Adjusted EBITDA (controlling interest) was primarily due to a $336.3 million or 7% decrease in aggregate fees and a $17.5 million increase in
share-based compensation principally due to an event that accelerated certain share-based compensation, partially offset by a $6.0 million decrease in
travel-related expenses attributable to the controlling interest. :

While Adjusted EBITDA (controlling interest) decreased $42.8 million or 5% in 2020, our Net income (controlling interest) increased $186.5 million.
The increase in Net income (controlling interest) was primarily due to a $300.0 million decrease in equity method intangible amortization and impairments,
pardally offset by a $78.6 million increase in Income tax expense attributable to the controlling interest.

We believe Economic net income (controlling interest) is an important supplemental financial performance measure because it represents our
performance before non-cash expenses relating to our acquisition of interests in Affiliates and improves comparability of performance between periods.
Economic net income (controlling interest) decreased $95.8 million or 13% in 2020, primarily due to a $42.8 million decrease in Adjusted EBITDA
(controlling interest), a $37.2 million increase in current and other deferred taxes primarily attributable to the controlling interest and a $16.1 million
increase in Interest expense attributable to the controlling interest.

Results of Operations

The following discussion includes the key operating performance measures and financial results of our consolidated and equity method Affiliates. Our
consolidated Affiliates’ financial results are included in our Consolidated revenue, Consolidated expenses, and Investment and other income, and our share
of our equity method Affiliates’ financial results is reported, net of intangible amortization and impairments, in Equity method loss (net).

Consolidated Revenue

Our Consolidated revenue is derived from our consolidated Affiliates, primarily from asset based fees from investment management services. For these
Affiliates, we typically use structured partnership interests in which we contractually share in the Affiliate’s revenue without regard to expenses.
Consolidated revenue is generally determined by the level of our consolidated Affiliate average assets under management and the composition of these
assets across our strategies that realize different asset based fee ratios and performance based fees.

The following table presents our consolidated Affiliate average assets under management and Consolidated revenue:
For the Years Ended December 31,

(in millions, except as noted) 2018 2019 % Change 2020 % Change

Consolidated Afliliawe average assew under - N LYot T E . S ' ]
imanagement (in billions) $ 4196 § 395.1 6)__ % $ 362.6 @®__%

Consolidated revenue $§ 23784 $  2,2396 6 % $§ 20275 9 %

Our Consolidated revenue decreased $212.1 million or 9% in 2020, due to a $191.2 million or 9% decrease in asset based fees and a $20.9 million or
less than 1% decrease in performance based fees. The decrease in asset based fees was due to a decrease in consolidated Affiliate average assets under
management, due to net client cash outflows principally in our equity strategies, and a change in the composition of our assets under management.

Consolidated Expenses

Our Consolidated expenses are primarily attributable to the non-controlling interests of our consolidated Affiliates in which we share in revenue
without regard to expenses. For these Affiliates, the amount of expenses attributable to the non-controlling interests, including compensation, is generally
determined by the percentage of revenue allocated to expenses as part of the structured partnership interests in place at the respective Affiliate.
Accordingly, increases in revenue generally will increase a consolidated Affiliate’s expenses attributable to the non-controlling interests and decreases in
revenue will generally decrease a consolidated Affiliate’s expenses attributable to the non-controlling interests.
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The following table presents our Consolidated expenses:
For the Years Ended December 31,

(in millions) 2018 2019 % Change 2020 % Change
{___ Compensation and related expenses $ 987.2 $ 943.0 “4)__ % $ 883.7_ 6)__%)
Selling, general and administrative 417.7 376.8 (10) % 321.4 (15) %
{__Intangible amortization and impairments 114.8 144.5 % % 140.5 G _%
Interest expense 80.6 76.2 (5) % 92.3 21 %
L___Depreciation and other amortization . 22.0 21.3 3) % 19.1 (10) %,
Other expenses (net) 69.7 57.0 (18) % 52.8 (7 %
| Total consolidated expenses ‘ $ 16020 $ 16188 @__ % $ 1,509.8 @) %,

Compensation and related expenses decreased $59.3 million or 6% in 2020, primarily due to an $88.1 million decrease in bonus and salary expenses,
principally as a result of a decline in Consolidated revenue and headcount repositioning in 2019. This decrease was partially offset by a $17.5 million
increase in share-based compensation, primarily due to an event that accelerated certain share-based compensation and an $11.3 million increase in
Affiliate equity compensation expense.

Selling, general and administrative expenses decreased $55.4 million or 15% in 2020, primarily due to a $21.7 million decrease in travel-related
expenses, a $17.5 million decrease in sub-advisory and distribution expenses related to a decrease in certain assets under management, and a $12.1 million
decrease in renewal commissions.

Intangible amortization and impairments decreased $4.0 million or 3% in 2020, primarily due to a $33.8 million reduction in amortization expense -
related to certain definite-lived assets being fully amortized and a $4.3 million reduction in amortization expense related to a decrease in actual and
expected client attrition. These decreases were partially offset by a $34.1 million increase in expenses to reduce the carrying value of acquired client
relationships at certain of our Affiliates to fair value. See Note 9 of our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Interest expense increased $16.1 million or 21% in 2020, primarily due to an $11.1 million increase from the termination of our pound sterling-
denominated forward foreign currency contracts, a $10.3 million increase from our debt securities issued in 2020 and a $4.3 million increase from our debt
securities issued in 2019. These increases were partially offset by a $9.5 million decrease from lower interest rates and lower borrowings on our senior
unsecured term loan facility (the “term loan”) and senior unsecured multicurrency revolving credit facility (the “revolver” and, together with the term loan,
the “credit facilities”).

Other expenses (net) decreased $4.2 million or 7% in 2020, primarily due to an $8.1 million expense recorded in 2019 to reduce certain right-of use
assets to their fair value, related to the reduction in leased office space which did not reoccur and a $2.4 million gain recorded in 2020 related to changes in
the value of Affiliate equity repurchase obligations. These decreases were partially offset by a $5.7 million expense recorded in 2020 related to the early
termination of a lease.

«

There were no significant changes in Depreciation and other amortization in 2020.

When we do not own a controlling equity interest in an Affiliate, but have significant influence, we account for our interest in the Affiliate under the
equity method. Our share of earnings or losses from Affiliates accounted for under the equity method, net of amortization and impairments, is included in
Equity method loss (net) in our Consolidated Statements of Income.

For a majority of these Affiliates, we use structured partnership interests in which we contractually share in the Affiliate’s revenue less agreed-upon
expenses. We also use structured partnership interests in which we contractually share in the Affiliate’s revenue without regard to expenses. Our share of
eamnings or losses from Affiliates accounted for under the equity method, net of amortization and impairments, is included in Equity method loss (net).

Our equity method revenue is derived primarily from asset and performance based fees from investment management services. Equity method revenue
incorporates the total asset and performance based fees earned by all of our Affiliates accounted for under the equity method and is generally determined by
the level of our equity method Affiliate average assets under management and the composition of these assets across our strategies that realize different
asset based fee ratios and performance based fees. Our Affiliates accounted for under the equity method manage a greater proportion of assets subject to
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performance based fees than our consolidaced Affiliates and, as a result, equity method revenue will generally have more performance based fees than
Consolidated revenue.

The following table presents equity method Affiliate average assets under management and equity method revenue, as well as equity method earnings
and equity method intangible amortization and impairments, which in aggregate form Equity method loss (net):
For the Years Ended December 31,

(in millions, except us noted) 2018 2019 . % Change 2020 % Change
L___Operating Performance Measures o . R N N - ]
Equity method Affiliate average assets under
management (in billions) $ 4003 __$ 363.0 9 % $ 301.8 a7 %
[:Egujtykmcthnd TEVenuE Y L L . o R nedn 0§ - o2yt 1y ‘9 " § 25989 G 9%
. Financtal Perforiiance Measures - T s : : ‘ : ]
Equity method earnings $ 370.6 $ 289.4 2) % $ 288.6 0 %
{  Equity method intangiblc amortization and : ]
impairments . . (370.8) (627.4) 69 % (332.0) @7 __ %
Equity method loss (net) - $ 0.2) $ (338.0) N.M.0 $ (43.4) 87) %

™  Percentage change is not meaningful.

Our equity method revenue decreased $124.2 million or 5% in 2020, due to a $333.8 million or 13% decrease in asset based fees, partially offset by a
$209.6 million or 8% increase in performance based fees. The decrease in asset based fees was primarily due to a decrease in equity method Affiliate
average assets under management, due to net client cash outflows principally in our quantitative strategies, and a change in the composition of our assets
under management. These decreases were partially offset by the impact of new investments, which had higher asset based fee ratios than our average asset
based fee ratio.

While equity method revenue decreased $124.2 million or 5% in 2020, equity method earnings decreased $0.8 million or less than 1%. Equity method
earnings decreased less than equity method revenue on a percentage basis due to the recognition of performance based fees at Affiliates in which we hold
more of an economic interest, partially offset by a decline in earnings at certain Affiliates in which we share in revenue less agreed-upon expenses.

Equity method intangible amortization and impairments decreased $295.4 million or 47% in 2020, primarily due to a $300.0 million decrease in
expenses to reduce the carrying value of certain Affiliates to fair value. See Note 10 of our Consolidated Financial Statements. This decrease was partially
offset by a $6.4 million increase in amortization expense due to investments in new Affiliates.

Investment and other income

The following table presents our Investment and other income:
For the Years Ended December 31,
(in millions) 2018 2019 % Change 2020 % Change

L Tnvesment and other incoime . . ¥ 244 5 252 (8)°_._ %" $ 34.1° 35 %

Investment and other income increased $8.9 million or 35% in 2020, primarily due to a $10.8 million increase in foreign currency gains, partially
offset by a $1.4 million decrease in interest income.

Income Tax Expense

The following table presents our Income tax expense:
For the Years Ended December 31,

%
(in millions) 2018 2019 % Change 2020 Change

[ Income tax expense $ 1813 _ $ 29 98)__ % $ 814 N.M.»
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™ Percentage change is not meaningful.

Income tax expense increased $78.5 million in 2020, primarily due to a $265.1 million increase in income before income taxes attributable to the
controlling interest and an $18.7 million increase in valuation allowances against certain state and foreign loss carryforwards. These increases were
partially offset by a $3.4 million decrease in stock compensation tax shortfalls during 2020.

Net Income

The following table presents Net income, Net income (controlling interest) and Net income (non-controlling interest):
For the Years Ended December 31,

(in millions) 2018 2049 . % Change 2020 ) % Change

Net income $__ 5323 §_ 3051 43)__%___$__ 4270 40___%

Net income (non-controlling interests) 288.7 289.4 0 % 224.8 (22) %
{_Net income (controlling interest) “ : : 243.6 15.7 _(94) % - 202.2 N.M.m

™ Percentage change is not meaningful. .

Net income (controlling interest) increased $186.5 million in 2020, primarily due to a decrease in Equity method loss (net). This increase was partially
offset by an increase in Income tax expense attributable to the controlling interest, an increase in share-based compensation attributable to the controlling
interest and a decrease in Consolidated revenue.

Supplemental Financial Performance Measures

As supplemental information, we provide a non-GAAP measure that we refer to as Adjusted EBITDA (controlling interest). Adjusted EBITDA
(controlling interest) is an important supplemental financial performance measure for management as it provides a comprehensive view of our share of the
financial performance of our business before interest, taxes, depreciation, amortization, impairments, certain Affiliate equity expenses, gains and losses on
general partner and seed capital investments, and adjustments to contingent payment arrangements. We believe that many investors use this measure when
assessing the financial performance of companies in the investment management industry. This non-GA AP performance measure is provided in addition to,
but not as a substitute for, Net income (controlling interest) or other GAAP performance measures.

The following table presents a reconciliation of Net income (controlling interest) to Adjusted EBTTDA (controlling interest):
For the Years Ended December 31,

(in millions) 2018 2019 2020
] " Net income (Eontrolhngyité"rest) - ) ’ C - ) 2436, -8 157 .. & . 2002
Interest expense 80.6 76.2 92.3
i Income taxes - ' L i : . L 1094, ANGED) -69.5]
Tntangible amortization and impairments'” 454.9 745.8 427.7
i Other items® __ : . - ’ R R
Adjusted EBITDA (controlling interest) $ 961.8 3 841.6 $ 798.8

™ TIntangible amortization and impairments in our Consolidated Statements of Income include amortization attributable to the non-controlling interests of
our consolidated Affiliates. For our Affiliates accounted for under the equity method, we do not separately report intangible amortization and
impairments in our Consolidated Statements of Income. Our share of these Affiliates” amortization is reported in Equity method loss (net). The
following table presents the Intangible
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amortization and impairments shown above:
For the Years Ended December 31,

(in millions) 2018 2019 2020
Linnsolidared intangiblé amorfization and impaitments TR M. JR 8 L. X $ 1445 _ 8 1405}
Consolidated intangible amortization and impairments (non- comrolhng interests ) (30.7) (26.1) (11.8)
Fapity merhod iniangible amaortizaiion and impainments T " . .370.8 - G274 . . -332.01
Total ‘ $ 4549 $ 7458 $ 4277

@  QOther items include depreciation and adjustments to contingent payment arrangements. Beginning with the first quarter of 2020, other items also
include certain Affiliate cquity expenses and gaing and losses on general partner and seed capital investments, These changes were made to improve
the comparability of performance between periods. Prior periods have not been revised as the amounts were not significant.

Economic Net Income (conerolling_interest) and Economic Earnings Per Share

As supplemental information, we also provide non-GAAP performance measures that we refer to as Economic net income (controlling interest) and
LCconomic carnings per share. We believe Economic net income (controlling interest) and Economic earnings per share are important measures because
they represent our performance before non cash expenses relating to the acquisition of interests in Affiliates and improve comparability of perfermance
between periods. Economic net income (controlling interest) and Economic carings per share are used by our management and Board of Directors as our
principal performance benchmarks; including as one of the measures for aligning executive compensation with stockholder value. These non-GAAP
performance measures are provided in addition to, but not as substitutes for, Net income (controlling interest) and Earnings per share (diluted) or other
GAAP performance measures. .

We adjust Net income (controlling interest) to calculate Economic net income (controlling interest) by adding back our share of pre-tax intangible
amortization and impairments acributable to intangible assets (including the portion attributable to equity methed investments in Affiliates) because these
expenses do not correspond o the changes in the value of these assets, which do not diminish predictably over time, We also add back the deferred taxes
attributable to intangible assets because we believe it is unlilely these accruals will be used to settle material tax obligations. Further, we add back other
cconomic items to improve comparability of performance between periods.

Ceonomic carnings per share represents Economic net income (controlling interest) divided by the Average charee outstanding (adjusted diluted). In
this calculation, the potential share issuance in connection with our junior convertible securities ic measured using a “treasury stock” method. Under this
method, only the net number of shares of common stock equal to the value of these junior convertible securities in excess of par, if any, is deemed 10 be
outstanding. We believe the inclusion of net shares under a treasury stock method best reflects the benefit of the increase in available capital resources
(which could be used to repurchase shares of common stock) that occurs when these securities are converted and we are relieved of our debt obligation.
This method does not take into account any increase or decreasc in our cost of capital in an assumed conversion.

The following table presents a reconciliation of Net income (controlling interest) to Economic net income (controlling interest) and Economic gamings
per share:
For the Years Ended December 31,

(in millions, excepl per share data) 2018 2019 2020
[ Netincome (controlling interescy . . N et 8236 ___$_ 157 & _ 2m7]
Intangible amortization and impairments® 454.9 745.8 427.7
[ _Intangible-related deferred taxes 79.7 _(51.3) 9.9y
Other economic items® 25 100 4.4
[ _Economic vet incore (controlling interest): © " -, T b g e N2 b Lidd)
Average shares outstanding (diluted) 53.8 50.6 46.7
l Stock options and restricted stock units — i — —)
Assumed issuance of junior convertible securities shares — . - . —
’_Avel'age shiares vusianding (adjusted diluted) - s ' 53.8 3 506 4 16.7 |
Economic earnings per share $ 14.50 $ 14.22 $ 13.36

™ See note (1) to the table in “Adjusted EBITDA (controlling interest).”

™ Other cconomic items include non cash imputed interest (principally related to the accounting for convertible securities and contingent payment
arrangements) and certain Affiliate equity expenses. Beginning with the first quarter of 20189, other economic items also include tax, windfalls and
shortfalls from share-based compensation. Beginning with the first quarter of 2020, other economic items also include gains and losses on general
partner and sced capital investments. These changes were made to improve the comparability of perfoermance between perieds. Prior periods have not
been revised as the amounts were not significant. For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2019 and 2020, other econemic items were net of income
tax expense of $0.8 million, $0.7 million and $2.6 million, respectively.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We generate long term value by investing in new Affiliate partnerships, investing in existing Affiliates, and investing in centralized capabilities
through which we can leverage our scale and resources to benefit our Affiliates and enhance their long-term growth prospects. Given our annual cash
generation from operations, in addition to investing for growth in our business, we are also able to return excess capital to shareholders primarily through
share repurchases. We continue to manage our capital structure consistent with an investment grade company and are currently rated A3 by Moody’s
Investors Service and BBB+ by S&P Global Ratings.

Cash and cash equivalents were $1,039.7 million as of December 31, 2020, and were attributable to both the controlling and non-controlling interests.
n 2020, we met our cash requirements primarily through cash generated by operating activities. Qur principal usee of cash in 2020 were for chare
repurchases, investments in existing A ffiliates through repurchases of Affiliate equity interests, and investments in new Affiliates. Additionally, in 2020, we



issued debt securities to enhance our balance sheot through extending duration and lower interest rates. The net cash proceeds from debt securities issucd in
2020 were used to pay down outstanding indebtedness on our revolver and term loan, with a majority of the remainder retained for general corporate
purposes and included in our Cash and cash equivalents balance in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2020.

We expect investments in new Affiliates, investments in existing Affiliates, primarily through repurchases of Affiliate equity interests and general
partmer and seed capital investments, the return of capital through ghare repurchases; the payment of cash dividends on our common stock, repayment of
debt, distriburians (o Affiliate equity holders, and general working capital to be the primary uses of cash for the foresecable future. We anticipate that our
current cash halance, cash flows from operationg, and borrowinge under our revolver, will be sufficient to support our uses of cash for the foresecable

futyre. Tn addition, we may draw funding from the debt and equity capital markets, and our credit ratings, among other factors, allow us to access these
sources of funding on favorable terms.
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The following table presents operating, investing and financing cash flow activities:
For the Years Ended December 31,

(in millions) 2018 2019 2020
{___Operating cash flow ‘ $ 11406 - % 929.1 $__ 10093}

Investing cash flow (18.2) (24.4) (53.7)
[___Financing cash flow - NN R (083.1) - (3347) - (455.4)

Operating Cash Flow

Operating cash flows are calculated by adjusting Net income for other significant sources and uses of cash, significant non-cash items and timing
differences in the cash settlement of assets and liabilities.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, Cash flows from operating activities were $1,009.3 million, primarily from Net income of $427.0 million
adjusted for non-cash items of $346.0 million and $236.8 million of distributions of earnings received from equity method investments. In 2020, operating
cash flows were primarily attributable to the controlling interest.

.

Investing Cash Flow

For the year ended December 31, 2020, Cash flows used in investing activities were $53.7 million, primarily due to investments in new Affiliates of
$44.5 million and purchases of fixed assets of $8.5 million.

Financing Cash Elow

For the year ended December 31, 2020, Cash flows used in financing activities were $455.4 million, primarily due to the return of $351.9 million of
capital to shareholders through share repurchases and dividends on our common stock, $306.3 million of distributions to non-controlling interests, $294.9
million of Affiliate equity repurchases, net of issuances, and a $100.0 million paydown of our term loan. Cash flows used in financing activities were
partially offset by the receipt of $624.8 million of proceeds from the issuance of debt securities in 2020.

Affiliate Equity

We periodically repurchase Affiliate equity from and issue Affiliate equity to our consolidated Affiliate partners and our officers, under agreements
that provide us with a conditional right to call and Affiliate equity holders with a conditional right to put their Affiliate equity interests to us at certain
intervals. For Affiliates accounted for under the equity method, we do not typically have such put and call arrangements. The purchase price of these
conditional purchases is generally calculated based upon a multiple of the Affiliate’s cash flow distributions, which is intended to represent fair value.
Affiliate equity holders are also permitted to sell their equity interests to other individuals or entities in certain cases, subject to our approval or other
restrictions.

As of December 31, 2020, the current redemption value of $671.5 million for these interests (including $35.4 million of consolidated Affiliate
sponsored investment products primarily attributable to third-party investors) has been presented as Redeemable non-controlling interests. Although the
timing and amounts of these purchases are difficult to predict, we paid $294.9 million for Affiliate equity repurchases, net of issuances during 2020, and we
expect net repurchases of approximately $125 million of Affiliate equity in 2021. In the event of a repurchase, we become the owner of the cash flow
associated with the repurchased equity. See Notes 17 and 18 of our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Share Repurchases

Our Board of Directors authorized share repurchase programs in January 2021, October 2019, and January 2019 to repurchase up to 5.0 million, 6.0
million, and 3.3 million shares of our common stock, respectively, and these authorizations have no expiry. Purchases may be made from time to time, at
management’s discretion, in the open market or in privately negotiated transactions, including through the use of trading plans as well as pursuant to
accelerated share repurchase programs or other share repurchase strategies that may include derivative financial instruments. For the year ended
December 31, 2020, we repurchased 5.0 million shares of our common stock, at an average price per share of $86.35. As of December 31, 2020, we had
repurchased all of the shares of the January 2019 program. As of the January 2021 authorization, there were a total of 6.9 million shares available for
repurchase under our January 2021 and October 2019 share repurchase programs.

Debt
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The following table presents the carrying value of our outstanding indebtedness. See Note 6 of our Consolidated Financial Statements.

December 31,
(in millions) 2018 2019 2020
L__S@igr bank debt R : _$ 780.0_ $ 450.0_ $ 350.0}
Senior notes 746.2 746.8 1,097.3
[ Junior convertible securities : - 3125 315.4 3184}
Junior subordinated notes — 290.7 565.7

The carrying value of our debt differs from the amount reported in the notes to our Consolidated Financial Statements, as the carrying value of our debt
in the table above is not reduced for debt issuance costs.

Senior Bank Debt

We have a $1.25 billion revolver and a $350.0 million term loan. The revolver matures on January 18, 2024, and the term loan, as amended, matures
on January 18, 2026. Subject to certain conditions, we may increase the commitments under the revolver by up to an additional $500.0 million and may
borrow up to an additional $75.0 million under the term loan.

Under the terms of the credit facilities we are required to meet two financial ratio covenants. The first of these covenants is a maximum ratio of debt to
EBITDA (the “bank leverage ratio”) of 3.25x. The second covenant is a minimum EBITDA to cash interest expense ratio of 3.00x (the “bank interest
coverage ratio”). For purposes of calculating these ratios, share-based compensation and certain Affiliate equity expenses are added back to Adjusted
EBITDA. As of December 31, 2020, our bank leverage and bank interest coverage ratios were 1.6x and 10.1x, respectively, and we were in compliance
with all of the terms of our credit facilities.

As of December 31, 2020, we had no outstanding borrowings under the revolver, and could borrow all capacity and remain in compliance with our
credit facilities.

On January 8, 2021, we amended and refinanced the term loan to adjust the marginal rate by 0.075% to 0.950% and to extend the maturity by three
years from January 18, 2023 to January 18, 2026. The commercial terins of the term loan otherwise remained the same.

Senior Notes and Junior Subordinated Notes

As of December 31, 2020, we had the following senior notes and junior subordinated notes outstanding, the respective principal terms of which are
presented below.

2024 2025 2030 2059 2060
Senior Notes . Senior Notes . Senior Notes . Junior Subordinated Notes ) Junior Subordinated Notes

[ Issuedate " Febriiary 2014 Febrary 2015 T June 2020 * " ° * Maich 2019 September 2020°

Maturity date February 2024 August 2025 June 2030 March 2059 September 2060

Pai value {in . e .- o . . . )
nillions) - -3 400.0 i $__ 3800 %o 3/00_ "5 300.0 $ 275.0

Stated coupon 4.25 % 3.50 % 3.30 % 5.875 % 4.750 %
{" Coupon - i . - :
tfrequency * _ _Semi-annually__ Semi-annually ' _Semi-annually - Quarterly . ___Quarterly,

Potential call
date Any time Any time Any time March 2024 September 2025
| Listing - N.A. N.A. N.A. NYSE NYSE

In the second quarter of 2020, we used $250.0 million of the net proceeds from the 2030 senior notes to repay all of the outstanding indebtedness under
our revolver, and the remaining net proceeds of $100.0 million to repay a portion of the outstanding indebtedness under the term loan.

The majority of the net proceeds from the 2060 junior subordinated notes were retained for general corporate purposes, which may include the
repayment of indebtedness, share repurchases, investments in new independent investment management firms, and investments in our existing Affiliates,
and were included in our Cash and cash equivalents balance as of December 31, 2020.
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Junior Convertible Securities

As of December 31, 2020, we had 5.15% junior convertible trust preferred securities outstanding (the “junior convertible securities”) with a carrying
value of $318.4 million. The carrying value is accreted to the principal amount at maturity ($430.8 million) over a remaining life of approximately 17
years. Holders of the junior convertible securities have no rights to put these securities to us. Upon conversion, holders will receive cash or shares of our
common stock, or a combination thereof, at our election. We may redeem the junior convertible securities, subject to our stock trading at or above certain
specified levels over specified times periods, and may also repurchase junior subordinated notes in the open market or in privately negotiated transactions
from time to time at management’s discretion. The junior convertible securities are considered contingent payment debt instruments under federal income
tax regulations, which require us to deduct interest in an amount greater than our reported interest expense. We estimate that these deductions will generate
annual deferred tax liabilities of approximately $9 million. Assuming no redemptions or repurchases, these deferred tax liabilities will be reclassified
directly to stockholders’ equity if our common stock is trading above certain thresholds at the time of the conversion of the securities. If we redeem the
securities or repurchase the notes at a price below such thresholds, all or a portion of these deferred tax liabilities may be reclassified to income taxes
payable which is presented within Other liabilities on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. In August 2019, in accordance with the convertible securities
. indenture, we adjusted the conversion rate of the junior convertible securities as a result of the cumulative declared dividends on our comman stock.

Equity Distribution Program

We have equity distribution and forward equity agreements with several major securities firms under which we may, from time to time, issue and sell
shares of our common stock (immediately or on a forward basis) having an aggregate sales price of up to $500.0 million (the “equity distribution
program”). As of December 31, 2020, no sales had occurred under the equity distribution program.

Derivatives

In 2020, we entered into an interest rate swap'contract (the “interest rate swap”) with a financial institution, which will expire in March 2023. The
interest rate swap, which is designated as a cash flow hedge, is used to exchange a portion of our LTBOR-based interest payments for fixed rate interest
payments. Under the contract, we receive payments based on one month LIBOR and make payments based on an annual fixed rate of 0.5135% on a
notional amount of $250.0 million.

In 2020, we terminated our forward contracts and corresponding collar contracts entered into in 2018, and we received net proceeds of $24.9 million
upon settlement. See Note 7 of our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Commitments
See Note 8 of our Consolidated Financial Statements.
Leases

As of December 31, 2020, our lease obligations were $40.7 million through 2021, $69.1 million in 2022-2023, $47.4 million in 2024-2025 and $59.6
million thereafter. The portion of these lease obligations attributable to the controlling interest were $11.9 million through 2021, $19.8 million in 2022-
2023, $13.5 million in 2024-2025 and $2.3 million thereafter. See Note 11 of our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Recent Accounting Developments
See Note 1 of our Consolidated Financial Statements.
Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments

The preparation of financial statements and related disclosures in conformity with GAAP requires us to make judgments, assumptions, and estimates
that affect the amounts reported in our Consolidated Financial Statements and accompanymg notes. See Note 1 of our Consolidated Financial Statements
for a discussion of our significant accounting policies.

The following are our critical accounting estimates and judgments used in the preparation of our Consolidated Financial Statements, and due to their
subjectivity, actual results could differ materially from the amounts reported.

Eair Value Measurements
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Accounting standards define fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in the principal or most
advantageous market in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. These standards establish a fair value hierarchy that
gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs.

We make judgments to determine the fair value of certain assets, liabilities, and equity interests when allocating the purchase price of our new
investments, when revaluing our contingent payment arrangements, when we issue or repurchase Affiliate equity interests and when we test our goodwill,
indefinite and definite-lived acquired client relationships, or equity method investments for impairment.

In determining fair values that reflect our own assumptions concerning unobservable inputs, we typically use valuation techniques, including
probability-weighted discounted cash flow analyses, where we make assumptions about growth rates of assets under management, client attrition, asset and
performance based fee rates, and expenses. In these analyses, we also consider historical and current market multiples, tax benefits, credit risk, interest
rates, tax rates, discount rates, and discounts for lack of marketability. We consider the reasonableness of our assumptions by comparing our valuation
conclusions to observed market transactions and, in certain instances, by consulting with third-party valuation firms. Changes in the assumptions used
could significantly impact fair values.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the future economic benefits arising from assets acquired in a business combination that are not separately recognized. We
perform a qualitative impairment assessment at least annually to determine if the carrying value of our single reporting unit is in excess of its fair value. [n
this qualitative assessment, we typically measure the excess of the fair value of our reporting unit over its carrying value using various qualitative and
quantitative factors (including our market capitalization and market multiples for asset management businesses). If there is an indication that the carrying
value of the reporting unit is in excess of the fair value under this test, then we must determine if a potential impairment is more-likely-than-not. To
determine if a potential impairment is more-likely-than-not, we perform a single step quantitative test with any excess of carrying value over fair value
recorded as an expense in Intangible amortization and impairments.

We completed our annual goodwill impairment assessment as of September 30, 2020 and no impairment was indicated. Based on our assessment, the
fair value of our reporting unit was substantially greater than its respective carrying amount, including goodwill.

Indefinite-Lived Acquired Client Relationships

Indefinite-lived acquired client relationships include investment advisory contracts between our Affiliates and their mutual funds and other retail-
oriented investment products. Because these contracts are with the investment products themselves, and not with the underlying investors, and the contracts
between our Affiliates and the investment products are typically renewed on an annual basis, industry practice under GAAP is to consider the contract life
to be indefinite and, as a result, not amortizable.

We perform indefinite-lived acquired client relationship impairment assessments annually, or more frequently should circumstances indicate fair value
has declined below the related carrying value. For purposes of our assessments, we consider various qualitative and quantitative factors (including market
multiples) and determine if it is more-likely-than-not that the fair value of each asset group is greater than its carrying amount. If we determine that it is
likely that the fair value has declined below our related carrying value, we perform discounted cash flow analyses to determine the fair value of the asset
group and record an expense in Intangible amortization and impairments to reduce the carrying value to its fair value.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, we recorded $45.3 million of expense attributable to the controlling interest ($70.7 million in aggregate) to
reduce the carrying values of the assets to fair value. See Note 9 of our Consolidated Financial Statements.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, we completed our annual assessment of our other indefinite-lived acquired client relationships and only a
significant decline in the fair values of these assets would result in an impairment.

Definite-Lived Acquired Client Relationships

Definite-lived acquired client relationships include investment advisory contracts between our Affiliates and their underlying investors, and are
amortized over their expected period of economic benefit. Significant judgment is required to estimate the period that these assets will contribute to our
cash flows and the pattern over which these assets will provide an economic benefit. Formally, on an annual basis, or more frequently should client attrition
trends warrant a potential revision, ’
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we review historical and projected actrition rates and other cvents that may influence our projections of the future period of economic benefit that we will
derive from these relationships. Changes in the expected period of economic benefit of these assets may warrant changes in the period over which the
assets are amortized.

We perform definite-lived acquired client relationship impairment assessments annually, or more frequently should client attrition trends indicate fair
value has declined below the related carrying value. If we determine that the fair value has declined below our related carrying value, an expense is
recorded in Intangible amortization and impairments to reduce the carrying value to its fair value. We assess each of our definite-lived acquired client
relationships for impairment by comparing their carrying value to the projected undiscounted cash flows of the acquired client relationships.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, we completed our annual assessment and noted that projected undiscounted cash flows over the remaining life
of each of these assets exceed their carrying value and, accordingly, no impairments were identified.

Equity Method Investments in Affiliates

We periodically perform assessments to determine if the fair value of an investment may have declined below its related carrying value for our
Affiliates accounted for under the equity method for a period that we consider to be other-than-temporary. Where we believe that such declines may have
occurred, we determine the amount of impairment using valuation methods, such as discounted cash flow analyses. Impairments are recorded as an expense
in Equity method loss (net) to reduce the carrying value of the Affiliate to its fair value.

When we test our equity method investments for impairment, we make assumptions about growth rates of projected assets under management, client
attrition, asset and performance based fees, and expenses. In these analyses, we also make judgments about tax benefits, tax rates and discount rates. We
consider the reasonableness of our assumptions by comparing our valuation conclusions to observed market transactions and, in certain instances, by
consulting with third-party valuation firms. Changes in these assumptions could significantly impact the respective fair value of an Affiliate.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, we recorded $185.0 million of expenses to reduce the carrying value of an Affiliate to fair value. See Note 10
of our Consolidated Financial Statements.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, we completed our annual assessment of our other investments in Affiliates accounted for under the equity
method and no other impairments were identified.

Income Taxes

We and our Affiliates are subject to income taxes in the U.S. and certain foreign jurisdictions. Our income tax expense, deferred tax assets and
liabilities, and liabilities for unrecognized tax benefits reflect management’s best estimate of current and future taxes to be paid.

Deferred income taxes arise from temporary differences between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and their reported amounts in the financial
statements, which will result in taxable or deductible amounts in the future. We measure our deferred taxes based on enacted tax rates and projected state
apportionment percentages for the years in which the differences are expected to reverse. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in
tax rates is recorded in Income tax expense in the Consolidated Statement of Income in the period in which the change in tax rates is enacted.

Our principal deferred tax assets relate to deferred compensation, state and foreign loss carryforwards, and the indirect benefits of uncertain foreign
tax positions. We regularly assess the recoverability of our deferred tax assets, considering all available positive and negative evidence, including future
reversals of existing taxable temporary differences, projected future taxable income, tax-planning strategies, and results of recent operations. A valuation
allowance is utilized to adjust the carrying values of deferred tax assets to the amount that is more-likely-than-not to be realized.

We record unrecognized tax benefits based on whether it is more-likely-than-not that uncertain tax positions will be sustained on the basis of the
technical merits of the position. If it is determined an uncertain tax position is more-likely-than-not to be sustained, we recognize the largest amount of tax
benefit that is more than 50% likely to be realized upon ultimate settlement with the related tax authority.

See Note 20 of our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Share-Based Compensation and Affiliate Equity
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We have share-based compensation arrangements covering directors, senior management, and employees. Our share-based compensation arrangements
typically vest and become fully exercisable over three to five years of continued employment and, in some cases, may require the satisfaction of certain
performance conditions.

We determine the fair value of our share-based compensation arrangements on their grant date and record compensation expense based on the number
of awards expected to vest. For restricted stock units, we detennine the fair value of the units using our share price on the date of grant and the number of
shares expected to vest. For stock options, we estimate the fair value using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, which requires us to make assumptions
about the volatility and dividend yield of our common stock and the expected life of our stock options. Tn measuring expected volatility, we consider both
the historical volatility of our common stock, as well as the current implied volatility from traded options. For certain of our awards with performance
conditions, the number of restricted stock units or stock options expected to vest may change over time depending upon the performance level achieved.

For share-based compensalion aitangermneiits without performance conditions, we recognize expense based on the number of awards expected to vest
on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period, including grants that are subject to graded vesting. For all other arrangements, we recognize
expense based on the number of awards expected to vest on a straight-line basis for each separately vesting portion of the award.

From time to time, we grant equicy interests in our Affiliates to consolidated Affiliate partmers and our officers, with vesting, forfeiture, and repurchase
tenms established at ihe date of grant. The {aii valae of the equity interests is determined as of the date of grant using a discounted cash flow analysic. Key
valuation assumptions include projected assets under management, asset and performance based fees, tax rates, discount rates and discounts for lack of
marketability. The use of different assumptions could change the valuc of thesc interests, including the amount of compensation expense, if any, that we
may report upon their transfer or repurchase.

Redeemable non-controlling interests represent the currently redeemable value of Affiliate equity interests. We may pay for these Affiliate equity
purchases in cash, shares of our common stock or other forms of consideration, at our election.

See Notes 16, 17 and 18 of our Consolidated Financial Statements.
Ttem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Assets Under Management Market Price Risk

Our Consulidated revenue and equity method revenue are derived primarily from asset based fees that are typically determined as a percentage of the
value of a client’s assets under management. Such values are affected by changes in financial markets (including declines in the capital markets,
fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, inflation rates or the yield curve, and other market factors) and, accordingly, declines in the financial
- markets may negatively impact our Consolidated revenue and equity method revenue.

As of December 31, 2020, we estimate a proportional 1% change in the value of our assets under management would have resulted in a $19.6 million
annualized change in asset based fees in Consolidated revenue for our consolidated Affiliates and a $13.2 million annualized change in asset based fees in
equity method revenue fur vu Alffiliates accounted for under the equity method. This proportional increase or decrease excludes assets under management
on which asset based fees are charged on committed capital.

Interest Rate Risk

We have fixed rates of interest on our senior notes, junior subordinated notes, and junior convertible securities. While a change in market interest rates
would not affect the interest expense iicuried on our fixed rate sccurities, such a change may affect the fair value of these securities. We estimate that a
1% change in interest rates would have resulted in a $107.3 million net change in the fair value of our fixed rate securities as of December 31, 2020. We
pay a variable rate of interest on our credit facilities at specified rates, based either on an applicable LTBOR or prime rate, plus a marginal rate determined
based on our credit rating. As of December 31, 2020, the interest rate for our putstanding borrowings under the credit facilities was LTBOR plus 0.875%. In
the first quarter of 2020, we entered into an interest rate swap to exchange a portion of our LIBOR-based interest payments for fixed rate interest payments,
reducing our variable interest rate exposure. We estimate that a 1% change in interest rates would have changed our annual interest expense on the
outstanding balances under our credit facilities not participating in the interest rate swap by $1.0 million, as of December 31, 2020.
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Currently, LIBOR is expected to be discontinued, however, there remains uncertainty as to the timing of the transition to, as well to as the nature of,
any replacement rate. See “Item 1A. Risk Factors”. We and our Affiliates have been monitoring these developments, and we currently do not expect to be
significantly impacted by this transition. Our term loan and our revolver both include “fallback” language allowing for the substitution of a comparable or
successor rate, as further described in the respective agreements. We will continue to monitor and evaluate our agreements and the developments with
respect to LIBOR as the potential end-date for LIBOR approaches. ) ’

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

The functional currency of most of our Affiliates is the U.S. dollar. Certain of our Affiliates have the pound sterling or the Canadian dollar as their
functional currency, and are, therefore, impacted by movements in pound sterling and Canadian dollar to U.S. dollar foreign currency exchange rates. In
addition, the valuations of our foreign Affiliates with a non-U.S. dollar functional currency change based on fluctuations in foreign currency exchange
rates, among other factors. Changes due to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates are recorded as a component of stockholders’ equity.

To illustrate the effect of possible changes in foreign currency exchange rates, we estimate a 19 change in the pound sterling and Canadian dollar to
U.S. dollar exchange rates would have resulted in a $10.8 million and $2.1 million change to stockholders’ equity, respectively, based on the December 31,
2020 canying value of Affiliates whose functional currency is the pound sterling or the Canadian dollar, and of our and our Affiliates’ pound sterling-
denominated derivative financial instruments. For the year ended December 31, 2020, we estimate a 1% change in the pound sterling and the Canadian
dollar to U.S. dollar exchange rates would have resulted in $1.1 million and $0.1 million in annual changes to Income before income taxes (controlling
interest), respectively:

Derivative Risk

From time to time, we and our Affiliates seek to offset exposure to changes in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates, and markets by entering
into derivative financial instruments. There can be no assurance that our or our Affiliates” derivative financial instruments will meet their overall objective
or that we or our Affiliates will be successful in entering into such instruments in the future.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management of Affiliated Managers Group, Inc. (the “Company™) is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over
financial reporting. The Company’s internal control over financial reporting processes are designed by, or under the supervision of, the Company’s chief
executive and chief financial officers and applied by the Cumpany's Doard of Directors, managcment and other senior employecet to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of the Company’s financial statements for external reporting purposes in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S.

The Company’s internal control over financial reporting includes policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable
detall, accurately and faitly 1efleci iransaciious and dispusitions of assets; provide reasonable assurances that transactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S., and that receipts and expenditures are
being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and the directors of the Company; and provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on its financial
statements.

As of December 31, 2020, management conducted an assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based
on the framework established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission {COSO). Based on this assessment, management has determined that the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2020 was effective.

The Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020 has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent
registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report appearing in “Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm,” which expresses an
unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Affiliated Managers Group, Tnc.:
Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Affiliated Managers Group, Tnc. and its affiliates (the “Company™) as of December
31, 2020 and 2019, and the related consolidated statements of income, of comprehensive income, of changes in equity and of cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 2020, including the related notes and financial statement schedule listed in the index appearing under Item
15(a)(2) (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). We also have audited the Company's internal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2020, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as
of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2020 in
confonmity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material
respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated
Framework (2013) issued by the COSO.

Basis for Opinions

The Company's management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective intemnal control over financial
reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in Management’s Report on Internal Control over
Financial Reporting appearing under Item 8. Our responsibility is to express opinions on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and on the
Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities
laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, and whether
effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test
basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. Our
audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a
material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also
included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinions.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s
internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded
as necessary (o permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures
of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the
financial statements.
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AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUP, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(in millions, except per share data)

For the Years Ended December 31,

2018 2019 2020
Cuousolidated revenue N - . ) $ 23784 § 22396 5 -2,027.5]
LCunsulidated expenses: i it R
Compensation and related expenses 987.2 943.0 883.7
{ Selling, general and adwlnisiradve : ) 417.7 376.8 - 321.4]
Intangible amortization and impairments 114.8 144.5 140.5
L Interest cxpenac 2 . . . - 806 76.2 s 92.3]
Depreciation and other amortization 22.0 21.3 19.1
[Other expenses (net) - 9.7 | 570 5281
Total consolidated expenses 1,692.0 1,618.8 . 1,509.8
L . ' i
Equity method loss (net) (0.2) (338.0) (43.4)
Investment and other income 274 252 34.1
TIncome beforc incoine laxes 713.6 308.0 508.4]
ncome tax expense’ : . 181.3 _ 29 | 81.4]
Net income 532.3 305.1 427.0
Net income (non-controlling interests) (288.7) (289.4) (224.8)
Net income (controlling interest) $ 2436 $ 157 8 202.21
Average shares outstanding (basic) 53.6 50.5 465}
Average shares outstanding (diluted) 53.8 50.6 46.7
Earnings per share (basic) $ 455 $ 031 % 4.34
'Eamings per share (diluted) $ 452 % 031 % 4.33]

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUP, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(in millions)

For the Years Ended December 31,

2018 2019 2020

INet income N s ' $ 5323 _$ _ 3051 _$ 427.0]
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:
{__Foreign currency translation gain (loss) - (102.1) - 10.9 15.24

Change in net realized and unrealized gain (loss) on derivative financial instruments . (0.1) 1.7 (1.5)
L__ Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax ' (1022 126 ° -~ 13.7]
Comprehensive income 430.1 317.7 440.7
{Comprehensive income (non-controlling interests) _ ' > : v (273.7) . (301.8) . . (228.0)]
Comprehensive income (controlling interest) $ 1564 § 159 $ 212.7

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUP, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in millions, except par value)

December 31,

2019 2020

"Assets - . |
Cash and cash equivalents $ 5396 $ 1,039.7
Receivables ' - M 3 4171 421G}
Investments in marl ketable securmes 539.4 74.9
Goodwill .~ o, . — ; 26517, 2,661.1)
Acquired client relationships (1 (net) 1,182.0 1,048.8
Equity_methiod Investients in Affiliates (nef) o . A 2,195.6 -2,074.8]
Fixed assets (net) 92.3 79.6
Otbier invesunents_. N . i 2118 . a57.0]
Other assets 304.0 230.9
¢ "Toral aseets oo R A i o A X R . $- 7.008.91
Liabilities and Equity
[Payable and aceiued liahilities ’ $ G465 712.4]
Debt ' 1,793.8 2,312.1
Deferred income tax liability,(net) il 4502 . 423.44
Other liabilities 359.1 452.2
[ Total liabilities . 3,237.7__ 3,900.1]
Commitments and contingencies (Note 8)

‘Redeemable non=controlling jnterests ___ 916.7 671.5]
Equity:

E(.ommon stock ($0.01 par value, 153.0 shares authorized; 58.5. shares ; outstanding in 2019 and 2020) 0.6 0.6)
Additional paid-in capital 707.2 728.9
f_Accnmiared ather coniprelietisive loss o (108.0) (98.3)
Retained earnings 3,819.8 . 4,005.5
{ 4,418.8 4.636.7|

Less: Treasury stock, at cost (10.4 shares in 2019 and 14.5 shares in 20?0) (1,481.3) (1,857.0)

[ Tistal sini klulders’ Bty 2,937.5 i 2,'_7_'_7?._U
Non-controlling interests 561.6 537.6

{__Total equity 3,499.1 3,317.3}
5 7,653.5 $ 7,888.9

Total liabilities and equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

\
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AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUP, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

(in millions)

Tota) Stockholders’ Equity

Accumulated
Additional Other Treasury Non-
Common Paid-In Comprehensive Retained  Stock at  controlling Total
Stock Capital Income (Loss)  Earnings Cost Interests Equity

December 31, 2017 $__ 06 5_ 8086 8 (21.8)_5 36985 _5_(663.7) 5_ 7563 5 45785]
Net income _ — — 2436 — 288.7 5323
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax - - — 87.2) — — (15.0)____(102.2)
Share-based compensauon — 44.7 —_ _ — — 44.7
Cmck lssued Tnder s shale—based incentive plans — T (11.6) — — 6.6 — § (’:'LQ)
Shares repulchases — — — - (489.5) — (489.5)
Dividénds ($1.20 per share) — — = 53— - (65.3)'
Issuance costs and other — (0.5) — — — — (0.5)
Afflhmmty |

Affiliate equity compensation — 16.7 — — — 39.7 56.4
[Cissuances — T 6.9 — — — 14.3 7.5]

Repurchases — 15.3 — —_ —_ (9.0) 6.3
[(..hanges in redempnon value of Redeemablé non-* . 1

controlling interests L — (30.8) — — —_ — (30.8)

Transfers 1o Redeemable non-controlling interests — — — —_ — (44.8) (44.8)
{ Capital contributions and other - — = — — 178 17.8]

Distributians to non-controlling interests — — —_ — — (370. S) (370.5)
December 31, 2018 $, 06 $__8356_ % __ _ (109.0) 5 38768 $(1,146.6) $__ 6775 _$ 4.134.9]
Tmpact of adoption of new accounting standard (ASU 2018- ' :
02) : — — — (6 6) — - 6.6)
Net income — — — 15.7 — 2894 305.1]
Other Lomplehenswe income, net of tax — — 0.2 — — 12.4 12.6
Share-based compensation — 499 — — — = 49.9]
Common stock issued under share-based incentive plans — (34.0) —_ — 28.6 — (5- 4)
‘Shares repurchases — 25 — - (363.3) — (360.8)
Dividends ($1.28 per share) — — — (66.1) — — (66.1)
JIssuance costs and other — 0.1 ¢ — — — poy 0.1]
Affiliate equity activity:
[CAftiliate equity compensation — 9.6 — — — 309 40.5]

Issuances —_ (3 7) —_ _ —_ 14.9 1.2
[ Repurchases - L — 13.2 — — — (10.3) 2.9)

Changes in redemption value of Redeemable non-

controlling interests — (166.0) —_ —_ — = (166.0)
[ Tvansférs to Redéemablé non-contofling interests = = = = = (050)7(1050)

Capital contributions and other — — —_ — — 0.3) 0.3)
[ Disiribitians 10 non-controlling interests = — = — 347 (479
December 31, 2019 $ 06 $ 7072 § (108.8) % 38198 $(1,481.3) $ 561.6 § 3,499.1
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NeCincome & v s AP = = g T I Y YT TI70]
Other comprehensive income, net of tax — — 10.5 — — 32 13.7
{Share-based compensatinn - T — 671 < — — = 67.1)
Common stock issued under share-based incentive plan: — (40.9) — — 34.4 — (6.5)
{Shares repnrchasas - — (19.9) v et (410.1) — (430.0)]
Dividends ($0.35 per share) — — — (16.5) — — (16.5)
{ISsUAnCe costs And nihet , . P P N e 2 —r . — == |
Affiliate equity activity:
FATe eqiy compensanan il e N = P 300 T1.0]
Issuar — (5.1 _ — — 25.2 20.1
L Repundiases BT - — R "~ (14.5) 44,21
Changes in redemption value of Redeemable non-
controlling interests — (59.4) — — —_ — (59.4)
[ Transfers 10 Rédeemanle NOn-CoNtroNing interesis — [l N — — — 7.8 7,8]
Capital contributions and other — — — — — 4.9 4.9
{ Disivilaitiens 1o nonccontenlling inférecrs Pl — V- N N — (306.3) - "(306.3)]
December 31, 2020 06 $ 7289 % (98.3) $ 40055 $(1,857.0) $ 5376 $ 3.317.3

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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AFFILTATED MANAGERS GROUP, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in millions)

Cash flow from (used in) operating activities:
Net income »
Adjustments to reconcile Net income to cash flow from (used in) operating activities:
Intangible amortization and impairments
Depreciation and other amartization
Deferred income tax expense (benefit)
Equity method loss (net)
Distributions of eamings received from equity method investments
Share-based compensation and Affiliate equity expense
Other non-cash items
Changes in assets and liahilifies:
Purchases of securities by consolidated Affiliate sponsored investment products
" Sales of securides by cuusulidated Affiliate spumsived investment prodncts
Decrease (increase) in receivables
(Increase) deerease in ather assets
Decrease in payables, accrued liabilities and other liabilities
Cash How trom opérating activitie$
Cash flow from (used in) investing activities:
“tnvestments in Alliliates '
Divestments of Affiliates
Purchase of fixed assets
Purchase of invesunent securities
Sale of investment securities
Cash flow used in investing activities
Cash flow from (used in) financing activities:
Borrowings of senior bank debt, senior notes and junior subordinated notes
Repayments uf senior bank debt » '
Repurchase of common stock (net)
Dividends paid on common stock
Distributions to non-controlling interests
Afiiliate equity (repurchases) / issuances (uer)
Subscriptions to consolidated Affiliate sponsored investment products, net of redemptions
Other tinancihg items
Cash flow used in financing activities
Effect of foreign currency exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Effect of deconsolidation of Affiliates and Affiliate sponsored investment products
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Interest paid
Income taxes paid (refunds received), net
Lease liabilities paid
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities:
Payables recorded for Affiliate equity repurchases
Payables recorded for share repurchases
Payables recorded for cantingent payment amangements
Payables recorded for investments in Affiliates
Stock issued upon vesting of restricted stock units
Stack received for tax withholdings on shgre-based payments
Right-of-use assets abtained in exchange for new operating leases

For the Years Ended December 31,

2018 2019 2020
5323 § 3051 $ 427.0
114.8 1445 1405

22,0 21.3 191
51.9 {55.8) 268
0.2 338.0 434
466.3 252.4 236.8
i01.1 90.4 119.2
@7 17.7) (3.0
(190.8) (42.3) (10.1)
49.6 1R85 996
14.4 (15.8) 1.1
(1L7) (51.4) 734
(6.8) (56.1) (64.2)
11406 0291 1,009.3
4 (167 3} T8
— 177 —
(18.7) 96 @5
(40.8) (43.1) @7.7)
10.6 720 470
(18.2) (24.4) (53.7)
1,150.0 470.7 874.8
(1,140 &) (510.0) (350.0)
(496.1) (356.1) (335.1)
3 4 {65.%) {16.8)
(370.5) (347.9) (306.3)
(1147 AREE] )
132.8 19.0 12.9
(10.6) (9.6) (10.0)
(983.1) (934.7) (455.4)
(10.1) 8.7 2.1
1292 (21.3) 502.3
4395 565.5 539.6
(3.2) (4.6) (2.2)
S5LL5 % 534 % 1,U39./
769 $ 841 § 88.3
160.2 102.7 (12.4)
— 354 39.1
36.2 19.8 220
69 106 105.6
— —_ 400
— — 69.2
4.7 327 35.6
14.7 6.4 6.7
- 18Y.7 244

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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AFFILTATED MANAGERS GROUP, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Organization and Nature of Operations

Affiliated Managers Group, Inc. (the “Company”) is a leading partner to independent active investment management firms globally. AMG’s strategy is
to generate long-term value by investing in a diverse array of partner-owned investment firms, referred to as “Affiliates.” The Company‘s Affiliates provide
a comprehensive and diverse range of active, return-oriented strategies designed (o assist institutional, retail, and high net worth clients worldwide in
achieving their investment objectives. The Company operates in one segment, global asset management.

Each of the Company’s Affiliates operates through distinct legal entities, which affords the Company the flexibility to design a separate operating
agreement for each Affiliate. Each operating agreement reflects the specific terms of the Company’s economic participation in the Affiliate, which, in each
case, uses a “structured partnership interest.”

For a majority of Affiliates, the Company uses structured parmership interests in which the Company contractually shares in the Affiliate’s revenue
without regard to expenses. In this type of structured partnership interest, the Affiliate allocates a specified percentage of its revenue to the Company and
Affiliate management, while using the remainder of its revenue for operating expenses and for additional distributions to Affiliate management. The
Company and Affiliate management, therefore, participate in any increase or decrease in revenue and only Affiliate management participates in any
increase or decrease in expenses. Under these structured partnership interests, the Company’s contractual share of revenue generally has priority over
distributions to Affiliate management. For other Affiliates, the Company uses structured partnership interests in which the Company contractually shares in
the Affiliate’s revenue less agreed-upon expenses. This type of partnership interest allows the Company to benefit from any increase in revenue or any
decrease in the agreed-upon expenses, but also exposes the Company to any decrease in revenue or any increase in such expenses. The degree of the
Company’s exposure to expenses from these structured partnership interests varies by Affiliate and includes Affiliates in which the Company fully shares in
the expenses of the business.

(b) Basis of Presentation and Use of Estimates

The Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S.
(“GAAP”). All dollar amounts, except per share data in the text and tables herein, are stated in millions unless otherwise indicated. All intercompany
balances and transactions have been eliminated. Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior period’s financial statements to conform to the current
period’s presentation.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

(¢) Principles of Consolidation

In evaluating whether an investment must be consolidated, the Company evaluates the risk, rewards, and significant terms of each of its Affiliates and
other investments to determine if an investment is considered a voting rights entity (“VRE”) or a variable interest entity (“VIE”). An entity is a VRE when
the total equity investment at risk is sufficient to enable the entity to finance its activities independently, and when the equity holders have the obligation to
absorb losses, the right to receive residual returns, and the right to direct the activities of the entity that most significantly impact its economic performance.
An entity is a VIE when it lacks one or more of the characteristics of a VRE, which, for the Company, are Affiliate invesanents structured as partnerships
(or similar entities) where the Company is a limited partner and lacks substantive kick-out or substantive participation rights over the general partner.
Assessing whether an entity is a VRE or VIE involves judgment. Upon the occuirence of certain events, management reviews and reconsiders its previous
conclusion regarding the status of an entity as a VRE or a VIE.

The Company consolidates VREs when it has control over significant operating, financial, and investing decisions of the entity. When the Company
lacks such control, but is deemed to have significant influence, the Company accounts for the VRE under the equity method. Other investments in which
the Company does not have rights to exercise significant influence are recorded at fair value on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, with changes in fair value
included in Investment and other income on the Consolidated Statements of Income.
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The Company consolidates VIEs when it is the primary beneficiary of the entity, which is defined as having the power to direct the activities that most
significantly impact the VIE’s economic performance and the obligation to absorb losses of, or the right to receive benefits from, the entity that could
potentially be significant to the VIE. Substantially all of the Company’s consolidated Affiliates considered VIEs are controlled because the Company holds
a majority of the voting interests or it is the managing member or general partner. Furthermore, an Affiliate’s assets can be used for purposes other than the
settlement of the respective Affiliate’s obligations. The Company applies the equity method of accounting to VIEs where the Company is not the primary
beneficiary, but has the ability to exercise significant influence over operating and financial matters of the VIE. See Note 5.

Investments in Affiliates

Substantially all of the Company’s Affiliates are considered VIEs and are either consolidated or accounted for under the equity method. A limited
number of the Company’s Affiliates are considered VREs and most of these are accounted for under the equity method.

When an Affiliate is consolidated, the portion of the earnings attributable to Affiliate management’s equity ownership is included in Net income (non-
controlling interests) in the Consolidated Statements of Tncome. Undistributed eamings attributable to Affiliate managements’ equity ownership, along with
their share of any tangible or intangible net assets, are presented within Non-controlling interests on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Affiliate equity
interests where the holder has certain rights to demand settlement are presented, at their current redemption values, as Redeemable non-controlling interests
on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The Company periodically issues, sells, and repurchases the equity of its consolidated Affiliates. Because these
transactions take place between entities under common control, any gains or losses attributable to these transactions are required to be included in
Additional paid-in capital on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, net of any related income tax effects in the period the transaction occurs.

When an Affiliate is accounted for under the equity method, the Company’s share of an Affiliate’s eamings or losses, net of amortization and
impairments, is included in Equity method loss (net) in the Consolidated Statements of Income and the carrying value of the Affiliate is reported in Equity
method investments in Affiliates (net) in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Deferred taxes recorded on intangible assets upon acquisition of an Affiliate
accounted for under the equity method are presented on a gross basis within Equity method investments in Affiliates (net) and Deferred income tax liability
(net) in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The Company’s share of income taxes incurred directly by Affiliates accounted for under the equity method is
recorded in Income tax expense in the Consolidated Statements of Income.

The Company periodically performs assessments to deteriine if fair value of an investment may have declined below its related carrying value for its
Attfiliates accounted for under the equity method for a period that the Cumpany considers to be other-than temporary. Where the Company believes that
such declines may have occurred, the Company determines the amount of impairment using valuation methods, such as discounted cash flow analyses.
Impairments are recorded as an expense in Equity method loss (net) to reduce the carrying value of the Affiliate to its fair value.

Affiliate Sponsored Investment Products

The Company’s Affiliates sponsor various investment products where they also act as the investment adviser. These investment products are typically
owned primarily by third-party investors; however, certain products are funded with general partner and seed capital investments from the Company and its
Affiliates.

Third-party investors in Affiliate sponsored investment products are generally entitled to substantially all of the economics of these products, except
for the asset and performance based fees earned by the Company’s Affiliates or any gains or losses attributable to the Company’s or its Affiliates’
investments in these products. As a result, the Company does not generally consolidate these products unless the Company’s or its consolidated Affiliates’
interest in the product is considered substantial. When the Company’s or its consolidated Affiliates’ interests are considered substantial and the products are
consolidated, the Company retains the specialized investment company accounting principles of the underlying products, and all of the underlying
investments are carried at fair value in Investments in marketable securities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets, with corresponding changes in the
investments® fair values included in Investment and other income. Purchases and sales of securities are presented within purchases and sales by
consolidated Affiliate sponsored investment products in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows and the third-party investors’ interest is recorded in
Redeemable non-controlling interests. When the Company or its consolidated Affiliates no longer control these products, due to a reduction in ownership
or other reasons, the products are deconsolidated with only the Company’s or its consolidated Affiliate’s investment in the product reported from the date of
deconsolidation.

46




Table of Contents
AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUP, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCTAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(d) Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments, including money market mutual funds, with original maturities of three months or less to be
cash equivalents. Cash equivalents are statcd at cost, which approximates niarket value die tu Ure shurt-teiin matutity of these investments. Money market
mutual funds with a floating net asset value (“MAV”) would not meet the definition of a cash equivalent if the fund has enacted liquidity fces or redemption
gates.

(e) Receivables

The Company’s Affiliates camn assct and performance based fees, which are billed based on the terms of the related contracts. Billed but uncollected
asset and performance based fees are presented within Receivables on the Consolidated Balance Sheets and are generally short-tcrm in nature.

Certain of the Company’s Affiliates in the UK act as intermediaries between clients and their sponsored investment products. Normal settlement
periods on transactions initiated by these clients with the sponsored investment products result in unsettled fund share reccivables and payables that arc
presented on a gross basis within Receivables and Payables and accrucd liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The gross presentation of these
receivables and offsetting payables reflects the legal relationship between the underlying investor. the Company’s Affiliates and the sponsored investment
products.

() Investments in Marketable Securities

Realized and unrealized gains or lesses on investments in marketable securities are reported within Investment and other income. Realized gains and
losses are recorded on the trade date on a specific identified basis, except for consolidated Affiliate sponsored investment products, which use an avcrage
cost basis.

(g) Fair Value Measurements

The Company determines the fair value of certain investment securities and other financial and non financial asscts and liabilides. Fair value is
determined based on the price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants in the
principal or most advantageous marlet at the measurement date, utilizing a hierarchy of three different valuation techniques:

Level 1 - Unadjusted quoted market prices for identical instruments in active markets;

Level 2 - Quoted prices for similar instruments in active marlets; quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that arc not active; and
model derived waluations whose inputs; or significant value drivers, are observable; and

Level 2 - Prices that reflect the Company’s own assumptions concerning unobservable inputs to the valuation modcl. In these valuation modcls, the
Company is required to make judgments about growth rates of assets under management, client attrition, assct and performance based fec rates, and
expenses. These waluation models also require judgments about tax benefits, credit risk, interest rates, tax rates, discount rates, and discounts for lack of
marketability. These inputs require significant management judgment and reflect the Company’s assumptions that the Company belicves market
participants would use in pricing the asset or liability.

(W Acquired Client Relationships and Goodwill

Cach Affiliatc in which the Company makes an investment has identifiable assets arising from contractual vr other legal rights with their clients
(*acquired client relationships”). In determining the value of acquired client relationships, the Company analyzes the net present valuc of thesc Affiliates?
existing client relationships based on a number of factors; including: the Affiliate’s historical and potential futurce operating performance; the Affiliate’s
historical and potential future rates of attrition of existing clients; the stability and longevity of existing client relationships; the Affiliate’s recent, a3 well as
long term; investment performance; the characteristics of the firm’s products and investiment styles; the stability and depth of the Affiliate’s management
tcam; and the Affiliate’s history and perceived franchise or brand valuc.

The Company has determined that certain of its acquired client relationships mect the criteria to be considered indefinite-lived assets because the
Gompany cxpects the contraces to be rencwed annually and, therefore, the cash flows generated by thesc contracts to continuc indefinitely. Accordingly, the
Company does not amortize these intangible assets, but instcad assesses these assets annually or more frequently whenever events or circumastances occur
indicating that the recorded indefinite lived acquired client relationship may be impaired. Cach reporting period, the Company assesscs whether events or
circumstances have occurred that indicate that the indefinite life criteria are no longer met.
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The Company has determined that certain of its acquired client relationships meet the criteria to be considered definite-lived assets, including
investment advisory contracts between its Affiliates and their underlying investors, and are amortized over their expected period of economic benefit. The
expected period of economic benefit of definite lived acquired client relationships is a judgment based on the historical and projected autrition rates of cach
Affiliate’s existing clients, and other factors that may influence the expected future cconomic benefit the Company will derive from these relationships: The
expected lives of definite-lived acquired client relationships are analyzed annually or more frequendy whenever events or circumstances have occurred that
indicate the expected period of economic benefit may no longer be appropriate,

The Company assesses for the possible impairment of indefinite and definite lived acquired client relationships annually or more frequently whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the asset may not be recoverable. If such indicators exist, the Company considers
various qualitative and quantitative factors (including marlet multiples) to determine if the fair value of each asset is greater than its carrying value. If the
carrying value is greater than the fair value, an expense would be recerded in Intangible amortization and impairments in the Consolidated Statements of
Income to reduce the carrying value of the asset to fair value.

Goodwill represents the fuwre economile benefits arlsing (rom assets acquired in a business combination thac are not separately recognized. Goodwill
Is not amortlzed, but is insiead reviewed for impairment. The Company perforns an impainnen assessment annually or move frequently whenever evenis
or circumstances occur indicating that the carrying value of its single reporting unit is in excess of its fair value. In this assessment, the Company typically
teasnies the faii valiie of its veporting nnir nsing varirms nualitative and quantitative factars {including the Company’s marker capitalization and market
mulples for asset management buslnesses). 1 a poweidal impaivment is more-likely-than-not, dien the Cowpany will pecform a single step assessment
with any excess of carrying value over fair value recorded as an expense in Intangible amortization and impairments.

(i) Fixed Assets

Fixed assets are recorded at cost and depreciated using the straight-line iethod over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful lives of office
equipment and furniture and fixtures range from two years to ten years. Computer software developed or obtained for internal use is amortized over the
estimated useful life of the software, generally two years to five years. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of their estimated usefnl
livee or the term of the leace. Duildings are amortized over their expected useful lives, generally not to exceed 29 years. The costs-of improvements that
extend the life of a fixed accet are capitalized, while the cost of repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred. Land and artwork are not depreciated;
artwork is included in Other assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

() Leases

Leases are clagsifled as elther operaung leases or flnance leases. The Company and he Affiliates currendy lease office space and equipment primaily
undcr operating lease arrangements. As these leases expire, it is expected that, in the normal course of business, they will be renewed or replaced.
Whether a lease is classified as an operating lease or a flnance lease, the Company and lis Alfiliares wuse record a right-ol-use asset and a lease liabiliyy oy
the commencement date nf the lease, ather than for leases with an initial term of 12 months or less. As permitted under Accaunting Standard Updare
(“ASU”) 2016-02 Leases (and related ASUs), the Company and its Affiliates elect not to record short-term leases with an initial lease term less than 12
months on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are reported in Other assets and Other liabilities,
respectively, on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. A lease liability is initially and subsequently reported at the present value of the outstanding lease
payments determined by discounting those lease payments over the remaining lease term using the incremental borrowing rate of the legal entity entering
inw the lease ag of the commencement date. A rlght-of-use asser is initdally tepored avihe presen value of the corresponding lease liability plus any
prepaid lease payments and inlual direct cosis of entering ino the lease, and reduced by any lease incentives. Subsequently, a 1igln-ol-use asset is repuned
at the present value of the lease liability adjusted for any prepaid or accrued lease payments, remaining balances of any lease incentives received,
unamortized initial direct costs of entering into the lease and any impairments of the right-of-use asset. The Company and its Affiliates test for possible
iinpainmeits of vight-ul-use assets annually or moie frequently whenever eveits or changes in circumstances indicate that the canying value of a right-of-
use asset may exceed its laiy value. T the cairying value of thie right-of-use asset exceeds its fair value, then the caiying value of the right-of-use asset is
reduced to its fair value and the expense is recorded in Other expenses (net) on the Consolidated Statements of Income. Subsequent to an impairment, the
carrying value of the right-of-use asset is amortized on a straight-line basis over the remaining lease term.
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Lease liabilities and right-of-use assets based on variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate are initially measured using the index or rate
at the commencement date with any subsequent changes in variable lease payments reported in Other expenses (net) as incurred. Most lease agreements for
office space that are classified as operating leases contain renewal options, rent escalation clauses or other lease incentives provided by the lessor. Lease
expense is accrued to recognize lease escalation provisions and renewal options that are reasonably certain to be exercised, as well as lease incentives
provided by the lessor, on a straight-line basis over the lease term and is reported in Other expenses (net). If a right-of-use asset is impaired, the lease
expense is subsequently reported in Other expenses (net) as the straight-line amortization of the right-of-use asset and the accretion of the lease liability,
thereby transitioning to a front-loaded expense recognition profile for the associated lease.

The Company and its Affiliates combine lease and non-lease components for their office space leases and separate non-lease components for their
equipment leases in calculating their lease liabilities. Sublease income is reported in Investment and other income.

(k) Issuance Costs

Issuance costs related to the Company’s senior bank debt are amortized over the remaining term of the senior unsecured multicurrency revolving credit
facility (the “revolver”) and the senior unsecured term loan facility (the “term loan” and, together with the revolver, the “credit facilities™), which
approximates the effective interest method. Issuance costs associated with the revolver are included in Other assets. Issuance costs associated with the term
loan are included as a reduction of the related debt balance. Issuance costs associated with the Company’s senior notes, junior subordinated notes and junior
convertible securities are amortized over the expected term of the security, and are included as a reduction of Debt in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The
expense resulting from the amortization of these issuance costs is reported in Interest expense in the Consolidated Statements of Income.

(I) Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company and its Affiliates may use derivative financial instruments to offset exposure to changes in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates
and markets. The Company records derivatives in the Consolidated Balance Sheets at fair value. If the Company’s or its Affiliates™ derivative financial
instruments do not qualify as cash flow, net investment or fair value hedges, changes in the fair value of the derivatives are recorded as a gain or loss in
Investment and other income.

If the Company’s or its Affiliates’ derivative financial instruments qualify as cash flow or net investment hedges, the effective portion of the unrealized
gain or loss is recorded in Other comprehensive income (loss) as a separate component of stockholders’ equity and reclassified to earnings with the hedged
item. The Company assesses hedge effectiveness on a quarterly basis. For interest rate swaps designated as cash flow hedges, we use a qualitative method
of assessing hedge effectiveness by comparing the notional amount, timing of payments, and interest rates of the swap to the interest payments hedged. Tf
the qualitative assessment indicates ineffectiveness, then we perform a quantitative assessment which is generally measured by comparing the present value
of the cumulative change in the expected future cash flows of the hedged contract with the present value of the cumulative change in the expected future
cash flows of the hedged item. For net investment hedges, hedge effectiveness is measured using the spot rate method. For fair value hedges, the entire
change in the fair value of the hedging instrument is presented within earnings with the hedged item, unless the changes in fair value are not equal. which
would result in hedge ineffectiveness which is presented within Tnvestment and other income. Changes in the fair values of cash flow hedges are reported
in Change in net realized and unrealized gain (loss) on derivative financial instruments in the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income. Upon
termination of cash flow hedges, any gain or loss recognized will be reclassified into earnings. Changes in the fair values of the effective net investment
hedges are reported in Foreign currency translation gain (loss) in the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income. Upon the sale or liquidation of
the underlying investment, any gain or loss remaining in Accumulated other comprehensive loss will be reclassified to earnings.

Changes in fair value of a hedging instrument that are excluded from the assessment of hedge effectiveness, also known as excluded components, are
recorded in earnings and amortized on a straight-line basis over the respective period of the contracts as a reduction to Interest expense.

(m) Revenue Recognition

Consolidated revenue primarily represents asset and performance based fees eammed by the Company and its Affiliates for managing the assets of
clients. Substantially all of the Company’s and its Affiliates’ contracts contain a single performance obligation, which is the provision of investment
management services. Investment management, broker-dealer, and administrative services are performed and consumed simultaneously and, therefore, the
Company recognizes these asset based fees ratably over time. Substantially all the Company’s asset based fees for services are based on the value of client
assets over time, which are typically determined using observable market data. Services may be invoiced in advance or in arrears and are
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payable upon receipt. Any asset based fees collected in advance are deferred and recognized as the services are performed and consumed. Consolidated
revenue recognized by the Company is adjusted for any expense reimbursement arrangements.

Performance based fees, including carried interests, are recognized only upon the satisfaction of performance obligations, the resolution of any
constraints, which include exceeding performance benchmarks or hurdle rates that may extend over one or more reporting periods, and when it is
improbable that there will be a significant reversal in the amount of revenue recognized. As a result, any performance based fees or carried interest
recognized in the current reporting period may relate to performance obligations satisfied in a previous reporting period.

The Company and its Affiliates have contractual arrangements with third parties to provide distribution-related services. Fees received and expenses
incuired under these arrangements are primarily based on the value of client assets over time. Distribution-related fees are presented within Consolidated
revenue gross of any related expenses when the Company and its Affiliates are the principal in their role as primary obligor under their distribution-related
services arrangements. Distribution-related expenses are presented within Selling, general and administrative expenses in the Consolidated Statements of
Income.

The Company and its Affiliates may enter into contracts for which the costs to obtain or fulfill the contract are based upon a percentage of the value of
a client’s future assets under management. The Company records these variable costs when incurred because they are subject to market volatility and are
not estimable upon the inception of a contract with a client. Any expenses paid in advance are capitalized and amortized on a systematic basis, consistent
with the transfer of services, which is the equivalent of recognizing the costs as incurred.

(n) Contingent Payment Arrangements

The Company periodically enters into contingent payment arrangements in connection with its investments in Affiliates. In these arrangements, the
Company agrees to pay additional consideration to the sellers to the extent that certain specified financial targets are achieved. For consolidated Affiliates,
the Company estimates the fair value of these potential future obligations at the time the investment in an Affiliate is consummated and records a liability
in Other liabilities. The Company then accretes the obligation to its expected payment amount over the period until the arrangement is measured. If the
Company’s expected payment amount subsequently changes, the obligation is reduced or increased in the current period resulting in a gain or loss,
respectively. Gains and losses resulting from changes to expected payments are included in Other expenses (net) and the accretion of these obligations to
their expected payment amounts are included in Interest expense. For Affiliates accounted for under the equity method of accounting, the Company records
a liability in Payables and accrued liabilities when a payment becomes probable, with a corresponding increase to the carrying value of the Affiliate in
Equity method investments in Affiliates (net).

(o) Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method, which requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for
the expected future tax consequences of differences between the financial reporting bases of assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases, using tax
rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is
recorded in Income tax expense in the period when the change is enacted.

‘I'ne Company regularly assesses the recoverability of its delerred income tax assets to determine whether these assets are more-likely-than-not to be
realized. In making such a determination, the Company considers all available positive and negative evidence, including future reversals of existing
taxable temporary differences, projected future taxable income, tax planning strategies and results of recent operations. Tf the Company determines it
would not be able to realize its deferred tax assets, it records a valuation allowance to reflect the deferred tax assets at their current value. The recording of
adjustments to the valuation allowance will increase or decrease Income tax expense.

The Company records unrecognized tax benefits based on whether it is more-likely-than-not that the uncertain tax positions will be sustained on the
basis of the technical merits of the position. If it is determined that an uncertain tax position is more-likely-than-not to be sustained, the Company records
the largest amount of tax benefit that is more than 50% likely to be realized upon ultimate settlement with the related tax authority in Income tax expense.
Interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits are also recorded in Income tax expense.

The Company has elected to treat taxes due on U.S. inclusions in taxable income related to Global Intangible Low Taxed Income (“GILTI”) as a
current period expense when incurred (the “period cost method”).
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(p) Foreign Currency Translation

Assets and liabilities denominated in a functional currency other than the U.S. dollar are translated into U.S. dollars using exchange rates in effect as of
the balance sheet date. Revenue and expenses denominated in a functional currency other than the U.S. dollar are translated into U.S. dollars using average
exchange rates for the relevant period. Because of the long-term nature of the Company’s investments in its Affiliates, net translation exchange gains and
losses resulting from foreign currency translation are recorded in Accumulated other comprehensive loss as a separate component of stockholders’ equity
on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Foreign currency transaction gains and losses are included in Investment and other income.

(q@) Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to significant concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash investments and
derivative financial instruments. The Company and its Affiliates maintain cash and cash equivalents, investments and, at times, certain derivative financial
instruments with various high credit-quality financial institutions. These financial institutions are typically located in countries in which the Company and
its Affiliates operate. For the Company and certain of its Affiliates, cash deposits at a financial institution may exceed Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation insurance limits.

(r) Earnings Per Share

The calculation of Earnings per share (basic) is based on the weighted average number of shares of the Company’s common stock outstanding during
the period. Earnings per share (diluted) is similar to Eamings per share (basic), but adjusts for the dilutive effect of the potential issuance of incremental
shares of the Company’s common stock. '

The Company had junior convertible securities outstanding during the periods presented and is required to apply the if-converted method to these
securities in its calculation of Earnings per share (diluted). Under the if-converted method, shares that are issuable upon conversion are deemed
outstanding, regardless of whether the sccurities are contractually convertible into the Company’s common stock at that time. Fur this caleulation, the
interest expense (net of tax) attributable to these dilutive securities is added back to Net income (controlling interest), reflecting the assumption that the
securities have been converted. Issuable shares for these securities and related interest expense are excluded from the calculation if an assumed conversion
would be anti-dilutive to diluted earnings per share.

The Company had share-based compensation awards outstanding during the periods presented with vesting provisions subject (v certain performance
conditiens. These awards are excluded from the calculation of Earnings per share (diluted) if the performance condition has nut been wet as of the end of
the reporting period. .

(s) Share-Based Compensation Plans

The Company recognizes expenses for all share-based compensation arrangements based on the number of awards expected to vest. The expense for
awards without performance conditions is recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite seivice period, including grants that aie subject 1o graded
vesting. The Company recognizes expenses for all other arrangements on a straight-line basis for cach separately vesting portion of the award.

Tax windfalls or shortfalls are recorded in Income tax cxpense and have been classified as operating activities iii e Cunsolidated Statements of Cash
Flows. Taxcs paid by the Company when it withholds shares to satisfy tax withholding obligations ave classified as a financing activity in the Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows.

() Recent Accounting Developments

Effective January 1, 2020, the Company adopted ASU 2016-13, Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments issued by the Financial
Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”). The adoption of this standard did not have a significant impact on the Company’s Consolidated Financial
Statements. .

In August 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-06, Debt with Conversion and Other Options and Derivatives and Hedging - Contracts in Entity’s Own
Equity. The standard is effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2021 for the Company and its consolidated Affiliates, and is
effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2023 for the Company’s Affiliates accounted for under the equity method. This
standard requires use of the if-converted method for convertible instruments and the inclusion of instruments where the Company has an option to settle in
cash or shares in its calculation of Earnings per share (diluted). The Company is evaluating the impact of this standard on its Consolidated Financial
Statements.
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In June 2020, the FASB extended the effective date of ASU 2016-02, Leases for the Company’s Affiliates accounted for under the equity method.
After the extension, ASU 2016-02 is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2021 and interim periods beginning after December 15,
2022. The Company does not expect the adoption of this standard by its equity method investments to have a significant impact on its Consolidated
Financial Statements.

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12, Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes. The standard is effective for interim and annual
periods beginning after December 15, 2020 for the Company and its consolidated Affiliates, and is effective for annual periods beginning after December
15, 2021 and intetin peviods begiwiing aflter Deceinber 15, 2022 for the Company’s Affiliates accounted for under the equity method. The Company does
not expect the adoption of this standard to have a significant impact on its Consolidated Financial Statements.

2. Investments in Marketable Securities

The following is a summary of the cost, gross unrealized gains, unrealized losses, and fair value of Investments in marketable securities:

December 31,
2019 2020
[ Cost - T s . 579§ 69.4]
Unrealized gains ‘ ) . 2.1 55
[ Unrealized losses T ' N - ) il T (0.6) i (0.0)
Fair value . $ 59.4 $ 74.9

As ul Decenibe 31, 2019 and 2020, Investmeﬁts in marketable sceuritics include consolidated Affiliate sponsored investment products with fair values
of $38.1 million and $52.3 million, respectively.

3. Other Investments

Other investmenls cunsist of investieiils in fuids advised by the Company’s Affiliates that are carried at NAV as a practical expedient and investments
without readily determinable fair values. The income or loss related to these investments is recorded in Investment and other income.

Investiments Measured at NAV as a Practical Expedient

The Company’s Affiliates sponsor investment products in which the Company and its consolidated Affiliates may make general partner and seed
capital investments. The Company uses the NAV of these investments as a practical expedient for their fair values. The following table summarizes the fair
values of these investments and any related unfunded commitments:

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2020
Unfunded Unfunded
Category of Investment Fair Value Commitments Fair Value Commitments
[ Private equity funds® 8 2033___ " § 1272 § 2354 8 122.2]
Investments in other strategies® 85 — ’ 8.0 —
{ Total® ' _ $ 2118 § 1272 § 2434  $ - 1222]

™ The Company accounts for its interests in private equity funds under the equity method of accounting and, therefore, uses NAV as a practical
expedient, one quarter in arrears (adjusted for current period calls and distributions) to determine the fair value. These funds primarily invest in a broad
range of third-party funds and divect investiients. Distributions will be received as the underlying assets are liquidated over the life of the funds, which
is generally up to 15 years. ’

@ These are multi-disciplinary funds that invest across various asset classes and strategies, including equity, credit, and real estate. Investments are
generally redeemable on a daily, monthly or quarterly basis.

@ Fair value attributable to the controlling interest was $137.6 million and $164.4 million as of December 31, 2019 and 2020, respectively.

As of December 31, 2019 and 2020, the Company held investments without readily determinable fair values of zero and $13.8 million, respectively.
The caitying value of these investmeits included an upward adjustment of $5.3 million based on an observable price change during the fourth quarter of
2020.
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4. Fair Value Measurements

The following tables summarize the Company’s financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis:
pany

December 31, Fair Value Measurements

2019 Level 1 R Level 2 Tevel 3
L_._rinancial Assets D 5 T B - ]
Investments in marketable securities 59.4 24.4 $ 32.0 $ —
[* Derivative nnancial insbuments®™ N 79 - T 79 M
Financial Liabilities®
| -Affilidte equity repurchase obligatons 19.8 — $ —_ $ 19.8}
Derivative financial instruments 1.0 — 1.0 —
December 31, Fair Value Measurements
2020 Level 1 . __Level 2 level 3
[ Financial Assets o . ‘ i
Investments in marketable securities 749 25.7 $ 49.2 5 —
| Derivative financial instrumentst) v 3.5 T — L 35 _ T —]
Financial Liabilities®
[ ___ Alfiliate equity repurchase obligations 22.0 — $ — $ 22.0]
Derivative financial instruments 4.2 — 4.2 —_
w  Amounts are presented within Other assets.
@ Amounts are presented within Other liabilities.
Level 3 Financial Assets and Liabilities
The following table presents the changes in level 3 assets and liabilities for Affiliate equity repurchase obligations:
For the Years Ended December 31,
2019 ‘ 2020
" Balance, beginning of petiod - j 5 362 $__ 19.8]
Net realized and unrealized (gains) losses 0.1 (4.3)
(" Purchases and issuances@ : - 1186 310.6]
Settlements and reductions (135.1) (304.1)
L_» Ralancr, end of period s : C ' s 188 " $ 22.01
{__Net change in unrealized (gains) lusses relating to insorumeits still held at the reporting date $- — &8 —]

™ Accretion expense for these arrangements and obligations is recorded in Interest expense.

®  Includes transfers from Redeemable non-controlling interests.

The following table presents certain quantitative information about the significant unobservable inputs used in valuing the Company’s recurring level 3
fair value measurements:
Quantitative Information About Level 3 Fair Value Measurements

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2020
Valuation Unobservable Weighted Weighted
Techniques Input Fair Value Range Average" Fair Value Range Average!”

{ Affiliate equity Discounted Growth $ 19.8 (9)% - 7% 5% $ 22.0 (5)% - 8% 3 %
repurchase cash flow rates® J
obligations

Discount rates 149 - 15% 14% - 15 %

17% 16%

®  Calculated by comparing the relative fair value of an obligation to its respective total.

®  Represents growth rates of asset and performance based fees.

Affiliate equity repurchase obligations include agreements to repurchase Affiliate equity. As of December 31, 2020, there were no changes to growth
or discount rates that had a significant impact to Affiliate equity repurchase obligations recorded in prior periods.

Other Financial Assets and Liabilities Not Carried at Fair Value

The Company has other financial assets and liabilities, which are not required to be carried at fair value, but the Company is required to disclose their
fair values. The carrying amount of Cash and cash equivalents, Receivables, and Payables and accrued liabilities approximates fair value because of the
short-term nature of these instruments. The camrying value of notes receivable, which is reported in Other assets, approximates fair value because interest
rates and other terms are at market rates. The carrying value of the credit facilities approximates fair value because the credit facilities have variable interest
based on selected short-term rates.



The following table summarizes the Company’s other financial liabilities not carried at fair value:

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2020
Fair Value
Carrying Value . Fair Value Carrying Value . Fair Value . Hierarchy
L__ Senior notes $ 746.8 $- 797.4 $ 1,097.3 $ 1,206.6 Level 2|
Junior convertible securities 3154 415.7 318.4 427.6 Level 2
{ __ Junior subordinated notes . 290.7° 327.7 "~ 565.7 623.1 Level 2.

5. Investments in Affiliates and Affiliate Sponsored Investment Products

Investments in Affiliates

The Company’s Affiliates are consolidated or accounted for under the equity method, depending upon the underlying structure of and relationship with
each Affiliate.

Substantially all of the Company’s consolidated Affiliates are considered VIEs. The unconsolidated assets, net of liabilities and non-controlling
interests of Affiliates accounted for under the equity method considered VIEs, and the Company’s carying value and maximum exposure to loss, were as
follows:

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2020
Carrying Value and Carrying Value and
Unconsolidated Maximum Exposure Unconsolidated Maximum Exposure
VIE Net Assets to Loss VIE Net Assets to Loss
r Affiliates accounted for under the equity ’ .
Imethod $ . 11414 8. w ..1,8430 $ 1,384.2 $ : 1,962.1

As of December 31, 2019 and 2020, the carrying value and maximum exposure to loss for all of the Company’s Affiliates accounted for under the
equity method was $2,195.6 million and $2,074.8 million, respectively, including Affiliates accounted for under the equity method considered VREs of
$352.6 million and $112.7 million, respectively.

Affiliate Sponsored Investment Products
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The Company’s carrying value, and maximum exposure to loss from unconsolidated Affiliate sponsored investment products is its, or its consolidated
Affiliates’, interest in the unconsolidated net assets of the respective products. The net assets of unconsolidated VIEs attributable to Affiliate sponsored
investment products, and the Company’s carrying value and maximum exposure to loss, were as follows:

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2020
. Carrying Value and . Carrying Value and
Unconsolidated Maximum Exposure Unconsolidated Maximum Exposure
VIE Net Assets to Loss VIE Net Assets to Loss
L. Affiliate sponsored investment prodncts ., 4§, 22821 $ 00 =g T 23782 - 8 — 03]
6. Debt
The following table summarizes the Company’s Debt:
December 31, .
. 2019 2020
[ Seninr hank debt . - T T § 4497 % - 3498
Senior notes 743.8 1.091.9
[ Junlot convertible secunties L : T » - 310.6 314.0)
Junior subordinated notes 289.7 556.4
{ . Del . C . . X 1,793.8 $ 2,312:L

The Company’s senior notes, junior convertible securities, and junior subordinated notes are carried at amortized cost. Unamortized discounts and debt
issuance costs are presented within the Consolidated Balance Sheets as an adjustment to the carrying value of the associated debt. As of December 31,
2020, Debt with a par value of $400.0 million and $350.0 million matures in 2024 and 2025, respectively.

Senior Bank Debt

The Company has a $1.25 billion senior unsecured multicurrency revolving credit facility and a $350.0 million senior unsecured term loan facility. The
revolver matures on January 18, 2024, and the term loan, as amended, matures on January 18, 2026. Subject to certain conditions, the Company may
increase the commitments under the revolver by up to an additional $500.0 million and may borrow up to an additional $75.0 million under the term loan.
The Company pays interest on any outstanding obligations under the credit facilities at specified rates, based either on an applicable LTBOR or prime rate,
plus a marginal rate determined based on its credit rating. As of December 31, 2020, the interest rate for the Company’s outstanding borrowings under the
credit facilities was LIBOR plus 0.875%.

The credit facilities contain financial covenants with respect to leverage and interest coverage, as well as customary affirmative and negative
covenants, including limitations on priority indebtedness, asset dispositions and fundamental corporate changes, and certain customary events of default.

As of December 31, 2019 and 2020, the Company had no outstanding borrowings under the revolver. As of December 31, 2019 and 2020, the
Company had outstanding borrowings under the term loan of $450.0 million and $350.0 million, respectively, and the weighted-average interest rate on
outstanding borrowings was 2.66% and 1.02%, respectively. The Company pays commitment fees on the unused portion of its revolver. For the years
ended December 31, 2019 and 2020, these fees amounted to $1.5 million.

On January 8, 2021, the Company amended and refinanced the term loan to adjust the marginal rate by 0.075% to 0.950% and to extend the maturity
by three years from January 18, 2023 to January 18, 2026. The commercial terns of the term loan otherwise remained the same.

Senior Notes and Junior Subordinated Notes

As of December 31, 2020, the Company had senior notes and junior subordinated notes outstanding. The carrying value of the senior notes and junior
subordinated notes is accreted to the principal amount at maturity over the remaining life of the underlying instrument.

The principal terms of the senior notes and junior subordinated notes were as follows:

54




Table of Contents
AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUP, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2024 2025 2030 2059 2060

Senior Notes Senior Notes Senior Notes Junior Subordinated Notes  Junior Subordinated Notes
Tssue date ‘ February 2014_____ February 2015 _ June 2020 _March2019_____ - September 2020.
Maturity date February 2024 August 2025 June 2030 March 2059 September 2060
Par value (in millions) $ 4000 $ © 3500  $ 3500 $ 3000 ., $ 275.0_ )
Stated coupon 4.25% 3.50 % 3.30 % 5.875 % 4.750 %
Coupon frequency Semi-annually Semi-annually Semi-annually . Quarterly® Quarterly®),
Potential call date Any time® Any time® Any time®" March 2024™ September 2025®
Call price ‘ ‘ . - As defined® As defined® As defined™® As defined® As defined®,
Listing N.A. N.A. N.A. NYSE NYSE

®  The 2024, 2025 and 2030 senior notes may be redeemed, in whole or in part, at any time, in the case of the 2024 and 2025 senior notes, and at any time
prior to March 15, 2030, in the case of the 2030 senior notes. In each case, the senior notes may be redeemed at a make-whole redemption price plus
accrued and unpaid interest. The make-whole redemption price, in each case, is equal to the greater of 100% of the principal amount of the notes to be
redeemed and the remaining principal and interest payments on the notes being redeemed (excluding accrued but unpaid interest to, but not including,
the redemption date) discounted to their present value as of the redemption date at the applicable treasury rate plus 0.25%, in the case of the 2024 and
the 2025 senior notes, and to their present value as of the redemption date on a semi-annual basis at the applicable treasury rate plus 0.40%, in the case
of the 2030 senior notes.

®  The 2059 and 2060 junior subordinated notes may be redeemed at any time, in whole or in part, on or after March 30, 2024, in the case of the 2059
junior subordinated notes, and on or after September 30, 2025, in the case of the 2060 junior subordinated notes. In each case, the junior subordinated
notes may be redeemed at 100% of the principal amount of the notes being redeemed plus any accrued and unpaid interest thereon. Prior to the
applicable redemption date, at the Company’s option, the applicable junior subordinated notes may also be redeemed, in whole but not in part, at 100%
of the principal amount, plus any accrued and unpaid interest, if certain changes in tax laws, regulations or interpretations occur; or at 102% of the
principal amount, plus any accrued and unpaid interest, if a rating agency makes certain changes relating to the equity credit criteria for securities with
features similar to the applicable notes.

@ The Company may, at its option, and subject to certain conditions and restrictions, defer interest payments subject to the terms of the junior
subordinated notes. -

As of December 31, 2020, the effective interest rates of the 2024, the 2025 and the 2030 senior notes were 4.42%, 3.66% and 3.39%, respectively. As
of December 31, 2020, the effective interest rates of the 2059 and the 2060 junior subordinated notes were 5.90% and 4.83%, respectively.

Junior Convertible Securities

The following table suminarizes the Company’s junior convertible trust preferred securities outstanding (the “junior convertible securities”). The
cairying value and principal amount at maturity of the junior convertible securities were as follows:

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2020
Carrying Principal Amount Carrying Principal Amount
Value at Maturity Value at Maturity
{___Junior convertible securities® ' $ 3154 § 4308 % 384 8 ' 4308]

™ The carrying value is accreted to the principal amount at maturity over a remaining life of 17 years.

The junior convertible securities bear interest at a rate of 5.15% per annum, payable quarterly in cash. Holders of the junior convertible securities have
no rights to put these securities to the Company. Upon conversion, holders will receive cash or shares of common stock, or a combination thereof, at the
Company’s election. The Company may redeem the junior convertible securities, subject to the stock trading at or above certain specified levels over
specified times periods, and may also
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repurchase junior subordinated notes in the open market or in privately negotiated transactions from time to time at management’s discretion. The junior
convertible securities are considered contingent payment debt instruments under federal income tax regulations, which require the Company to deduct
interest in an amount greater than its reported interest expense. The Company estimates that these deductions will generate annual deferred tax liabilities of
approximately $9 million. Assuming no redemptions or repurchases, these deferred tax liabilities will be reclassified directly to stockholders’ equity if the
Company’s common stock is trading above certain thresholds at the time of the conversion of the securities. If the Company redeems the securities or
repurchases the notes at a price below such thresholds, all or a portion of these deferred tax liabilities may be reclassified to income taxes payable which is
presented within Other liabilities. In August 2019, in accordance with the convertible securities indenture, the Company adjusted the conversion rate of the
junior convertible securities to 0.2558 shares of common stock per $50.00 junior convertible security, equivalent to an adjusted conversion price of $195.47
per share of common stock. The adjusoment was the result of the Company’s cumulative declared dividends on its common stock since the prior
adjustment. The Company may redeem the junior convertible securities if the closing price of its common stock exceeds $254.10 per share for 20 trading
days in a period of 30 consecutive trading days.

7. Derivative Financial Instruments

In 2018, the Company entered into two separate pound sterling-denominated forward foreign currency contracts (the “forward contracts”) with a large
financial institution (the “counterparty”). Concurrent to entering into each of the forward contracts, the Company also entered into two separate collar
contracts (the “collar contracts”) with the same counterparty for the same notional amounts and expiration dates as each of the forward contracts. The
combinations of the forward contracts and the collar contracts were designated as net investment hedges against fluctuations in foreign currency exchange
rates on certain of the Company’s investments in Affiliates with the pound sterling as their functional currency.

In the first quarter of 2020, the Company terminated the forward contracts and the corresponding collar contracts, and upon settlement received net
proceeds of $24.9 million. The net proceeds from the termination of the contracts are presented within sale of investment securities in the Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows. The Company’s forward contracts and collar contracts with the counterparty were governed by an International Swaps and
Derivative Association Master Agreement, which provided for legally enforceable rights to set-off. The terms of the contracts also required the Company
and the counterparty to post cash collateral in certain circumstances throughout the duration of the contracts. As of December 31, 2019, the Company held
$8.7 million of cash collateral from the counterparty, and the counterparty held no cash collateral from the Company.

In the first quarter of 2020, the Company entered into an interest rate swap contract (the “interest rate swap”) with a large financial institution (the
“swap counterparty”), which will expire in March 2023. The interest rate swap, which is designated as a cash flow hedge, is used to exchange a portion of
the Company’s LIBOR-based interest payments for fixed rate interest payments. Under the contract, the Company receives payments based on one month
LIBOR and makes payments based on an annual fixed rate of 0.5135% on a notional amount of $250.0 million. The terms of the contract also require the
Company and the swap counterparty to post cash collateral in certain circumstances throughout the duration of the contract. As of December 31, 2020, the
Company held no cash collateral from the swap counterparty, and the swap counterparty held $2.2 million of cash collateral from the Company.

Certain of the Company’s Affiliates use forward foreign currency contracts to hedge the risk of foreign currency exchange rate movements, which
were not significant.

The following table summarizes the Company’s and its Affiliates’ derivative financial instruments measured at fair value on a recurring basis:

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2020
Assets Liabilities . Assets . Liabilities
(___Forward contracts . e o af e 230 ;8 2 (L0 § 35 "% (2
Put options — (31.0) — —
L_._Call options - . , 151 PR L e . |
Interest rate swap g - . — (1.9)
{+__Total $ 389 -8 @20 s 35§ @.2)

The forward and collar contracts entered into in 2018 included a set-off right and were therefore, presented on a net basis in Other assets; they were
$5.7 million as of December 31, 2019. The Company and certain of its consolidated Affiliates have also entered into contracts that do not include set-off
rights and are, therefore, presented on a gross basis in Other assets and
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Other liabilities; they were $2.2 million and $1.0 million, respectively, as of December 31, 2019, and $3.5 million and $4.2 million, respectively, as of
December 31, 2020.

The following table summarizes the effect of the derivative financial instruments on the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income and the
Consolidated Statements of Income:

For the Years Ended December 31,

2019 2020
Gain Gain
Gain (Loss) Reclassified from Gain Recorded Gain (Loss) Reclassified from Gain Recorded
Recorded in Other Accumulated Other in Earnings from Recorded in Other Accumulated Other in Earnings from
Comprehensive Comprehensive Excluded Comprehensive Comprehensive Loss Excluded
Income Income into Earnings Components'" Income (Loss) into Earnings Components!"
{___Forward contracts $ (21.7) $ 0.5 $ 139 $ 65.4 $ 0.6 $ 2.8]
Put options 29.3 — — (47.7) —_ —
i.__Call options (19.0) — — . (1.3) — —]
Interest rate swap — — — (1.9) — —
I Totl $ (114) s 0.5 $ 139§ 145 0.6 $ 2.8]

@ The excluded components of the forward contracts were recognized in earmings on a straight-line basis over the respective period of the contracts as a
reduction to Interest expense.

8. Commitments and Contingencies

From time to time, the Company and its Affiliates may be subject to claims, legal proceedings, and other contingencies in the ordinary course of their
business activities. Any such matters are subject to various uncertainties, and it is possible that some of these matters may be resolved in a manner
unfavorable o the Company ot iis Affiliaies. The Cornpaily and its Affiliates cstablish accruals, as nceessary, for matters for which the outcome is probable
and the amount of the liability can be reasonably estimated.

The Company has committed to co-invest in certain Affiliate sponsored investment products. As of December 31, 2020, these unfunded commitments
were $122.2 million and may be called in future periods.

T addition, as of Deceniben 31, 2020, thie Conipany was coutiiigently liable to malke payments related to the achievement of specified financial targete
by certain of its Affiliates accounted for under the equity method, of which, $37.5 million may become payable in 2022 and $77.5 million from 2023
through 2025. As of December 31, 2020, the Company expected to make payments of approximately $13 million. Tn the event certain financial targets are
not met at one of the Company’s Affiliates, the Company may receive payments of up to $12.5 million and also has the option to reduce its ownership
interest and receive an incremental payment of $25.0 million.

Affiliate equity interests provide holders at consolidated Affiliates with a conditional right to put their interests to the Company over time. See Note
18. In connection with one of the Company’s investinents in an Affiliate accounted for under the equity method, a minority owner has the right to elect to
sell a portion of its ownership interest in the Affiliate to the Company annually. As of December 31, 2020, the minority owner maintains a 14% ownership
interest in the Affiliate. In the fourth quarter of 2020, the Company was notified by the minority owner that it may, after determining the fair market value
of its interest, elect to sell a 5% ownership interest in the Affiliate to the Company. If the minority owner elects to sell this interest, the transaction is
expected to close in the first half of 2021; however, the Company cannot currently predict the amount that may be paid to settle this commitment. If the
minority owners sells its interest to the Company, then the Company will continue to account for the Affiliate under the equity method.

The Company and certain of its consolidated Affiliates operate under regulatory authorities that require the maintenance of minimum financial or
capital requirements. Management is not aware of any significant violations of such requirements.

9. Goodwill and Acquired Client Relationships
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The following tables present the changes in the Company’s consolidated Affiliates’ Goodwill and components of Acquired client relationships (net):

Goodwill

_ 2019 » 2020
|.__Bulance, begifining otpenod . ISPy X .. 8 26334 . G - _2,651.7)
Foreign currency translanon \ 18.3 11.6
[ Omer___— - - AN — T . — (1.9)
Balance, end of period 3 26517  § 26614

As of September 30, 2020, the Company completed its impairment assessment on geodwill and no impairment was indicated.
Acquired Client Relationships (Net)
Definite-lived Indefinite-lived Total
Gross Book Accumulated Net Book Net Book Net Book

Value Amortization Value Value Value
Balance, as of December 31, 2018___~_______ & 12798 § 9762) 8- . 3036_8$__ 1,0063.5- __ 1,309.9]
Intangtble amortization and impairments — (93.4) (93.4) (51.1) (l44 5)
Fareign currency translabon NI 51 (5:5) (0.4) ' 170 "16.6]
Transfers" (36.1) 36.1 — — —
Balance, as of Decetnber 31, 2019 8§ 12488 $ .. (1,039.0) § 2008 §. 97202 $. - . 1,102.0)
Intangible amortization and impairments — (69.8) (69.8) (70.7) (140.5)
Forelgn currency rransiation N s ~ 35 @7 02)__ - - 75 73]
Transferst (85.7) 85.7 - . — —
'Ealmce,asof Decomber 34, 2020 v '8 1;.166:6_& (Lu268) $ 0+ 1398 _'$ ’ 909.0 _$ * L0488

w  Transfers include acquired client relationships at Affiliates that were deconsolidated during the period.

Definite-lived acquired client relationships at the Company’s consolidated Affiliates are amortized over their expected period of economic benefit. The
Company recorded amortization expense in Intangible amortization and impairments for these relationships of $114.4 million, $93.4 million and $55.3
million for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2019 and 2020, respectively. Based on relationships existing as of December 31, 2020, the Company
estimates that its consolidated amortization expense will be approximately $30 million in each of 2021, 2022, and 2023, approximately $20 million in 2024
and approximately $10 million in 2025.

In the fourth quarter of 2019, the Company completed an impairment assessment of the indefinite-lived acquired client relationships at one of its
Affiliates, and determined that the fair valuc of the asset had declined below its carrying value. Accordingly, the Company recorded an expense in
Intangible amortization and impairments of $31.2 million attributable to the controlling interest ($35.0 million in aggregate) to reduce the carrying value of
the asset to fair value. The decline in the fair value was a result of a projected decline in assets under management that decreased the forecasted revenue
associated with the asset. The fair value of the asset was determined using a probability-weighted discounted cash flow analysis, a level 3 fair value
measurement that included a projected growth rate of (9)% for assets under management, discount rate of 14.5% for asset based fees, and a market
participant tax rate of 25%. No other impairments of indefinite-lived acquired client relationships were indicated.

In addition, in the fourth quarter of 2019, the Company recorded an expense in Intangible amortization and impairments of $16.1 million attributable to
the controlling interest and in aggregate to reduce the carrying value of an mdehmte lived acquired client relationship to zero due to the closure of certain
retail investment products on its U.S. retail distribution platform.

In the second quarter of 2020, the Company agreed with a consolidated Affiliate to strategically reposition their business and to sell its equity interest
in the Affiliate. The Company recorded an expense in Intangible amortization and impairments of $32.8 million attributable to the controlling interest
(860.3 million in aggregate) to reduce the carrying value of the Affiliate’s acquired client relationships to zero as of June 30, 2020. In the third quarter of
2020, the Company sold its interest in the Affiliate and the Company recorded no significant gain or loss on the transaction.
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In the third quarter of 2020, the Company completed an impairment assessment of the indefinite-lived acquired client relationships at one of its
Affiliates, and determined that the fair value of the asset had declined below its carrying value. Accordingly, the Company recorded an expense in
Intangible amortization and impairments of $12.5 million attributable to the controlling interest ($14.0 million in aggregate) to reduce the carrying value of
the asset to fair value. The decline in the fair value was a result of a projected decline in assets under management that decreased the forecasted revenue
associated with the asset. The fair value of the asset was determined using a probability-weighted discounted cash flow analysis, a level 3 fair value
measurement that included a projected growth rate of (14)% for assets under management, discount rate of 15% for asset based fees, and a market
participant tax rate of 25%.

In addition, in the third quarter of 2020, the Company recorded an expense in Intangible amortization and impairments of $7.4 million attributable to

the controlling interest ($10.9 million in aggregate) to reduce the carrying value of an indefinite-lived acquired client relationship to zero due to the closure
of one of its Affiliate’s retail investment products.

As of December 31, 2020, no other impairments of indefinite-lived acquired client relationships were indicated. If financial markets become depressed
for a prolonged period as a result of the novel coronavirus global pandemic (“COVID-19”) or other factors, the fair values of these assets could drop below
their carrying values resulting in future impairments.

10. Equity Method Investments in Affiliates

In the first, third and fourth quarters of 2020, the Company completed minority investments in Comvest Partners, Inclusive Capital Partmers LP and
Jackson Square Partners LLC (“Jackson Square), respectively. The majority of the consideration paid for Jackson Square is deductible for U.S. tax
purposes over a 15 year life. The Company’s purchase price allocation for each investment was measured using financial models that included assumptions
of expected market performance, net client cash flows, and discount rates.

The financial results of certain Affiliates accounted for under the equity method are recognized in the Consolidated Financial Statements one quarter in
arrears.

The following table presents the change in Equity method investments in Affiliates (net):
Equity Method Investments in Affiliates (Net)

: 2019 2020
|___Balance, beginning vl peiiod *_- - BTN R X T 2.1056]
Earnings 289.4 288.6
L Intongible amortizauen and impairhenis N o (GL2LA), gl (33207
Distributions of eamings ' (252.4) (236.8)
{__Horeign currency translatwii__' " " e o i (40.0) : 5.1}
Investments in Affiliates 162.3 128.7
L__Divestments of Affiliates S - (7.7 =
Other (9.6) . 25.6
| Baiance, end of period_ - - : - N, ~$ 21956 . % . vovasd

Definite-lived acquired client relationships at the Company’s Affiliates accounted for under the equity method are amortized over their expected period
of economic benefit. The Company recorded amortization expense for these relationships of $97.5 million, $142.4 million and $147.0 million for the years
ended December 31, 2018, 2019 and 2020, respectively. Based on relationships existing as of December 31, 2020, the Company estimates the annual

amortization expense attributable to its Affiliates will be approximately $120 million in 2021 and approximately $50 million in each of 2022, 2023, 2024
and 2025.

In the first quarter of 2019, the Company recorded a $415.0 million expense to reduce the carrying value of an Affiliate to fair value. In March 2019,
the Company concluded that the growth expectations of the Affiliate had declined and determined that the estimated fair value of the Affiliate had also
declined meaningfully. Therefore, the Company performed a valuation to determine whether the fair value of the Affiliate had declined below its carrying
value. The fair value of the investment was determined using a probability-weighted discounted cash flow analysis, a level 3 fair value measurement, that
included a projected compounded asset based fee growth over the first five years of (13)%, discount rates of 11% and 20% for asset and performance based
fees, respectively, and a market participant tax rate of 25%. Based on the probability-weighted discounted

59




Table of Cantents

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCTAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUP, INC.

cash flow analysis, the Company concluded that the fair valuc of its investment had declined below its canyiug value and ihat the declive was other-than-
temporary. In October 2019, the Company sold its interest in the Affiliate. '

i In the third quarter of 2019, the Company recorded a $10.0 million expense to reduce the carrying value of an Affiliate to fair value. The fair value of
the investment was determined using a probability-weighted discounted cash flow analysis, a level 3 fair value measurement, that included a projected
growth rate of (20)%, discount rates of 119 and 20% for asset and performance based fees, respectively, and a market participant tax rate of 25%. Based on
the discounted cash flow analysis, the Company concluded that the fair value of its investinent had declined below its carrying value and that the decline

was other-than-temporary.

In the fourth quarter of 2019, the Company recorded a $60.0 million expense to reduce the carrying value of an Affiliate to fair value. The decline in '
the fair value was a result of a decline in assets under management and a reduction in projected growth, which decreased the forecasted revenue associated
with the investment. The fair value of the investment was determined using a discounted cash flow analysis, a level 3 fair value measurement that included
a projected growth rate of 9% for assets under management, discount tates of 11% and 20% for asset and performance based fees, respectively, and‘a
market participant tax rate of 25%. Based on the discounted cash flow analysis, the Company concluded that the fair value of its investment had declined
below its carrying value and that the decline was other-than-temporary.

In the first and fourth quarters of 2020, the Company recorded expenses of $140.0 million and $45.0 million, respectively, to reduce the carrying value
of an Affiliate to fair value. The decline in the fair values was a result of declines in assets under management and reductions in projected growth, which
decreased the forecasted revenues associated with the investment. The fair values of the investment were determined using probability-weighted discounted .
cash flow analyses, level 3 fair value measurements that included projected compounded growth in assets under management over the first five years of
(2)% and (5)% for the first and fourth quarters of 2020, respectively. discount rates of 11% for asset based fees, discount rates of 20% for performance
based fees, and market participant tax rates of 25%. Based on the discounted cash flow analyses, the Company concluded that the fair value of its

investment had declined below its carrying value at each of the respective measurement dates and that the decline was other-than-temporary.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company completed its annual assessment of its investments in Affiliates accounted for under the equity
method and no other impairments were indicated. If financial markets become depressed for a prolonged period as a result of COVID-19 or other factors,
or the financial performance of an Affiliate worsens as a result of net client cash outflows or performance, regardless of the performance of financial
markets, the fair values of these assets could drop below their carrying values for periods considered other than temporary, resulting in future impairments.

In connection with one of the Company’s investments in an Affiliate, a minority owner has the right to elect to sell a portion of its ownership interest in
the Affiliate to the Company annually. In the second quarter of 2019, the minority owner sold a 5% ownership interest in the Affiliate to the Company for

$25.7 million.

In the fourth quarter of 2020, the Company recorded a liability in Other liabilities of $40.0 million, with a corresponding increase to the carrying value
of the Affiliate in Equity method investments in Affiliates (net), related to the achievement of specified financial targets by the Affiliate. This payment is

expected to settle in 2022.

As of December 31, 2020, the Company was obligated to make payments related to an investment in an Affiliate accounted for under the equity
method. The maximum the company is obligated to pay is $35.0 million in 2021 and $37.5 million in 2022.

The following table presents summarized financial information for Affiliates accounted for under the equity method:

For the Years Ended December 31,

2018 2019 2020
[ _Revenuew - $ 32317 ___§ 2,7609_ " $ 2,659.7)
Net income) 1,286.1 1,061.3 1,061.8
December 31,
2019 2020
[ Assets R $ 27185____ 8§ -2,958.9]
Liabilities and Non-controtling interests 1,212.7 1,245.5
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™ Revenue and net income include asset and performance based fees, the impact of consolidated sponsored investment products and investments in new
Affiliates for the full-year, regardless of the date of the Company’s investment.

The Company’s share of undistributed eamings from equity method investments is recorded in Equity method investments in Affiliates (net) and was
$170.6 million as of December 31, 2020. :

11. Lease Commitments

The Company and its Affiliates currently lease office space and equipment under various operating leasing airangements. For the year ended
December 31, 2018, consolidated lease costs were $40.5 million. The following table presents total lease costs (net) for 2019 and 2020:
For the Years Ended December 31,

2019 2020
Operating lease costs ' . ‘ S 417_$ 37.6)
Short-term lease costs . 2.1 0.8
\Variable lease costs N M i 0.1 i 0.0}
Sublease income . 4.4 (5.0)
| Total lease costs (net) ] ) < $ 395 § 33.41

For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2020, new right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for lease liabilities were $26.1 million and $24.4
million, respeciively. As ol December 31, 2019 aind 2020, the Company’s and its Affiliatcs’ weighted average operating lease term was eight years and
seven years, respectively, and the weighted average operating lease discount rate was 4% as of both December 31, 2019 and 2020.

As of December 31, 2020, the maturities of lease liabilities were as follows:

Year Operating Leases
T ' ‘ v T - . o e AN N . A05]
2022 36.7
{2023 . 7 T - AR T i v Y, 324
2024 259
[ 2035" g - 2 - R A A 21.3)
Thereafter X 59.6
[ ‘lotal undiscounted lease liabilities” - : S : - $ 216.0]

Total undiscounted lease liabilities were $34.9 million greater than the operating leases recorded in Other liabilities primarily duc to present value
discounting. Both amounts exclude leases with initial terms of 12 months or less and leases that have not yet commenced.

In the fourth quarter of 2019, the Company recorded an $8.1 million expense to reduce the carrying value to fair value of certain of the Company’s
rghi-of-use asses related v o reduction in leased office space. The fair values of the right-of-use assets were determined using a discounted cash flow
analysis, a Level 3 fair value measurement that included market rental rates ranging from $13 to $68 per square foot (a weighted-average of $46 per square
foot), weighted-average discount rates ranging from 3.3% to 5.5% and a market participant tax rate of 25%. In 2020, no impairments of right-of-use assets
were indicated.

12. Fixed Assets
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Fixed assets (net) consisted of the following:

December 3t,
2019 2020
ijlldlngs and leasehald impravements - N L s N . % SHB3 . % .. LIRS
Software 52.6 55.3
[ Faquipment .~ R RN N ; IR 4340 - 4 T 4431
Furniture and fixtures 21.3 21.0
L. Land, improvements and other ___~ . i e : Y T 18.0]
Fixed assets, at cost 251.1 255.1
L Accmnulated depreciagon and anonization B R . CT(158.8) - (175.5)
Fixed assets (net) $ 92.3 $ 79.6
13. Payables and Accrued Liabilities
Payables and accrued liabilities consisted of the following:
December 31,
2019 2020
.. Acuued cunpeusation g L S L L S - : -3 421.5 i 400.0]
Other 213.1 . 312.4
[ Payables and accrued liabilities ' $ - - 6346 _ § 712.4]

14. Related Party Transactions

A piior owner of one of the Company’s consolidated Affiliates retains intevests in certain of the Affiliate’s private equity partnerships and, as a result,
is a related party of the Company. The prier owner’s interests are presented within Other liabilities and were $38:5 million and $35.1 million ac of
December 31, 2019 and 2020, respectively.

The Company may invest from time to time in funds or products advised by its Affiliates. The Company’s executive officers and directors may invest
from time to time in funds advised or products offered by its Affiliates on substantially the same terms as other investars. Tn addition, the Company and its
Affiliates eamn asset and performance based fees and incur disuibution and other expenses for services provided to Affiliate sponsorcd investment products.
Afliliate management vwners aind the Company’s officers may serve as nustees or directors of certain invesrment vehicles from which the Company or an
Affiliate earns fees. '

The Company has related party transactions in association with its contingent payment arrangements and Affiliate equity transactions; as more fully
described in Notes 8, 10, 17 and 18.

15. Stockholders’ Equity
Common Stock
The Company is authorized to issue up to 150.0 million shares of voting common stock and 3.0 million shares of class B non-voting common stock.

The Company’s Board of Directors authorized share repurchase programs in October 2019 and January 2019 to repurchase up to 6.0 million and 3.3
million shares of its commaon stock, respectively, and these authorizations have no expiry. Purchases may be made fram rime to time, at management’s
discretion, in the open market or in privately negotiated transactions; including through the use of trading plans as well as pursuant to accelerated share
repurchase programs or other share repurchase strategics that may include derivative financial instruments. As of December 31, 2020; the Company had
repurchased all of the shares of the January 2019 program, and there were a total of 1.9 million shares available for repurchase under the Company s
October 2019 share repurchase program.
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The following is a summary of the Company’s share repurchase activity:

Shares Average
Year Repurchased Price
b 2018 . . 3.3 ‘$ '150.31]
2019 4.1 88.73
{ 2020 - 5.0 86.35}

Between January 1 and February 18, 2021, the Company repurchased 1.2 million shares of its common stock for $151.9 million, including shares
repurchased in the open market, through a 1.0b5-1 trading plan, and pursuant to an accelerated share repurchase program.

Equity Distribution Program

The Company has equity distribution and forward equity agreements with several major securities firms under which it may, from time to time, issue
and sell charee of its common stock (immediately or on a forward basis) having an aggregate sales price of up to $500.0 million (the “cquity distribution
program”). As of December 31, 2020, no sales had occurred under the equity distribution program.

Preferred Stock

The Company is authorized to issue up to 5.0 million chares of Preferred Stock. Any such Preferred Stocl issued by the Company may rank prior to
commeon stock ag to dividend rights, liquidation preference or both, may have full or limited voting rights and may be convertible into shares of common
stock.

Financial Instruments

The Company’s junior convertible securities contain an embedded right for holders to receive shares of the Company’s common stock under certain
conditions. These arrangements, as well as the equity distribution program; meet the definition of equity and arc not required to be accounted for separately
as derivative financial instruments.

16. Share-Based Compensation
Share-Based Incentive Plans

The Company hae establiched various plans under which it is authorized to grant restricted stock; restricted stocle units, stock options, and stock
appreciation righte. The Company may also grant cash awards that can be notionally invested in one or more specified measurement funds, including the
Company’s commen stock. Awards granted under the Company’s share-based incentive plans typically participate in any dividends declared, but such
amounts are deferred until delivery of the shares and are forfeitable if the requisite service is not satisfied. Dividends may accrue in cash or may be
reinvested in the Company’s common stock.

Share-Based Compensation

The following table presents share-based compensation expense:

Share-Based
Compensation
Year Expense Tax Benefit
[ 2018 $ 44.7 $ 11.2]
2019 49.9 8.2
{ 2020 T : , i L 674 10.3§

The excess tax benefit (deficiency) recognized from share based incentive plans was $0.7 million, $(3.2) million, and $(3.9) million, for the years
ended December 31, 2018, 2019, and 2020, respectively.

As of December 31, 2019, the Company had unrecognized share-based compensation expense of $106.6 million. As of December 31, 2020, the
Company had $86.2 million of unrecognized chare-based compensation, which will be recognized over a weighted average period of approximately three
years (assuming no forfeitures).

Restricted Stock
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The following table summarizes transactions in the Gompany’s restricted stock units:

Weighted
Average
Restricted Grant Date
Stock Units Value
{_ . Unvested units—December 31, 2009 *, " L L R - L1 $ e 123.70)
Units granted 0.4 73.75
t _  Unitsvested . R e : s .. . 0.4) 141.67} .
Units forfeited (0.0) 134.52
L. -Performance condition changes N . i LT e T S 0.1 e . 1U592]
Unvested units—December 31, 2020 1.2 99.46

The Company granted restricted stock unit awards with fair values of $37.7 million, $59.7 million, and $31.8 million for the yeais ended December 31,
2018, 2019, and 2020, respectively. These restricted stock units were valued based on the closing price of the Company’s common stock on the grant date
and the number of shares expected to vest. Restricted stock units containing vesting conditions gencrally require seivice vver o petiod ul Uuee years Lo fuw
years and may also require the satisfaction of certain performance conditions. Tor awards with performance conditions, the number of restiicted stock units
expected to vest may change over time depending upon the performance level achicved.

The total fair value of shares vested was $5.9 million, $18.9 million, and $24.1 million during the years ended December 31, 2018, 2019, and 2020,
respectively: As of December 31, 2020, the Company had 3.3 million sharces available for grant under it3 plans.

Stock Options

The following table summarizes transactions in the Company’s stock options:

Weighted
Weighted Average
Average Remaining
Stock Exercise Contractual
Options Price Life (Years)
[[__Timexercised nptions ouistanding—Tiecember 31, 2048 .+ o 2.3 . 85.58 ) ]
Options granted 0.2 74.31
{  Opbons exercised R ~ Tk < (0.0 86.78 1
Options forfeited (0.0) 147.77
| Performance condition_changes 0.4 74.42 1
Unexercised options outstanding—December 31, 2020 29 82.14 5.1
L___Exercisable at Docember 31, 2020 . 0.4 12G.95 - 17

The Company granted stock options with fair values of $1.0 million, $34.2 million, and $4.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2019, and
2020, respectively. Stock options generally vest over a period of three years to five years and expirc seven years after the grant date. All stock optivns have
been granted with exercise prices equal to the closing price of the Company’s common stock on the grant date. Substantially all of tie Company’s
outstanding stock options contain both service and performance conditions. Tor awards with performance conditions, the numbcr of stock optiois expected

to vost may change over time depending upon the performance level achiceved.

The Company generally uses treasury stock to settle stock option excrcises. The total intrinsic value of stock options cxcrciscd during the years ended
December 31, 2018, 2019, and 2020 was $8.2 million, $0.2 million, and $0.0 million, respectively. The cash received for stock options exercised was $9.7
million, $0.9 million, and zero during the years ended December 31, 2018, 2019, and 2020, respectively. As of December 31, 2020, the intrinsic value of
exercisable stock options outstanding was $0.5 million, and 1.2 million options were available for grant under thc Company’s option plans.

The weighted average fair value of stock options was $48.64, $18.36, and $10.33, per option, for the yeais ended Decerber 31, 2018, 2013, and 2020,
respectively. The Company uses the Black: Scholes option pricing modcl to determinc the fair value of options. The weighted average giant date
assumptions used to estimate the fair value of stock options granted were as follows:

For the Years Ended December 31,

2018 ] 2019 2020
[ Dividend yield 08 __ % 17 % 16 %
Expected volatility 25.5 % 29.4 % 30.5 %
| Risk-free interest rate® 2.8 % ’ 15 % 0.9 %
Expected life of stock options (in years)™ 5.7 5.7 5.7
|___Forfeiture rate 00 % 00__ % 0.0 %

™ Expected volatility is based on historical and implied volatility.

@ Rigl: free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yicld curve in cffect at the date of grant.

A Expected life of options (in ycars) is based on the Company’s historical and expcected cxcrcise behavior.
17. Redeemable Non-Controlling Interests

Affiliate equity interests provide holders with an equity interest in one of the Company’s Affiliates, consistent with the structured partnership interests
in place at the respective Affiliate. Affiliate equity holders gencrally have a conditional right to put their intciests to the Company at certaiii inteivals
(between five years and 15 years from the date the equity interest is received by the Affiliate equity holder or on an annual basis fullowing an Affiliate
equity holder’s departure). Prior to becoming redeemable, the value of the Company’s Affiliate equity is presented within Non-controlling interests. Upon
becoming redecmable, the walue of thesce interests is reclassified and the current redemption valuc of these interests is presented as Redeemable non=



controlling interests. Changes in the current redemption value are recorded to Additional paid-in capital. When the Company receives a put notice, and,
therefore, has an unconditional obligation to repurchase Affiliate equity interests, they are reclassified to Other liabilities.

The following table presents the changes in Redeemable non-controlling interests:
Redeemable Non-controlling Interests

2019 2020
{___Balance beginning of pericd® f $ 833.7 $ 916.7]
(Decreases) increases attributable to consolidated Affiliate sponsored mvestment products (69.4) 13.8
{ . Transfers to Other liabilities - (118.6) (310.6)|
Transfers from (to) Non-controlling interests 105.0 (7.8)
{__Changes in redemption value ___. 166.0 59.4|
Balance, end of period™ $ 916.7 $ 671.5

" As of December 31, 2019 and 2020, Redecmable non-controlling interests include consolidated Affiliate sponsored investment products primarily
attributable to third-party investors of $21.6 million and $35.4 million, respectively.

18. Affiliate Equity

Affiliate equity interests arc allocated income in @ manner that is consistent with the structured partnership interests in place at the respective Affiliate.
The Company’s Affiliates generally pay quarterly distributions to Affiliate equity holders. Distributions paid to Affiliate equity holders (non -controlling
interests) were $370.5 million, $347.9 million, and $306.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2019, and 2020, respectively.

Affiliate equity intercsts provide the Company a conditional right to call (on an annual basis following an Affiliate equity holder’s departure) and
Affiliatc cquity holders have a conditional right to put their interests at certain intervals (beeween five years and 15 years from the date the equity interest is
reccived by the Affiliate equity holder or on an annual basis following an Affiliate equity holder’s departure). For Affiliates accounted for under the equity
method, we do not typically have such put and call arrangements. The purchasc price of these conditional purchases are generally calculated based upon a
multiplc of cash flow distributions, which is intended to represent fair value. Affiliate equity holders are also permitted to sell their equity interests to other
individuals or entities in certain cases, subject to the Company's approval or other restrictions. The Company,
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at its option, may pay for Affiliate equity purchases in cash, shares of its common stock or other forms of consideration, and can consent to the transfer of
these interests to other individuals or entities.

The Company periodically repurchases Affiliate equity from and issues Affiliate equity to the Company’s concolidated Affiliate partners and its
officers. The amount of cash paid for repurchases was $120.0 million, $146.0 million, and $315.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2019,
and 2020, respectively. The total amount of cash received for issuances was $6.3 million, $10.5 million, and $20.2 million for the years ended December
31, 2018, 2019, and 2020, respectively.

Sales and repurchases of Affiliate equity generally occur at fair value; hewaver, the Company also grants Affiliate equity to its consolidated A ffiliate
partners and its officers as a form of compensation. If the equity is issued for consideration below the fair value of the equity, or repurchased for
considcration above the fair value of the equity, the difference is recorded as compensation expense in Compensation and related expenses in the
Consolidated Statements of Income over the requisite service period.

The following table presents Affiliate cquity compensation expense:
For the Years Ended December 31,

2018 2019 2020
L. Comrolling interest ' L i 8 ) 19.7" L) 9.6 ) $_ *,20.9]
Non-controlling interests 39.7 . 309 30.9
l' - Toral = P T S .- T o e $e 56 4 _$. . 405 .‘ + $.. 6 518}

The following table presents unrecognized Affiliate equity compensation expense:
Non-controlling

Year Controlling Interest Remaining Life Interests Remaining Life
[ 2018 - T ' L o % C 3R7 .. Syeas_ " § 1183 © - Gyears
2019 40.9 4 years : 124.6 6 years
Y oot . N L T A . > 359 ¢ - yediy 1097 5 yedry

The Company records amounts receivable from, and payable to; Affiliate equity holders in connection with the transfer of Affiliate equity interests that
have not scttled at the end of the period and other related transactions. The total receivable was $14.8 million and $9.6 million as of December 31, 2019
and 2020, respectively, and was included in Other assets. The total payable was $19.8 million and $22.0 million as of December 31, 2019 and 2020,
respectively, and was included in Other liabilities.

Effects of Changes in the Company’s Ownership in Affiliates

The Company periodically acquires interests from, and transfers interests to, Affiliate equity holders. Because these transactions do not result in a
change of control, any gain or loss related to these transactions is recorded to Additional paid-in capital, which increases or decreases the controlling
intcrest’s equity. Mo gain or loss related to these transactions is recorded in the Gonsolidated Statements of Tncome or the Consclidated Statements of
Comprehensive Income.

While the Company presents the current redemption value of Affiliate equity within Redeemable non-controlling interests, with changes in the current
redemption value increasing or decreasing the controlling interest’s equity over time, the following table presents the cumulative effect that ownership
changes had on the controlling interest’s equity related only to Affiliate eqmty transactions that settled during the applicable periods:

For the Years Ended December 31,

2018 2019 2020
}___Net income (controlling interest)’ - : $ 243.6 ) $_ 7 1n 7 Yo% L2u022)
(Decrease) increase in controlling interest paid-in capua] from Affiliate equity iscuances (5.0) (2.1) 11
L. Decicasc in controlling intcrest paid-in copital from Affiliate cquity, repurchases o (67.9) . - (50.8) » . (230.1)
Net income (loss) (controlling In(erest) 1ncludmg the net impact of Affiliate equity
transactions $ 170.7 $ (38.2) $ (35.8)

19. Benefit Plans
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The Company has a defined contribution plan that is a qualified employee profit-sharing plan, covering substantially all of its employees. Under this
plan, the Company is able to make discretionary contributions for the benefit of its employecs that are qualified plan participants, up to Internal Revenue
Service limits. The Company’s consolidated Affiliates generally have their own qualified defined contribution retirement plans covering their respective
employees or, for several Affiliates, have their employees covered under the Company’s plan. In each case, the relevant Affiliate is able to make
discretionary contributions for the benefit of its employees, as applicable, that are qualified plan participants, up to Internal Revenue Service limits.
Consolidated expenses related to these plans were $20.8 million, $19.4 million, and $17.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2019, and 2020,
respectively. The controlling interest’s portion of expenses related to these plans were $4.8 million, $3.6 million, and $3.0 million for the years ended
December 31, 2018, 2019, and 2020, respectively.

20. Income Taxes

The Company’s consnlidated income tay, provision includes taxes attributable te the controlling interest and, to a lesser extent, taxes attributable to
non-controlling interests.

The following table presents the consolidated provision for income taxes:
For the Years Ended December 31,

2018 2019 2020
Couuolling jmerest. ' ' . i . i 1
Current taxes $ 117.2 $ 46.5 $ 44.6
|_Intangible-related deferred taxes ‘ et e a i mn? () o (09
Other deferred taxes (27.5) (4.3) 34.8
{_._Total conrrolling interest : PR e L 1694 . (9.). . 695 |
Non-controlling interests:
{ Cuirent taxes $ 122§ 122§ 10.0_}
Deferred taxes 03) . 02 1.9
{ _ Total non-controlling interests : L ‘ 1.9 120 119 |
Income tax expense $ 1813  § 29§ 81.4
fmcmne'be@e incoine taves (comfrolling interest) e L M SR T S Y WA |
Effective tax rate (controlling interest)™ 41.0 % (137.0)% 25.6 %

M Taxes attributable to the controlling interest divided by income before income taxes (controlling interest).

The consolidated provision for income taxes consisted of the following:

For the Years Ended December 31,

2018 . 2019 2020

‘Current: - : , - ) 1
Federal $ 522 § (18.2) $ (9.6)
CGae AT SR B X ~©0)____170]
Foreign 48.6 85.7 47.2
[_Total current ' 1294 58.7 54.6]

Deferred: 7
{_Federal PR o ! = ' % BiA_ ¢ (239§ 301]
State 13.2 3.4 5.4
| Yoreign - ) - - N ' : (12.6) _ (35.3) . 1.31
Total deferred 51.9 . (55.8) . 26.8
"Inrcome tax expense : i _ . $ 1013 8 29 B 81.4|

For financial reporting purposes, Income before income taxes consisted of the following:
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For the Years Ended December 31,

2018 2019 2020
Domestic " - L R D ~ 7% 6373 $. 1522 8 - Ad6d]
International 76.3 155.8 62.2
{_ Total : R - . . 5 7136 $. 3080 $ - 508.3]

The following table reconciles the U.S. federal statutory tax rate to the Company's effective tax rate:
For the Years Ended December 31,

2018 2019 2020

Stamtory U.S. rederal tagrate = T o ot . N 0% Y% 0%
State income taxes, net of federal benefit 3.7 3.5 3.5
‘Foleign operations 3 : L : : " R 1.3 @70.2)__ 8.5_]
Compensation plans 1.6 240.6 5.8
@gesinlaxlaws : : . : . v — L — . - 30 1
Change in valuation allowances 0.0 (107.2) 6.9
Unrecoguized tax benefits - . : — 05 L4204 (LD
Affiliate divestments — (120.4) (6.2)
Reduction in canying valuc of Affiliates = ., -~ o0 o o - ol L1300 e "= S =
Changes in U.S. tax provision to recum (1.0) (195.7) 0.8
Dher . e - RSN —na. NN nd 1
Effective tax rate (controlling interest) 41.0 % (137.0)% 25.6 %
ILffect of income trom nob-contfolling interésts ' . T T se) 1379 - (ub) |

25.4 % 0.9 % 16.0 %

Effective tax rate

The Company s effective wy rawe (coneolling interest) in 2018 is higler dran e margingl ax rae primadly due w a $240.0 millon expeuse recorded
{0 reduce e canyiug value of one of the Company’s Affiliaies w {dir value for which tie Cowpany did not recognize an income wax benefit. The effective
tax rate (controlling interest) in 2019 is lower than the marginal tax rate primaiily due t lower Tncome befure iicume taxes, as a result of incieased
Intangible amortization and impairiments expense, and tax benefits ielated o an Affiliate divestment. The effective tax 1ale (controlling interest) in 2020 is
not significantly different from the marginal tax rate.

Neferred income tax liability (net) reflects the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between the financial reporting bases and tax
Lases of die Company s assets and Habiliues. The siguificant components of tie Company's Deferred income wax liabiliy (net) are as follows:
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December 31,

2019 2020
Deferred Tax Assets ]
Deferred compensation $ 138 $ 15.4
{_State loss carryforwards ) 15.9 17.0]
Foreign loss carryforwards 17.7 19.7
|_Tax benefit of uncertain tax positions 27.4 26.3}
Deferred income 3.0 —
| Lease liabilities 12.3 10.04
Foreign tax credits — 8.2
{ Other 26 . —]
Total deferred tax assets 92.7 96.6
| Valuation allowance . (16.9) _ (35.6)
Deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance $ 75.8 A $ 61.0
Deferred Tax Liabilities , ‘ I ]
Intangible asset amortization $ (293.7) $ (235.6)
{ Non-deductible intangible amortization (110.9) (116.6)
Junior convertible securities interest (91.6) (99.3)
[Right-of-use assets (103) (7.3)
Deferred income —_ (10.7)
{"Other - . . (4.1) . (8.5)
Total deferred tax liabilities (510.6) (478.0)
l_ Deferred income tax liability (net)® $ (4348) $ (417.0)

™ As of December 31, 2019 and 2020, foreign loss carryforwards of $17.7 million and $19.7 million, respectively, net of a $2.3 million and a

$13.3 willion valuadon allowance

ce, respectively, are presemed within Culier assers as diey represent a nec deferred wx assed in a (orelgn jurdsdiciiou.

As of December 31, 2020, the Company had available state net operating loss carryforwards of $243.7 million, a majmity of which will expire over ten
years to 15 years. As of December 31, 2020, the Company had foreign loss carryforwards of $74.2 million, of which $64.6 million will expire over 11
years to 19 years aud $9.6 willion will carry forward indefinitely. As of December 31, 2020, the Company had foreign tax credii canyforwards of $8.2

million which will expire over eight years to ten years.

The Company believed it was more-likely-than-not that the benefit from certain state and foreign loss carryforwards and foreign tax credit
carryforwards would not be fully realized, and, as of December 31, 2020, had valuation allowances of $14.1 million, $13.3 million, and $8.2 million on the
state and foreign loss carryforwards and the fareign tax credit carryforwards, respectively. Far the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2020, there was a
$7.2 million reduction and an $18.7 million increase in the valuation allowances, respectively.

The Company’s estimates and assumptions regarding the realization of its state and foreign loss canyforwards do not contemplate certain changes in
ownership of the Company’s stock which could limit the utilization of these carryforwards.

The Company doces not provide for U.S. income taxes on the excess of the financial reporting bases owver tax bases in the Company’s investments in
foveign subsidiaries cousidered permanem in dutadon. Such amount would generally become wxable upon the repauiadon of assets frow, ova sale oy
liquidation of, the foreign subsidiaries. While a determination of the potential amount of unrecognized defeived U.S. income tax liability related to these
amounts is not practicable because of the numerous assumptions associated with this hypathetical calculation, as of December 31, 2020, the estimated

amount of such difference was $317.1 million.

A reconciliation of the changes in unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:
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For the Years Ended December 31,

_ 2018 2019 2020
Balance, beginning of period et . $____ 314 % 330 % . b5}
Additions based on current year tax positions . -2.4 39.8 1.1
fiddinons based on prior years’ tax posiions_ -~ 5 . T N i . . H4 T 32 1.7]
Reduction for prior years® tax positions ) (2.0) (3.5) 0.4)
‘Lapse of the siatute of limiaions_ - 7 - ' - S T A S . P (B3 (4 L)
Settlements ) (1.3) (0.4) —
'Foreign ciiifency franslafion -~ PN e . i 05y .. (28 13]
Balance, end of period ' . $ 331 § 654 $ 63.5

Included in the balance of unrecognized (ax benefits as of Decembei 31, 2018, 2019, and 2020 were $33.1 willivu, $65.4 millivu, and $63.5 million,
respectively; of tax benefits that, if recognized, would favorably affect the Company’s cffective tax rate (controlling interest). As of December 31, 2020,
certain of these benefits, if realized, would be offset by the utilization of indircct tax benefits, for which the Company has accrued deferred tax assets of

$26.3 million.

The Company records accrued interest and penalties, if any, related to unrecognized tax benefits in Income tax expensc. Tor the years ended
December 31, 2018, 2019, and 2020, intcrest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits were $0.4 million, $6.4 million, and $0.8 million,

respectively. As of December 31, 2019 and 2020, the Company had accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits of $10.5 million

and $11.4 million, respectively.

The Company is subject to U.S. federal, state and local, and foreign income tax in multiple jurisdictions and is periodically subjcct to tax
examinations in these jurisdictions: The completion of examinations may result in the payment of additional taxes and/or the recognition of tax benefits.
The Company is generally no longer subject to income tax examinations by U.S. federal, state and local, or forcign taxing authoritics for periods prior to

2016.

21. Earnings Per Share

The calculation of Earnings per share (basic) is based on the weighted average number of shares of the Company’s common stock outstanding during
the period. Earnings per share (diluted) is similar to Earnings per share (basic), but adjusts for the dilutive effect of the potential issuance of incremental
shares of the Company’s common stock. The following is a reconciliation of the numerator and denominator used in the calculation of basic and diluted

earnings per share available to common stockholders:

For the Years Ended December 31,

2018 2019 2020
{  Numerator : ]
Net income (controlling interest) i $ 243.6 $ 15.7 $ 202.2
|__Interest expense on junior convertible securities, net of taxes . : — .. — —|
Net income (controlling interest), as adjusted $ 243.6 $ 15.7 ) $ 202.2
i Denominator : - . ) ] - " |
Average shares outstanding (basic) 53.6 50.5 46.5
|7 Efiect of dilutive inctruiieiits: S e e A B NN al
Stock options and restricted stock units 0.2 0.1 0.2
{___..Jonlor covvertible secunnes T - - - ' - —. — . —1
Average shares outstanding (diluted) 53.8 50.6 46.7

Average shares outstanding (diluted) in the table above excludes stock options and restricted stock units that have not met certain performance

conditions and items that have an anti dilutive effect on Garnings per share (diluted). The following is a summary of items excluded from the deiominator

in the table above:
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For the Years Ended December 31,
2018 2019 2020
‘Stock options and restricted stock units . : - . ] 02 2.6 25}
Junior convertible securities : ' 22 2.2 2.2

The Company may settle portions of its Affiliate cquity purchases in shares of its common stock. Because it is the Company’s intention to scttle these
potential purchases in cash, the calculation of Average shares outstanding (diluted) excludes any potential dilutive cffect from possible share settlements of
Affiliate equity purchases.

22. Comprehensive Income

The following tables present the tax effects allocated to each component of Other comprehensive income (loss):
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

Pre-Tax Tax Expense Net of Tax
| Foreign currency translation loss___ o $___.(R70)__ $ . (5D ___$__.(1021)
Change in net realized and unrealized loss on denvanve financial instruments 0.1) - . (0.1)
l Other comprehensive loss - - $ - (87:1) $ (15.1) $ (102.2)

For the Year Ended December 31, 2019

Pre-Tax o Tax Benefit Net of Tax
Foreign currency translation gain (loss) _ $ ... (114 5 . 22.§;$ £ 109]
. Change in net realized and unreahzed d gain on denvauve financial mstruments 1.7 — . 1.7
Other comprehensive income (Joss) ' C L ' $ NS 223§ _ 126}

For the Year Ended December 31, 2020
Tax (Expense)

Pre-Tax Benefit Net of Tax
Foreign currency translation gain (loss) . $ 25.5_.__$ i (1_9._3)_-_$ ‘ 15.2}
Change in net realized and unrealized gam (loss) on derivative financial instruments (.9) 0.4 (1.5)
Other comprehensive income (loss) - ' ' $ 236 -$ (89§ 13.71

The components of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of taxes, were as follows:
Realized and

Foreign Unrealized Gains
Currency Translation  (Losses) on Derivative -
) Adjustment Financial Instruments . Total
{__ Balance, as of December 31, 2018 i $ (1880). § (05) 8  (188.5)
Other comprehensive income before reclassifications ' 10.9 22 13.1
{ _ Amouits reclassified R — (0.5) _ (0.5)
Net other comprehensive income 10.9 L7 12.6
[ Balance, as ot December 31, 2019__ o : $___(172.1) T (175.9)
Other complehenswe income (Ioss) before reclassifications 15.2 (0.9) 14.3
I Amounts reclassified - - ) S — - (0.8) ~ (0.6)
Net other comprehensive income (loss) 15.2 . 1.5) 13.7
L__Balance, as of December 31, 2020 - % ey $ (03) § (1622)

In connectlon with the adopuon of ASU 2018-02 in 2019, tie Company elecied w reclassify w Revained earnings $6.8 million of vy effecs soauded
in Accumulated other comprehensive loss as a result of the enactment of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act on December 22, 2017.

23. Geographic Information
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The following table presents Consolidated revenuc and Fixed asscts (net) of the Company by geographic location. For Affiliates, this information is
primarily based on the location of the Affiliates’ headquarters.

For the Years Ended December 31,

2018 2019 2020

L. Consolidated revenue * . M . L ‘ o
United States $ 1,611.7 $ 1,642.2 $ 1,524.0

I'™ Vinired Kingdom. g ) G RN 515, __462.3]
Other 137.9 82.2 41.2
|____Toal N $ 23784  § 22396 8 20275]

December 31,
2019 2020

[ rixed assets (rier) __. e e , . ]
United States $ 75.6 $ 64.2
I___United Kingdom 158 . 14.6)
Other 0.9 0.8

l_Towl ___ . .

-~ $: . 923 - & - 796|
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Schedule IT

Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Balance Additions

Beginning of Charged to Costs Balance
(in millions) Perio amexpenses Other Accounts Deductions End of Period
iIncome Tax Valuation Allowance il ' ' |
Year Ending December 31,
2020 - $ 169 _$ 18.4 03_$ '— 8 356]
2019 24.1 4.9 — 12.1 16.9
12018 24.1 0.6 — 06 . “24.1]
Other Allowances®
iYear Ending December 31, - — 1
2020 $ 41 8 3.8 — 3 31 § 4.8
2019 " 5.0 1.0 — 1.9 4.1]
2018 3.6 6.4 — 5.0 5.0

m

Other allowances represented reserves on notes received in connection with transfers of our interests in certain Affiliates; as well as other receivable

amounts, which we considered uncollectible. Deductions represented the reversal of such reserves upon collection of the amounts due.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

As required by Rule 13a-15 of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), as of December 31, 2020, we carried out
an evaluation under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chicf Exccutive Officer and Chicf Financial Officer, of
the cffectivencss of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures: Based upon that evaluation, the Chicf Executive Officer and Chicef
Financial Officer concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by this report, our disclosure controls and procedures are effective in ensuring that
(i) information required to be disclosed by us in the reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported
within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and (ii) such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including
our principal executive officer and principal financial officers, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing and
evaluating our disclosure controls and procedures, we recognize that any contiols and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, cain provide
only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives, and our management necessarily was ieguiied to apply its judginent in evaluatiing
and implementing possible controls and procedures. Qur disclosure controls and procedures were designed to provide reasenable assurance of achieving
their stated objectives; and our principal exccutive officer and principal financial officers concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were
cffective at the reasonable assurance level. We review on an ongoing basis and document our disclosure controls and procedures, and our internal control
aver financial reporting, and we may from time to time make changes in an effort to enhance their effectiveness and ensure that our systems evolve with
our business. See “Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting” in It 0.

Qur independent registered public accounting firm, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, has issued an audit report on our internal control over financial
reporting, which is included in Item 8.

Mo change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 16d 15(f) under the Exchange Act) occurred during the
fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2020 that has materially affected, or is reasunably likely to materially affect, our internal conwol over fiiancial
reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART IT1
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Information required by this Ttem will be set forth in our proxy statement for our 2020 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (to be filed within 120 days
after December 31, 2020) (the “Proxy Statement”), and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Information required by this Item will be set forth in our Proxy Statement, and is incorporated herein by reference.
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

Information required by this Ttem will be set forth in our Proxy Statement, and is incorporated herein by reference.
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

Information required by this Ttem will be set forth in our Proxy Statement, and is incorporated herein by reference.
Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Information required by this Item will be set forth in our Proxy Statement, and is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV
Ttem 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

(a) (1) Financial Statcments: Sce Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10.K.

(?) Financial Statement Schedule required hy Part 1T, Ttem 8 is included in Trem 8:

Schedule 1T - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018

(3) Exhibits: See the Exhibit Index below and incorporated by reference herein.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.

75

Page No.




Table of Contents

Exhibit Index

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by refercnce to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1/A (Mo.
333-34679), filed October 29, 1997)

3.2 Amendment to Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incarporated by reference to the Company’s Registration Statement on
Form S-8 (No. 333-129748), filed November 16, 2005)

3.3 Amendment to Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Droxy Statement on Schedule
14A (No. 001-13459), filed April 28, 2006)

3.4 Amendment to Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation_(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q (No. 001-13459), filed August 3, 2017)

3.5 Amecnded and Restated Dy-laws (incorporated by reference to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (No. 001-13459), filed July 31,
2020)

4.1. Specimen certificate for chares of common stock of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10 I{

4.2 Amended and Restated Declaration of Trust of AMG Capital Trust IT, dated as of October 17, 2007, by and among Affiliated Managers
Group, Inc., U.S. Bank National Association. successor in interest (0 Bank of America National Trust Delaware, successor by merger to
LaSalle National Trust Delaware, ag Delaware Trustee, U.S. Bank National Association, successor in interest to Bank of America, N.A..
successor by merger to LaSalle Bank Mational Association. as Property Trustee and Institutional Administrator, and the holders from time to

time of undivided beneficial interests in the asscts of AMG Capital Trust IT (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on

4.3 Indenture, dated as of October 17, 2007, by and between Affiliated Managers Croup, Inc. and U.S. Bank Mational Association, successor in
interest to Bank of America, N.A., successor by merger to LaSalle Bank National Association, as Debenture Trustee (incorporated by

reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (No. 001-13459), filed October 18, 2007)

4.4 First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of January 10, 2014, by_and between Affiliated Managers Group, Inc. and U.S. Bank National
Association, successor in interest to Bank of America, N.A., successor by merger to LaSalle Banl: Mational Association, as Debenture Trustee
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013 (No. 001-13459),
filed February 27, 2014) .

4.5 Guarantee Agreement, dated as of October 17, 2007, by and between Affiliated Managers Croup, Inc. and U.S; Bank National Association
successor in interest to Bank of America, N.A.. successor by_merger to LaSalle Bank National Association, as Guarantee Trustee

(incorporated by _reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (No. 001-13459), filed October 18, 2007)
4.6 Indenture, dated as of February 11, 2014, by and beoween Affiliated Managers Group, Inc. and U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee

(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (No. 001-13459), filed February 11, 2014)

4.7 Supplemental Tndenwire related to the 4.250%¢ Scnior Notes duc 2024, dated as of February 11, 2014, by and between A ffiliated Managers
Group, Inc. and U.S, Bank National Association. as Trustee, including the form of Global Mote attached as Annex A thereto (incorporated by,
reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (No. 001-13459), filed February 11, 2014), .

1.8 Sccond Supplemental Indenture related to the 3.500% Senior Notes duce 2025, dated as of February 13, 2015, by and between Affiliated
Managers Croup; Inc. and U.S. Banl: National Association, as Trustee, including the form of Global Mote attached as Annex A thereto
(incorporated by _reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (No. 001-13459), filed February 13, 2015)

4.9 Indenture, dated as of March 27, 2019, by and between Affiliated Managers Group, Inc., as issuer, and U.S. Bank National Association, as
trustee (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Formn 8-K (No. 001-13459), filed March 27, 2019)

1.10 First Supplemental Indenture related to the 5.87594 Junior Subordinated Notes due 2059, dated as of March 27, 2019, berween Affiliated

thereto (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Fonn 8-K (No. 001-13459), filed March 27, 2019)

4.11 Second Supplemental Indenture related_to the 4.750% Junior Subordinated Notes due 2060, dated as of September 23, 2020, between
Affiliated Managers Group. Inc;; as issuer;_and U.S. Bank Mational Association, as trustee, including the fonm of Global Mote attached as
Annex A_thereto (incorporated by reference to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K (No. 001-13459), filed September 23, 2020),

4.12 Indenture for Senior Notes between Affiliated Managers Group, Inc.. as issuer, and U.S. Bank Mational Association, as trustee. dated as of
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1.13 First Supplemental Tndenture related to the 3.300% Scnior Motes duc 2030, dated as of Junc &, 2020, between Affiliated Managers Group,
Inc.. as issuer, and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee, including the form of Global Note aitached as Annex A thereto (incorporated
by reference to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K (No. 001-13459), filed June 5, 2020),

4.14 Description of Registrant’s Securities*
10.11 Affiliated Managers Group, Inc. Defined Contribution Plan (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Annual Report on Forin 10-K for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 1999 (No. 001-13459), filed March 30, 2000) :

(No. 001-13459), filed April 29, 2015)
10.3t Affiliated Managers Group, Inc. Amended and Restated 1997 Stock Qption and Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to the Company’s

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (No. 001-13459), filed May_10. 2004)

10.71 Affiliated Managers Group, Inc. 2006 Stock Option and Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Proxy_Statement on
Schedule 14A (No. 001-13459), filed April 28, 2006)

10.23t1 Form of Award Agreement pursuant to Affiliated Managers Group, Inc. Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K (No. 001-13459), filed February 28, 2020)

10.241 Form of Award Agreement pursuant to Affiliated Managers Group, Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan (incorporated by _reference to the
Company’s Annual Reporit on Form_10-K (No. 001-13459), filed February 28, 2020)
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10.25t Form of Affiliated Managers Group, Inc. Award Agreement (incorparated by reference to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10K for
the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013 (No. 001-13459), filed February 27, 2014)

10.261 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement pursuant to Affiliated Managers Group, Inc. 2020 Equity_Incentive Plan*

10.27+ Corm of Restricted Stocl Unit Award Agreement for Directors pursuant to Affiliated Managers Croup, Inc. 2020 Equity Incentive Plan
(incorporated by reference to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (No. 001-13459), filed July_31, 2020)

10.281 Form of Stock Option Award Agreement pursuant to Affiliated Managers Group, Inc. 2020 Equity Incentive Plan*

10.29t1 Form of Stocl Option Award Agreement for Directors pursuant to Affiliated Managers Group, Inc. 2020 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated
by_reference to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (No. 001-13459), filed July 31, 2020)

10.30t Eorm of Tudemnificativii Agreement eiitered futo by each Director and Executive Officer (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Ainual

Report on Fonn 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 20110 (No. 001-13459). filed March 1, 2011)

10.321 Agreement, dated as of May 15, 2020, by and between Affiliated Managers Croup, Inc. and Hugh T B. Cutler (incorporated by reference to

the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (No. 001-13459), tiled July 31, 2020)

10.331 Annual Director Compensation*

10.34 Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of January 1.8, 2019, by and among Affiliated Managers Group, Inc., Bank of America,
N.A., as adininistiative agent, Jetter of credit issuer and swinglive leader, and the otier lending institutions fiom e to time paty theety,
and the exhibits and schedules thereto (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (No. 001-13459), filed
January 22, 2019) ,

10.35 Third Aimended and Restated Term Credit Agreement, dated as of January 18, 2019, by and among Affiliated Manapers Group, Inc., Banlk of
America, N.A., a5 administrative agent, and the other lending institutions from time to time party thereto, and the exhibits and schedules
thereto (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (No. 001-13459), filed January 22, 2019)

10.36 First Amendment to Third Amended and Restated Term Credit Agreement, dated as of January 8, 2021, among Affiliated Managers Group,
Inc.. a5 borrower, Banl: of America, N.A., as administrative agent, and the lenders party thereto (incorporated by reference to the Company's
Current Report on Form 8-K (No. 001-13459), filed January 8, 2021)

10.37 Form of Equity Distribution Agreement; dated as of March 27, 2019 (incorporated by reference o the Company’s Current Report on Form 8
K (No. 001-13459), filed March 27, 2019)

10.38 Tuiiu of Masier Cuinfivination Letiei Agrecmeint, dated as of March 27, 2019 (incoiporated by refercinec to the Company’s Current Repott on
Form 8-K (No. 001-13459), filed March 27, 2019)

21.1 Schedule of Subsidiaries*

23.1 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP* .

31.1 Certification of Registrant’s Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002*
31.2 Certification of Registrant’s Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002*
32.1 Certification of Registrant’s Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002**
32.2 Certification of Registrant’s Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002**

104 The following [nancial swatemens frou tie Registrancs Annual Reporcou Forin 10-K for the fiscal yew ended December 31, 2020 are filed
herewith, formatted in XBRL (Inline eXtensible Business Reporting Language): (i) the Consolidated Statements of Income for the years
ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, (ii) the Consnlidated Ralance Sheets as of December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, (iii) the
Consnlidated Sratement of Equiry far the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, (iv) the Consalidated Statements of Cash Flows
for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, and (v) the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

104 Tlhie cover page from the Registiant’s Aniual Repoit oin Forin 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020, formatted in XBRL (Inline
eXtensible Business Reporting Language) and contained in Exhibit 101

T Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan
* Filed herewith
** Furnished herewith
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on
its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUP, INC.
(Registrant)

Date: February 19, 2021 By: /s/JAY C. HORGEN

Jay C. Horgen
President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
Signature Title Date

/s/ JAY C. HORGEN President, Chief Executive Officer February 19, 2021
(Principal Executive Officer) and Director

Jay C. Horgen

/s/ THOMAS M. WOJCIK Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and February 19, 2021
Principal
Thomas M. Wojcik Accounting Officer)
/s/ KAREN L. ALVINGHAM Director February 19, 2021.
Karen L. Alvingham )
/s/ TRACY A. ATKINSON - .Director February 19, 2021
Tracy A. Atkinson
/s/ DWIGHT D. CHURCHILL Director February 19, 2021
Dwight D. Churchill
/s/ REUBEN JEFFERY III ’ Director ~ February 19, 2021
Reuben Jeffery IIT
/s/ FELIX V. MATOS RODRIGUEZ Director ' ’ February 19, 2021
Felix V. Matos Rodriguez ’
/s/ TRACY P. PALANDJIAN Director - February 19, 2021

Tracy P. Palandjian
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Exhibit 4.14

DESCRIPTION OF THE REGISTRANT’S SECURITIES
REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12 OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

Affiliated Managers Group, Inc. (“AMG”, “we”, “us” or “our”) has three classes of securities registered under Section
12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”): (i) common stock, par value $0.01 per share
(“commion stuck™), (ii) 5.875%6 Juniot Subuidinated Notes due 2059 (ihe “2059 Junior Subordinated Noutes™) and (iii) 4.750%
Junior Subordinated Notes due 2060 (the “2060 Junior Suburdinated Notes” and wgether witl the 2059 Junior Subordinated
Notes, the “Notes”).

DESCRIPTION OF COMMON STOCK

The following is a summary description of certain material terms and provisions of our common stock, and may not contain
all the information that is important to you. Therefore, we encourage you to read our charter, our by-laws and applicable
provisions of the Delaware General Corporation Law for additional information related to our common stock.

General

Under our charter, we currently have authority to issue up to 150,000,000 shares of common stock, and up to 3,000,000
shares of Class B non-voting common stock, par value $0.01 per share (“Class B non- voting common stock™). Under Delaware
law, stockholders generally are not responsible for our debts or obligations. No shares of Class B non-voting common stock are
currently issued and outstanding. All shares of common stock currently outstanding are duly authorized, fully paid and
nonassessable. Our common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “AMG”.

Dividends

Subject to preferential rights of any other class or series of stock, holders of common stock and Class B non-voting
common stock may receive dividends out of assets that we can legally use to pay dividends, when, as and if they are declared by
our board of directors, with each chare of common stock and each share of Class B non voting common stock sharing equally in
such dividends (with each share of Class B non-voting common stock being equal to the number of shares of common stock into
which it would then be convertible). If dividends are declared that are payable in shares of common stock or shares of Class B
non-voting common 3tock, such dividends will be declared payable at the same rate in both classes of stock and the dividends
payahle in shares nf commaon stock will be payable ro the halders of shares of common stock, and the dividends payable in shares
of Class B non-voting common stock will be payable to the holders of shares of Class B non-voting common stock.

Voting Rights

Holders of common stock will have the exclnsive power fo vote on all matters presented to our stockholders, including the
clection of dircctors, cxcept as otherwise required by Delaware law or as provided with respect to any other class or sevies of
stock. Holders of common stock are entitled to one vate per share. There is no cumulative voting in the election of our directars,
which means that, subject to any rights to elect directors that are granted to the holders of any class or series of preferred stock, a
majority of the votes cast at a meeting of stockholders at which a quorum is present is required to elect a director in an
uncontested election. -



Liquidation/Dissolution Rights

Subject to the preferential rights of any other class or series of stock, holders of shares of our common stock and Class B
non-voting common stock shall be entitled to share ratably in the remaining assets available for distribution in the event we are
liquidated, dissolved or our affairs are wound up after we pay or make adequate provision for all of our known debts and
liabilities (with each share of Class B non-voting common stock being equal to the number of shares of common stock into which
it would then be convertible).

Other Rights

Subject to the preferential rights of any other class or series of stock, all shares of common stock have equal dividend,
distribution, liquidation and other rights, and have no preference, appraisal or exchange rights, except for any appraisal rights
provided by Delaware law. Furthermore, holders of shares of our common stock have no conversion, sinking fund or redemption
rights, or preemptive rights to subscribe for any of our securities, other than the conversion rights afforded to the holders of our
Class B non-voting common stock that are described below.

Anti-Takcover Provisions of our Charter, our By-Laws and Delaware Law

Under Delaware law, a corporation generally cannot dissolve, amend its charter, merge, sell all or substantially all of its
assets, engage in a share exchange or engage in similar transactions outside the ordinary course of business unless approved by
the affirmative vote of stockholders holding a majority of the shares entitled to vote on the matter, unless a different percentage is
set forth in the corporation’s charter, which percentage will not in any event be less than a majority of all of the shares entitled to
vote on such matter. Our charter provides that whenever any vote of the holders of voting stock is required to amend or repeal
any provision of the charter, then in addition to any other vote of the holders of voting stock that is required by the charter or by-
laws, the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of our outstanding shares of stock entitled to vote on such amendment or
repeal, voting together as a single class, is required. However, with respect to the amendment or repeal of any of the provisions of
our charter relating to stockholder action without an annual or special meeting, the election, term or removal of directors,
vacancies on the board of directors, or the limitation of liability of directors, the affirmative.vote of the holders of at least eighty
percent (80%) of our outstanding shares of stock entitled to vote on such amendment or repeal, voting together as a single class,
will be required. '

Rights of Class B Non-Voting Common Stock

The holders of our Class B non-voting common stock generally have the same rights and privileges as holders of our
common stock, except that holders of Class B non-voting common stock do not have any voting rights other than those which
may be provided under our charter or applicable law. Each share of Class B non-voting common stock is convertible, at the
option of the holder, into one share of common stock; provided, that such conversion is not inconsistent with any regulation, rule
or other requirement of any governmental authority applicable to the holder.

To the extent the holders of Class B non-voting common stock are entitled to vote under our charter or applicable law, such
holders shall vote together as a single class with the holders of common stock, except as required by law.



Transfer Agent
The transfer agent and registrar for our common stock is Computershare Trust Company, N.A.
DESCRIPTION OF JUNIOR SUBORDINATED NOTES

~ The following is a summary description of certain material terms and provisions of the 2059 Junior Subordinated Notes and
the 2060 Junior Subordinated Notes, and may not contain all the information that is important to you. Therefore, you should read
the Junior Subordinated Notes Indenture, dated as of March 27, 2019 (the “Base Indenture™), as supplemented by the First
Supplemental Indenture, dated as of March 27, 2019 (together with the Base Indenture, the “2059 Junior Subordinated Notes
Indenture”), and the Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of September 23, 2020 (together with the Base Indenture, the
2060 Junior Subordinated Notes Indenture” and together with the 2059 Junior Subordinated Notes Indenture, the “Junior
Subordinated Indentures”), in each case, between AMG and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (the “Trustee”) , and the
forms of certificates evidencing each series of Notes, for additional information related to the Notes.

General

The 2059 Junior Subordinated Notes are a series of junior subordinated notes issued under the 2059 Junior Subordinated
Indenture, and the 2060 Junior Subordinated Notes are a series of junior subordinated notes issued under the 2060 Junior
Subordinated Indenture. The material terms and provisions of each such series of Notes are the same, except for the principal
amounts, interest rates, maturity dates and other relevant dates, as described below.

The 2059 Junior Subordinated Notes were initially issued in the aggregate principal amount of $280.0 million. An
additional $20.0 million of 2059 Junior Subordinated Notes was subsequently issued pursuant to the underwriters’ exercise of an
overallotment option, increasing the total amount of 2059 Junior Subordinated Notes issued to $300.0 million, which remains the
aggregate principal amount outstanding. The 2060 Junior Subordinated Notes were initially issued in the aggregate principal
amount of $250.0 million. An additional $25.0 million of 2060 Junior Subordinated Notes was subsequently issued pursuant to
the underwriters’ exercise of an overallotment option, increasing the total amount of 2060 Junior Subordinated Notes issued to
$275.0 million, which remains the aggregate principal amount outstanding.

The Junior Subordinated Tndentures do not limit the aggregate principal amount of junior subordinated notes that may be
issued under the Junior Subordinated Indentures and provide that junior subordinated notes may be issued from time to time in
one or more series pursuant to an additional supplemental indenture. We may, at any time and without the consent of the holders
of the 2059 Junior Subordinated Notes or the 2060 Junior Subordinated Notes, issue additional notes having the same ranking
and the same interest rate, maturity and other terms as such Notes (except for the public offering price and issue date and the
initial interest accrual date and initial Interest Payment Date (as defined below), if applicable). Any additional notes having such
similar terms, together with the 2059 Junior Subordinated Notes or the 2060 Junior Subordinated Notes, as the case may be, will
constitute a single series of junior subordinated notes under the applicable indenture; provided that if such additional notes are
not fungible with the applicable series of outstanding Notes for U.S. federal income tax purposes, then they will be issued under a
separate CUSIP number.



The Junior Subordinated Indentures do not contain provisions that afford holders of the Notes protection in the event of a
highly leveraged transaction involving us.

Unless earlier redeemed, the entire principal amount of the applicable series of Notes will mature and become due and
payable, together with any accrued and unpaid interest thereon, on March 30, 2059, in the case of the 2059 Junior Subordinated
Notes, and on September 30, 2060, in the case of the 2060 Junior Subordinated Notes. The Notes are not subject to any sinking
fund provision. The Notes are available for purchase in denominations of $25.00 and integral multiples of $25.00 in excess
thereof.

The 2059 Junior Subordinated Notes are listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “MGR?”, and the 2060
Junior Subordinated Notes are listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “MGRB”.

Interest

Each 2059 Junior Subordinated Note bears interest at the fixed rate of 5.875% per annum (the “2059 Notes Securities
Rate”) from the date of original issuance, and each 2060 Junior Subordinated Note bears interest at the fixed rate of 4.750% per
annum (the “2060 Notes Securities Rate”). Subject to our right to defer interest payments as described below, interest on the
Notes will be payable quarterly in arrears on March 30, June 30, September 30 and December 30 of each year (each, an “Interest
Payment Date”) to the person in whose name such Note is registered at the close of business (i) on the Business Day immediately
preceding such Interest Payment Date if the Notes are in book-entry only form or (ii) on the 15th calendar day preceding such
Interest Payment Date if the Notes are not in book-entry only form (whether or not a Business Day). The initial Interest Payment
Date was June 30, 2019, in the case of the 2059 Junior Subordinated Notes, and was December 30, 2020, in the case of the 2060
Junior Subordinated Notes. The amount of interest payable will be computed on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day
months. In the event that any date on which interest is payable on the Notes is not a Business Day, then payment of the interest
payable on such date will be made on the next succeeding day which is a Business Day (and without any interest or other
payment in respect of any such delay), with the same force and effect as if made on such date. “Business Day” means each
Monday, Tuesday, Wednesday, Thursday and Friday which is not a day on which banking institutions in The City of New York
are authorized or obligated by law or executive order to close or be closed.

Option to Defer Interest Payments

At our option, we may, on one or more occasions, defer payment of all or part of the current and accrued interest otherwise
due on the 2059 Junior Subordinated Notes and/or the 2060 Junior Subordinated Notes by extending the interest payment period
for up to 20 consecutive quarterly periods (each period, commencing on the date that the first such interest payment would
otherwise have been made, an “Optional Deferral Period”). A deferral of interest payments may not extend beyond the maturity
date of the applicable series of Notes or end on a day other than an Interest Payment Date. Any deferred interest on the applicable
Notes will accrue Additional Interest at the applicable Securities Rate from the applicable Interest Payment Date to the date of
payment, compounded quarterly (such deferred interest and additional interest accrued thereon, “Additional Interest”), to the
extent permitted under applicable law. No interest will be due and payable on the applicable Notes until the end of an Optional
Deferral Period, except upon a redemption of such Notes during such Optional Deferral Period.



At the end of an Optional Deferral Period or on any redemption date, we will be obligated to pay all accrued and unpaid
interest, including any Additional Interest, on the applicable series of Notes. Once we pay all accrued and unpaid interest
payments on the applicable Notes, including any Additional Tnterest, we can again defer interest payments on such Notes as
described above, but not beyond the maturity date of the applicable series of Notes.

We are required to provide to the Trustee written notice of any optional deferral of interest at least 10 and not more than 60
Business Days prior to the earlier of (1) the next applicable Interest Payment Date or (2) the date, if any, upon which it is required
to give notice of such Interest Payment Date or the record date therefor to the New York Stock Exchange or any applicable self-
regulatory organization. In addition, we are required to deliver to the Trustee an officers’ certificate stating that no Default or
Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing. Subject to receipt of the officers’ certificate, the Trustee is required to
promptly forward such notice to each holder of record of the applicable Notes.

Certain Limitations During an Optional Deferral Period
During an Optional Deferral Period, subject to the exceptions noted below, we shall not:

o declare or pay any dividend or make any distributions, or redeem, purchase, acquire or make a liquidation
payment with respect to, any of our capital stock, or

- make any payment of interest on, principal of or premium, if any, on or repay, repurchase or redeem any debt
securities (including guarantees) issued by us which rank equally (“pari passu securities” including, in the case of
the 2060 Junior Subordinated Notes, the 2059 Junior Subordinated Notes) or junior (“junior securities”), in each
case, in right of payment to the Notes.

None of the foregoing, however, shall restrict:

o any of the actions described in the preceding sentence resulting from any reclassification of our capital stock or the
exchange or conversion of one class or series of our capital stock for another class or series of our capital stock;

o the purchase of fractional interests in shares of our capital stock pursuant to an acquisition or the conversion or
exchange provisions of such capital stock or the security being converted or exchanged;

o dividends, payments or distributions payable in shares of capital stock or warrants, options or rights to acquire our
capital stock;

o redemptions, purchases or other acquisitions of shares of capital stock in connection with any employment
contract, incentive plan, benefit plan or other similar arrangement of ours or any of our subsidiaries or in
connection with a dividend reinvestment or stock purchase plan;

o any declaration of a dividend in connection with implementation of any stockholders’ rights plan, or the issuance
of rights, stock or other property under any such plan, or the redemption, repurchase or other acquisition of any
such rights pursuant thereto;

 an administrative action, which means any judicial decision or any official administrative pronouncement, ruling,
regulatory procedure, notice or announcement including any notice or announcement of intent to issue or adopt
any administrative pronouncement, ruling, regulatory procedure or regulation;

> any amendment to, clarification of, or change in the official position or the interpretation of any administrative
action or judicial decision or any interpretation or pronouncement that
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all amounts due or to become due on or in respect of all senior indebtedness before the holders of the Notes are entitled to receive
or retain any payment or distribution. Subject to the prior payment of all senior indebtedness, the rights of the holders of the
Notes will be subrogated to the rights of the holders of senior indebtedness to receive payments and distributions applicable to
such senior indebtedness until all amounts owing on the Notes are paid in full.

The term “senior indebtedness” means, with respect to us, (i) any payment due in respect of our indebtedness, whether
outstanding at the date of execution of the 2059 Junior Subordinated Notes Indenture or the 2060 Junior Subordinated Notes
Indentures, as the case may be, or thereafter incurred, created, or assumed after such date, (a) in respect of money borrowed or
(b) evidenced by securities, debentures, bonds, notes or other similar instruments issued by us that, by their terms, are senior or
senior subordinated debt securities including, without limitation, all such obligations under our indentures with various trustees;
(ii) all obligations in respect of any financial derivative, hedging or futures contract or similar instrument; (iii) all capitalized
lease obligations; (iv) all obligations issued or assumed as the deferred purchase price of property, all conditional sale obligations
and all of our obligations under any title retention agreement (but excluding trade accounts payable arising in the ordinary course
of business and long-term purchase obligations); (v) all obligations for the reimbursement of any letter of credit, banker’s
acceptance, security purchase facility or similar credit transaction; (vi) all obligations of the type referred to in clauses (i) through
(v) above of other persons the payment of which we are responsible or liable as obligor, guarantor or otherwise; and (vii) all
obligations of the type referred to in clauses (i) through (vi) above of other persons secured by any lien on any of our properties
or assets (whether or not such obligation is assumed by us), except for (1) any such indebtedness that is by its terms subordinated
to or that ranks equally with the Notes, (2) obligations to trade creditors and (3) any unsecured indebtedness between or among us
or our subsidiaries. Such senior indebtedness shall continue to be senior indebtedness and be entitled to the benefits of the
subordination provisions contained in the Junior Subordinated Tndenture irrespective of any amendment, modification or waiver
of any term of such senior indebtedness.

The Junior Subordinated Indentures do not limit the aggregate amount of senior indebtedness that we may issue. Our right,
and, hence, the right of any of our creditors (including holders of the Notes) to participate in any distribution of the assets of any
subsidiary or Affiliate, whether upon liquidation, reorganization or otherwise, is subject to prior claims of creditors and preferred
and preferences stockholders of each subsidiary.

Events of Default

An “Event of Default” with respect to the Notes shall occur only upon certain events of bankruptcy, insolvency or
reorganization involving us.

If an Event of Default occurs, the principal of and accrued interest (including Additional Tnterest) on each series of Notes
shall be immediately due and payable without declaration or other act on the part of the Trustee of any holder of the Notes.

With respect to each series of Notes, and for purposes of the immediately succeeding paragraph, the term “Default” means
the following events: (a) default in the payment of any interest upon any of the Notes when due and payable on an interest
payment date other than at maturity, including Additional Interest in respect thereof, and continuance of such default for a period
of 30 days; provided, however, that a valid extension of the interest payment period by us pursuant to the terms of the applicable
Junior Subordinated Indenture shall not constitute a default in the payment of interest for this purpose, (b) default in the payment



of the principal of (or premium, if any), or interest (including Additional Interest) on, the Notes when due and payable at maturity
or earlier redemption or (c) default in the performance or breach of any covenant or warranty of AMG in the Junior Subordinated
Indentures (other than a covenant or warranty a default in whose performance or whose breach is addressed in clause (a) or (b),
and continuance of such default or breach for a period of 90 days after there has been given, by registered or certified mail, to us
by the Trustee, or to us and the Trustee by the holders of at least 25% in principal amount of the outstanding Notes.

Upon the occurrence and continuance of a Default, the Trustee and the holders of the Notes will have the same rights and
remedies, and will be subject to the same limitations, restrictions, protections and exculpations, and we will be subject to the
same obligations and restrictions, in each case, as would apply if such Default was an Event of Default or an event which after
notice or lapse of time or both would become an Event of Default; provided that the principal of and accrued interest (including
Additional Interest) on the Notes may not be declared immediately due and payable by reason of the occurrence and continuation
of a Default, and any notice of declaration or acceleration based on such Default will be null and void with respect to the Notes;
provided, further, that in case a Default has occurred and is continuing, the Trustee will not be subject to the requirement to
exercise, with respect to the Notes, the same degree of care as a prudent individual would exercise in the conduct of his or her
own affairs, unless an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing.

The Junior Subordinated Indentures provide that if there occurs a Default specified in clauses (a) or (b) of the second
preceding paragraph, the Trustee or the holder of the Notes may or, if directed by the holders of a majority in principal amount of
the Notes then outstanding, the Trustee shall, subject to the provisions of the applicable Junior Subordinated Indenture, demand
payment of the amount then due and payable and may institute judicial proceedings for the collection of such amount if we fail to
make payment thereof upon demand.

The holders of not less than a majority in aggregate outstanding principal amount of each series of Notes may, on behalf of
the holders of all of such Notes, waive any past Default with respect to such Notes, except (i) a default in the payment of
principal or interest (including Additional Interest) or (ii) a default in respect of a covenant or provision which under Article 10
of each Junior Subordinated Indenture cannot be modified or amended without the consent of the holders of the applicable
outstanding Notes.

Agreement by Holders to Certain Tax Treatment

Each holder of each series of Notes will, by accepting the Notes or a beneficial interest therein, be deemed to have agreed
that the holder intends that the Notes constitute debt and will treat the Notes as debt for U.S. federal, state and local tax purposes.

Defeasance

Covenant Defeasance. Under current U.S. federal tax law, we are able to make the deposit described below and be released
from some of the restrictive covenants in the Junior Subordinated Indentures. This is called “covenant defeasance.” In that event,
the holder would lose their protection of those restrictive covenants but would gain the protection of having money and
government securities set aside in trust to repay their Notes. In order to achieve covenant defeasance, we must do the following:

o Deposit in trust for the benefit of all holders of each series of Notes a combination of money and government or
government agency debt securities or bonds in U.S. dollars that will



generate enough cash to make interest, principal and any other payments on the Notes in U.S. dollars on their
various due dates.

> Deliver to the Trustee a legal opinion of our counsel confirming that, under current U.S. federal income tax law,
we may make the above deposit without causing holders to be taxed on the Notes any differently than if we did not
make the deposit and just repaid the Notes ourselves at maturity.

If we accomplish covenant defeasance, holders can still look to us for repayment of the Notes if there were a shortfall in the
trust deposit or the Trustee is prevented from making payment. In fact, if one of the remaining Events of Default occurred (such
as our bankruptcy) and the Notes became immediately due and payable, there might be a shortfall. Depending on the event
causing the Default, holders may not be able to obtain payment of the shortfall.

Full Defeasance. If there is a change in U.S. federal tax law, as described below, we can legally release ourselves from all
payment and other obligations on the Notes (called “full defeasance”) if we put in place the following other arrangements for
holders to be repaid:

o We must deposit in trust for the benefit of all holders of the Notes a combination of money and government or
government agency debt securities or bonds in U.S. dollars that will generate enough cash to make interest,
principal and any other payments on the Notes in U.S. dollars on their various due dates.

o We must deliver to the Trustee a legal opinion confirming that there has been a change in current U.S. federal tax
law or an TRS ruling that allows us to make the above deposit without causing you to be taxed on the Notes any
differently than if we did not make the deposit and just repaid the Notes ourselves at maturity. Under current U.S.
federal tax law, the deposit and our legal release from the Notes would be treated as though we paid holders their
share of the cash and the debt securities or bonds at the time the cash and the debt securities or bonds were
deposited in trust in exchange for holders’ Notes and holders would recognize gain or loss on their Notes at the
time of the deposit.

If we ever did accomplish full defeasance, as described above, holders would have to rely solely on the trust deposit for
repayment of the Notes. Holders could not look to us for repayment in the unlikely event of any shortfall. Conversely, the trust
deposit would most likely be protected from claims of our lenders and other creditors if we ever became bankrupt or insolvent.

Covenant defeasance and full defeasance are both subject to certain conditions, such as no Default or Event of Default
occurring and continuing, and that such defeasance does not result in a breach or violation of, constitute a default under, any
material agreement or instrument (other than the Junior Subordinated Indenture) to which we, or any of our subsidiaries, are a
party or bound.

Discharge of the Junior Subordinated Indenture

We may satisfy and discharge our obligations under each Junior Subordinated Indenture with respect to the applicable
Notes by delivering to the Trustee for cancellation all outstanding applicable Notes or by depositing with the Trustee or the
Paying Agent in respect of such Notes that have either become due and payable, will become due and payable within one year or
are scheduled for redemption or repayment within one year, cash sufficient to pay all of the outstanding Notes and paying all
other sums payable under the applicable Junior Subordinated Indenture.



Registration and Transfer

We are not required to (i) issue, register the transfer of or exchange the Notes during a period of 15 days immediately
preceding the date notice is given identifying the Notes called for redemption or issue, register the transfer of or exchange any
Notes so selected for redemption, in whole or in part, except the unredeemed portion of any Note being redeemed in part.

Payment and Paying Agent

Payment of principal will be made only against surrender to the Paying Agent of the Notes. Principal of and interest on the
Notes will be payable, subject to any applicable laws and regulations, at the office of such Paying Agent or Paying Agents as we
may designate from time to time, except that, at our option, payment of any interest may be made by wire transfer or other
electronic transfer or by check mailed to the address of the person entitled to an interest payment as such address shall appear in
the Security Register with respect to the Notes. Payment of interest on the Notes on any interest payment date will be made to the
person in whose name the Notes (or predecessor security) are registered at the close of business on the record date for such
interest payment.

The Trustee will act as Paying Agent with respect to the Notes. We may at any time designate additional Paying Agents or
rescind the designation of any Paying Agents or approve a change in the office through which any Paying Agent acts.

All moneys paid by us to a Paying Agent for the payment of the principal of or interest on the Notes which remain
unclaimed at the end of two years after such principal or interest shall have become due and payable will be repaid to us, and the
holder of the Notes will from that time forward look only to us for payment of such principal and interest.

Modification

Subject to certain exceptions, the Junior Subordinated Indentures or the Notes may be amended with the consent of the
holders of at least a majority in principal amount of the applicable series of Notes then outstanding (including, without limitation,
consents obtained in connection with a purchase of, or tender offer or exchange offer for, Notes) and, subject to certain
exceptions, any past default or compliance with any provisions may be waived with the consent of the holders of at least a
majority in principal amount of the applicable Notes then outstanding (including, without limitation, consents obtained in
connection with a purchase of, or tender offer or exchange offer for, Notes). However, without the consent of each holder of an
outstanding Note affected, no amendment may, among other things:

o+ reduce the percentage in aggregate principal amount of Notes whose holders must consent to an amendment of the
applicable Junior Subordinated Indenture or to waive any past default;

> reduce the rate of or change the stated time for payment of interest on any Note;

- reduce the principal of or change the stated maturity of any Note;

o reduce the redemption price of any note or adversely affect a right of repayment with respect to any Note that is at
such holder’s option;

= make any note payable in a currency, or at a place, other than that stated in the Note;

= change the ranking of the Notes in a manner that is adverse to the holders of the Notes;
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- impair the right of any holder to institute suit for the enforcement of any payment on or with respect to such
holder’s Notes on or after their maturity date or, in the case of redemption, on or after their redemption date;

> make any change in the amendment provisions which require each holder’s consent or in the waiver provisions of
the applicable Junior Subordinated Indenture; or

o modify the provisions of the applicable Junior Subordinated Indenture with respect to the subordination of the
Notes in a manner materially adverse to such holder.

Notwithstanding the provisions described above, without the consent of any holder, we and the Trustee may amend each
Junior Subordinated Indenture to:

> cure any ambiguity, omission, defect or inconsistency in the applicable Junior Subordinated Indenture;

» provide for the assumption by a successor person of our obligations under the applicable Junior Subordinated
Indenture as described below under the heading “-Consolidation, Merger, Sale or Conveyance”;

o add guarantees with respect to the Notes;

o secure the Notes;

> add to our covenants for the benefit of the holders or surrender any right or power conferred upon us;

= add to the Events of Default with respect to the Notes;

- facilitate the issuance of new Notes;

= make any change that does not adversely affect the rights of any holder;

 to change or eliminate any of the provisions of the applicable Junior Subordinated Indenture with respect to the
Notes that have not yet been issued under such Junior Subordinated Indenture;

o provide for a successor trustee;

> comply with any requirement of the Securities and Exchange Commission in connection with the qualification of
the applicable Junior Subordinated Indenture under the Trust Indenture Act;

» to make any change to Article 12 of the applicable Junior Subordinated Indenture that would limit or terminate the
benefits to any holder of senior indebtedness under such Article; or

o to conform the terms of the applicable Junior Subordinated Indenture or the Notes to the description thereof in this
prospectus supplement.

The consent of the holders is not necessary under the Junior Subordinated Indenture to approve the particular form of any
proposed amendment. It is sufficient if such consent approves the substance of the proposed amendment.

Consolidation, Merger, Sale or Conveyance

The Junior Subordinated Indentures provide that we shall not consolidate with or merge with or into, or convey, transfer or
lease all or substantially all of our properties and assets to, another person (in a transaction in which we are not the surviving
entity) unless (1) the resulting, surviving or transferee person (in a transaction in which we are not the surviving entity) is an
entity organized and existing under the laws of the United States of America, any state thereof or the District of Columbia, and
such person expressly assumes by supplemental indenture all of our obligations under each series of Notes and the Junior
Subordinated Indentures; and (2) immediately after giving effect to such transaction, no Event of Default has occurred and is
continuing under the Junior Subordinated Indentures. Upon any such consolidation, merger or transfer, the resulting, surviving or
transferee person (in a transaction in which we are not the surviving
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entity) shall succeed to, and may exercise every right and power of, AMG under the Junior Subordinated Indentures.

This covenant will not apply to any consolidation or merger, or any sale, assignment, transfer, conveyance, lease or other
disposition of assets, between or among us and our subsidiaries.

Trustee
U.S. Bank National Association is the Trustee, Security Registrar and Paying Agent..

Applicable Law

The Notes and the Junior Subordinated Indentures are governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State
of New York. '
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Exhibit 10.26

RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AWARD AGREEMENT
PURSUANT TO AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUP, INC.
2020 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN

Pursuant to the Affiliated Managers Group, Inc. 2020 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended and/or restated from time to time
(the “Plan”), and subject to the terms of this agreement (the “Agreement”), Affiliated Managers Group, Inc. (the “Company”)
hereby grants to the grantee named on Exhibit A hereto (the “Grantee”) an Award (the “Award”) of restricted stock units (each a
“Unit,” and together, the “Units”), consisting of the right to receive a distribution of the number of shares of common stock, par
value $0.01 per share, of the Company (the “Shares”) specified on Exhibit A, to be issued and distributed to the Grantee
according to the terms set forth herein and in the Plan, and the vesting schedule and performance requirements (if any) set forth
herein.

1. Vesting and Performance Measure.

a. Vesting. Except as set forth below, and subject to the discretion of the Administrator to accelerate the
vesting schedule, the Units shall vest in the amounts and on the dates indicated on Exhibit A; provided that, Grantee’s
Employment is through the applicable vesting date or this Award qualifies as a Retirement Eligible Award, in each case, as set
forth on Exhibit A. Tn addition, if this Award is subject to a Performance Measure (but not otherwise), Section 1(b) shall apply.
For the avoidance of doubt, the vesting of the Award may be accelerated automatically in certain circumstances described herein.

b. Performance Measure. If this Award is subject to a Performance Measure (as defined herein), the Shares
subject to this Award shall be issued and distributed only if the Units have vested in accordance with Section 1(a) and the
Compensation Committee has certified the attainment of the Performance Measure with respect to all or any portion thereof; it
being understood that if vesting of the Units is accelerated pursuant to Sections 1(c)(y) or 3(a)(ii) hereof, such vested Units shall
remain subject to the attainment of the Performance Measure and no Shares shall be issued and distributed in respect of such
Units unless and until the Compensation Committee has certified that the Performance Measure has been attained. If such
Performance Measure remains in effect and the Compensation Committee certifies that it has not been attained with respect to all
or any portion of the Units (including any Units that have vested pursuant to Sections 1(c)(y) or 3(a)(ii) hereof), this Award shall
terminate immediately and be of no further force or effect with respect to all of the Units or such portion thereof, as applicable.

C. Change of Control. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in the Plan, in the event of
termination of Grantee’s Employment (i) by the Company without Cause or (ii) by the Grantee for Good Reason, in either case
occurring within the two-year period following a Change of Control, the Units subject to this Award shall automatically fully vest
at the time of such termination; provided that, if this Award is subject to a Performance Measure, the Shares subject to this Award
shall only be issued and distributed pursuant to Section 1(b) if (x) the Compensation Committee has certified that the
Perfarmance Measure has been attained on or before the date of termination, and in such case shall be issued and distributed at
the time of such termination in the amount indicated on Exhibit A, or (y) the attainment of the Performance Measure is not yet
determinable as of such date, and in such case shall fully vest at the time of such termination but the vested Units shall remain
subject to the attainment of the Performance Measure and no Shares shall be




issued and distributed in respect of such Units unless and until the Compensation Committee has certified that the Performance
Measure has been attained (and shall be issued and distributed at the time of such certification (if any) in the amount indicated on
Exhibit A). (For the avoidance of doubt, if the Units subject to this Award (including any Units that vested pursuant to sub-clause
(y) above) are subject to a Performance Measure that the Compensation Committee has certified has not been attained with
respect to all or any portion thereof, this Award shall terminate with respect to all of the Units or such portion thereof, as
applicable, in accordance with Section 1(b) hereof.)

2. Definitions. Except as otherwise expressly provided, all terms used herein shall have the same meaning as
in the Plan, as applicable and as may be amended from time to time. For purposes of this Agreement, as applicable, the following
terms shall have the following meanings:

a. “Cause” means any of the following:
L
i. . the Grantee’s engagement in any criminal act which is or involves a serious felony offense, a
violation of federal or state securities laws (or equivalent laws of any country or political subdivision thereof), embezzlement,
fraud, wrongful taking or misappropriation of property, or theft or any other crime involving dishonesty;

ii. the Grantee’s willful or grossly negligent failure to perform duties owed to the Company or an
Affiliate;

iii. the Grantee’s willful violation of any securities or commodities laws, any rules or regulations
issued pursuant to such laws, or the rules and regulations of any securities or commodities exchange or association of which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries or Affiliates is a member; or

iv. the Grantee’s willful violation of any Company policy or any applicable policy of any of its
subsidiaries or Affiliates concerning confidential or proprietary information, or material violation of any other Company or
applicable subsidiary or Affiliate policy or written agreement as in effect from time to time; and

V. for purposes of Section 7(a) and the Retirement Policy, “Cause” also means the occurrence of any
of the following, as determined by the Company: (a) the Grantee’s performance of the Grantee’s duties and responsibilities to the
Company or its subsidiaries or Affiliates, as applicable, in a manner deemed by the Company to be in any way unsatisfactory
and/or inconsistent with the needs of the business; (b) the Grantee’s breach of this Agreement or any other agreement between the
Grantee and the Company or any of its subsidiaries or Affiliates; or (c) the Grantee’s misconduct, including, but not limited to,
fraud, violation of or disregard for the rules, policies, and procedures of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or Affiliates,
dishonesty, insubordination, theft, or other illegal or inappropriate conduct.

The determination as to whether “Cause” has occurred shall be made by the Administrator. The Administrator shall also have the
authority to waive the consequences under the Plan of the existence or occurrence of any of the events, acts or omissions
constituting “Cause.” If, subsequent to the Grantee’s termination of Employment for other than Cause, it is determined that the
Grantee’s Employment could have been terminated for Cause, the Grantee’s Employment shall be deemed to



have been terminated for Cause retroactively to the date the events giving rise to such Cause occurred. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, if Grantee is party to an employment, severance-benefit, change of control or similar agreement with the Company (or
any of its subsidiaries or Affiliates, as applicable) that contains a definition of “Cause” (or a correlative term), such definition will
apply (in the case of such Grantee for purposes of this Agreement) in lieu of Sections 2(a)(i) through (iv) of the definition of
“Cause” set forth above during the term of such other agreement, provided that Section 2(a)(v) of the definition set forth above
will always apply for purposes of this Agreement.

b. “Client” shall mean all Past Clients, Present Clients and Poténtial Clients, subject to the following general
rules: :

i. with respect to each Client, the term “Client” shall also include any Persons who are Affiliates of such
Client and, to the extent known by the Grantee to have such connection with such Client (and the Grantee shall be deemed to
have such knowledge if the Grantee would reasonably have been expected to have such knowledge in the ordirary course of the
Grantee’s duties while the Grantee was employed by the Company or any of its subsidiaries or Affiliates, as applicable),
directors, officers or employees of such Client or any such subsidiaries or Affiliates thereof, or Persons who are members of the
immediate family of such Client or any of the other foregoing Persons or Affiliates of any of them;

ii. with respect to any Present Client or Past Client (as applicable) that is a Fund, the term “Client” shall
also include (x) the sponsor of such Client, and any other Fund sponsored by such Person or its Affiliates, and (y) any investor in
such Client (provided that, except to the extent the Grantee had knowledge of the identity of an investor therein while the Grantee
was employed hy the Company or any of its subsidiaries or Affiliates, as applicable (and the Grantee shall be deemed to have had
such knowledge if the Grantee would reasonably have been expected to have had such knowledge in the ordinary course of the
Grantee’s duties while the Grantee was employed by the Company or any of its subsidiaries or Affiliates, as applicable), in the
case of any Fund, an investor therein shall not be deemed a Present Client or Past Client (as applicable) hereunder);

ili. with respect to any Client that is a trust or similar entity, the term “Client” shall include the settlor and,
ta the extent such heneficiary is known to the Grantee to be such a beneficiary (and the Grantee shall be deemed to have had such
knowledge if the Grantee would reasonably have been expected to have had such knowledge in the ordinary course of the
Grantee’s duties while the Grantee was employed by the Company or any of its subsidiaries or Affiliates, as applicable), any
Person who is a beneficiary of such Client and the Affiliates and immediate family members of any such Persons;

iv. with respect to so-called “wrap programs,” “SMA programs” or similar programs, the term “Client”
shall include (x) the sponsor of such program, and (y) the underlying participants in such program (provided that, except to the
extent the Grantee had knowledge of the identity of a participant therein while the Grantee was employed by the Company or any
of its subsidiaries or Affiliates, as applicable (and the Grantee shall be deemed to have had such knowledge if the Grantee would
reasonably have been expected to have had such knowledge in the ordinary course of the Grantee’s duties while the Grantee was
employed by the Company or any of its subsidiaries or Affiliates, as applicable), a participant therein shall not be deemed a
Present Client or Past Client (as applicable) hereunder); and



v. with respect to each Client, the term “Client” shall also include any Persons who (x) in U.S. retail
markets, serve as intermediaries, including, but not limited to, broker-dealers and financial advisers, and, (y) in all other markets,
serve as an intermediary with discretion as to whether or not to make Affiliate products available to their underlying clients.

c. “Fund” shall mean any collective investment vehicle (whether open-ended or closed-ended), including,
without limitation, an investment company (whether or not registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended),
a general or limited partnership, a trust or a commingled fund, in any such case organized (or otherwise formed) in any
jurisdiction.

d. “Good Reason” shall mean any of the following events or conditions occurring without the Grantee’s
cxpress written consent, provided that the Crantee shall have given notice of such event or condition within 90 days of the initial
existence of such event or condition and the Company shall not have remedied such event or condition within 30 days after
receipt of such notice:

i. a materially adverse alteration in the nature or status of the Grantee’s duties or responsibilities;

ii. a material reduction in the Grantee’s annual base salary or any target bonus, other than an across-
the-board reduction that applies to the Grantee and similarly-situated employees; or

iii. a change of 50 miles or more in the Grantee’s principal place of Employment, except for required
travel on business to an extent substantially consistent with the Grantee’s business travel obligations. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, if the Grantee is party to an employment, severance-benefit, change of control or similar agreement with the Company
(or any of its subsidiaries or Affiliates, as applicable) that contains a definition of “Good Reason” (or a correlative term), such
definition will apply (in the case of the Grantee for purposes of this Agreement) in lieu of the definition set forth above during the
term of such agreement.

e. “Investment Management Services” shall mean any services which involve: (i) the management of an
investment account or Fund (or portions thereof or a group of investment accounts or Funds); (ii) the giving of advice with
respect to the investment and/or reinvestment of assets or funds (or any group of assets or funds); or (iii) otherwise acting as an
“investment adviser” within the meaning of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, as amended, including, without limitation, in
each of the foregoing cases, performing activities related or incidental thereto.

f. “Past Client” shall mean, subject to the general rules under the definition of Client, at any particular time
of determination, any Person (i) who at any point prior to such time of determination had been, directly or indirectly (and
including, without limitation, through one or more intermediaries such as a wrap sponsor or as an investor in a Fund for which
the Company or any subsidiary or Affiliate thereof acts (or acted) as a sponsor, adviser or sub-adviser or in a similar capacity), an
advisee or investment advisory customer or client of, or otherwise a recipient of Investment Management Services from, (x) the
Company or any subsidiary or Affiliate thereof, and/or (y) any owner, part owner, shareholder, partner, member, director, officer,
trustee, employee, agent or consultant of the Company or any subsidiary or Affiliate thereof acting on behalf of the Company or



any of its subsidiaries or Affiliates, but at such time is not an advisee or investment advisory customer or client of (or otherwise a
direct or indirect recipient of Investment Management Services from) the Company or any subsidiary or Affiliate thereof (or any
of the foregoing Persons acting on their behalf), and (ii) with which Grantee or Grantee’s department had material, direct
interaction with and/or with respect to which Grantee had access to proprietary or confidential information; provided, however,
that, from and after the termination of Grantee’s Employment, the term “Past Client” shall thereafter be limited (solely with
respect to the Grantee) to those Past Clients who were (directly or indirectly) advisees or investment advisory customers or
clients of, or recipients of Investment Management Services from, the Company or any subsidiary or Affiliate thereof, or any
owner, part owner, shareholder, partner, member, director, officer, trustee, employee, agent or consultant (or persons acting in any
similar capacity) of the Company or any subsidiary or Affiliate thereof, at any time during the two (2) years immediately
preceding the date of such termination.

. “Performance Measure” shall mean the target(s) for the applicable Performance Period(s) (each as set forth
on Exhibit A, as applicable), as established by the Compensation Committee.

h. “Person” shall mean any individual, partnership (limited or general), corporation, limited liability
company, limited liability partnership, association, trust, joint venture, unincorporated organization or other entity.

i. “Potential Client” shall mean, subject to the general rules under the definition of Client, at any particular
time of determination, any Person (i) to whom (x) the Company or any subsidiary or Affiliate thereof, and/or (y) any owner, part
owner, shareholder, partner, member, director, officer, trustee, employee, agent or consultant (or persons acting in any similar
capacity) of the Company or any subsidiary or Affiliate thereof, acting on behalf of the Company or any subsidiary or Affiliate
thereof in any such case has within one (1) year prior to such time of determination offered (whether by means of a personal
meeting, telephone call, letter, written proposal or otherwise) to serve as investment adviser or otherwise provide Investment
Management Services, but who is not at such time an advisee or investment advisory customer or client of (or otherwise a direct
or indirect recipient of Investment Management Services from) the Company or any subsidiary or Affiliate thereof (or any of the
foregoing Persons acting on their behalf), and (ii) with which Grantee or Grantee’s department had material, direct interaction
with and/or with respect to which Grantee had access to proprietary or confidential information; provided, however, that, from
and after the termination of Grantee’s Employment, the term “Potential Client” shall thereafter be limited (solely with respect to
the Grantee) to those Potential Clients to whom such an offer to provide Investment Management Services was made at any time
during the one (1) year immediately preceding the date of such termination. The preceding sentence is meant to exclude
advertising, if any, through mass media in which the offer, if any, is available to the general public, such as magazines,
newspapers and sponsorships of public events.

j. “Present Client” shall mean, subject to the general rules under the definition of Client, at any particular
time of determination, any Person (i) who is at such time of determination, directly or indirectly (and including, without
limitation, through one or more intermediaries such as a wrap sponsor, or as an investor in a Fund for which the Company or any
subsidiary or Affiliate thereof acts as a sponsor, adviser or sub-adviser or in a similar capacity), an advisee or investment advisory
customer or client of (or otherwise a direct or indirect recipient of ITnvestment Management Services



from) (x) the Company or any subsidiary or Affiliate thereof and/or (y) any owner, part owner, shareholder, partner, member,
director, officer, trustee, employee, agent or consultant (or persons acting in any similar capacity) of the Company or any
subsidiary or Affiliate thereof acting on behalf of the Company or any subsidiary or Affiliate thereof, and (ii) with which Grantee
or Grantee’s department had material, direct interaction with and/or with respect to which Grantee had access to proprietary or
confidential information. '

k. “Retirement Eligible Award” shall have the meaning set forth in the Company’s Employee Equity
Retirement Policy, as may be in effect from time to time (the “Retirement Policy”).

3. Termination of Service. If the Grantee’s Employment terminates, this Award may be subject to earlier
termination, accelerated vesting or post-termination vesting, as set forth below.

a. Termination by Reason of Death or Disability. If the Grantee’s Employment terminates by reason of death
or disability, the Units subject to this Award shall automatically fully vest at the time of such termination; provided that, if this
Award is subject to a Performance Measure, the Shares subject to this Award shall only be issued and distributed pursuant to
Section 1(b) if (i) the Compensation Committee has certified that the Performance Measure has been attained on or before the
date of termination, and in such case shall be issued and distributed at the time of such termination in the amount indicated on
Exhibit A, or (ii) the attainment of the Performance Measure is not yet determinable as of such date, and in such case shall fully
vest at the time of such termination but the vested Units shall remain subject to the attainment of the Performance Measure and
no Shares shall be issued and distributed in respect of such Units unless and until the Compensation Committee has certified that
the Performance Measure has been attained (and shall be issued and distributed at the time of such certification (if any) in the
amount indicated on Exhibit A). (For the avoidance of doubt, if the Units subject to this Award (including any Units that vested
pursuant to sub-clause (ii) above) are subject to a Performance Measure that the Compensation Committee has certified has not
been attained with respect to all or any portion thereof, this Award shall terminate with respect to all of the Units or any portion
thereof, as applicable, in accordance with Section 1(b) hereof.)

b. . Retirement. If this Award qualifies as a Retirement Eligible Award, as indicated on Exhibit A, then the
applicable provisions of the Retirement Policy shall apply to this Award.

C. Other Termination. If the Grantee’s Employment terminates for any reason other than death or disability,
Retirement (as such term is defined in the Retirement Policy), or in connection with a Change of Control described in Section
1(c), this Award shall, to the extent not already vested as described herein, terminate immediately and be of no further force or
effect; it being understood that this Award shall remain outstanding following the date of any termination with respect to any
Units subject to a Performance Measure that have vested (including pursuant to Sections 1(c)(y) or 3(a)(ii) hereof) until the
Shares to be issued in respect thereof are issued and distributed or the Award is terminated in accordance with Section 1(b).

The Administrator’s determination of the reason that the Grantee’s Employment has terminated shall be conclusive and
binding on the Grantee and Grantee’s representatives, legal guardians or legatees.



4. Vesting and Distribution. The Units shall be distributed only in Shares, such that the Grantee shall be
entitled to receive one Share for each vested Unit following, if applicable, attainment of the Performance Measure. The Shares
subject to this Award shall be issued and distributed to the Grantee pursuant to Section 1 hereof, and the vesting schedule and, if
applicable, performance requirements set forth on Exhibit A, with such issuance and distribution of the Shares (whether the
Shares are to be held by the Company on the Grantee’s behalf pursuant to Section 14(b) hereof or issued directly to the Grantee)
to occur, in all cases, no later than March 15 of the year following the year in which the Units vest, in accordance with the short-
term deferral exception under Code Section 409A and the regulations and guidance thereunder.

Any sales of Shares subject to this Award are subject to the Company’s insider trading policy, equity ownership guidelines and
other Company policies as may be in effect from time to time or otherwise established by the Administrator.

5. Dividend Equivalent Rights. Tf the Company makes any cash dividends or other cash distributions to the
holders of Shares of the Company’s common stock, the Grantee shall have the right to receive payments in lieu thereof in respect
of the Units subject to this Award (“Dividend Equivalent Rights”). If the Company makes such a cash dividend or other cash
distribution prior to the issuance and distribution of the Shares subject to this Award or prior to termination of the Award, the
Company shall credit a bookkeeping account of the Dividend Equivalent Rights on behalf of the Grantee as of the record date of
such cash dividend or other cash distribution. The amount credited shall be equal to the per-Share cash dividend or other cash
distribution paid by the Company multiplied by the total number of then outstanding Units. Such amounts shall be subject to the
same vesting, payment (without interest), issuance, distribution and other terms and conditions of the Units to which they relate
as provided in this Agreement, including, for the avoidance of doubt, the attainment of any Performance Measure, as certified by
the Compensation Committee. References in this Agreement to Units shall, as appropriate, include any Dividend Equivalent
Rights described in this Section 5.

6. Stockholder Rights. This Award shall not be interpreted to bestow upon the Grantee any equity interest or
ownership in the Company or any subsidiary or Affiliate prior to the dates on which the Company delivers Shares to the Grantee.
The Grantee shall have no rights as a stockholder with respect to the Units, and shall have the rights of a stockholder only as to
those Shares, if any, that are actually delivered under this Award.

7. Noncompetition, Intellectual Property and Confidentiality.

a. In consideration of the Award of Units granted herein, the Grantee agrees that during the term of the
Grantee’s Employment with the Company or any of its subsidiaries or Affiliates and for one (1) year thereafter (or two (2) years
if the Grantee breaches the Grantee’s fiduciary duty to the Company or its subsidiaries or Affiliates, or unlawfully takes,
physically or electronically, property belonging to the Company or its subsidiaries or Affiliates) for any reason other than
termination by the Company without Cause, the Grantee: (i) will not, directly or indirectly, whether as owner, partner,
shareholder, member, consultant, agent, employee, co-venturer or otherwise, engage, participate or invest in any Competing
Business (as hereinafter defined) (provided, however, that nothing in this clause (i) shall prohibit the Grantee from acting as an
agent for a Competing Business in the course of the Grantee’s employment (or other applicable service relationship) for a
business which is not a Competing Business); (ii) will not, directly or indirectly, take any action to negotiate or discuss with



any person or entity or solicit or entertain from any person or entity, any investment, purchase, proposal, offer or indication of
interest regarding (A) any investment in any entity in which the Company or any of its subsidiaries or Affiliates holds any
securities or other investment interests or (B) any investment in any other entity with whom the Company or any of its
subsidiaries or Affiliates is or was discussing or negotiating any possible investment therein at any time during the one (1) year
preceding the termination (if any) of the Grantee’s Employment with the Company or any of its subsidiaries or Affiliates.

For purposes of this Agreement, the term “Competing Business” shall mean a business or a division of a business,
conducted anywhere in the world, which invests in or acyuires boutique or specialist investinent managers or advisers, or lias
adopted a strategy or developed a business plan to invest in or acquire multiple boutique or specialist investment managers or
advisers. Norwithstanding the foregning, the Grantee may own up to five percent (5%) of the outstanding stock of a publicly held
corporation which constitutes or is affiliated with a Competing Business.

b. During the term of the Grantee’s Employment with the Company or any of its subsidiaries or Affiliates and
for two (2) years thereafter, the Grantee will refrain from directly or indirectly employing, attempting to employ, recruiting or
otherwise soliciting, inducing or influencing any person to leave Employment with the Company or its subsidiaries or Affiliates
(other than terminations of Employment of subordinate employees undertaken in the course of the Grantee’s Employment with
the Company or any of its subsidiaries or Affiliates).

C. In addition to (and not in limitation of) the provisions of Sections 7(a) and (b) of this Agreement, the
Grantee agrees, for the benefit of the Company and its subsidiaries aind Affiliates, that the Grantee shall not, during the tern of
the Grantee’s Employmeat with the Company onany of its subsidiaries or Affiliates and lor one (1) year theredlter, directly or
indirectly (whether individually or as owner; part owner; shareholder, partner, member; director, officer, trustee, employee, agent,
consultant or in any other capacity, on behalf of the Grantee or any other Person (other than the Company or a subsidiary or
Affiliate thereof while employed by the Company)):

i. provide Investment Management Services to any Person that is a Client (which includes Past
Clients, Present Clients, and Potential Clients);

ii. solicit or induce (whether directly or indirectly) any Person for the purpose (which need not be the
sole or primary purpose) of (A) causing any funds or accounts with respect to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries or
Affiliates provides Tnvestment Management Services to he withdrawn from such management or other services, or (B) causing
any Client (including any Potential Client) not to engage the Company or any of its subsidiaries or Affiliates to provide
Invesurient Madttagement Services for any additional funds or accounts (or olerwise attempt to cduse dny of the foregoing to
occur);

iii. otherwise divert or take away (or seek to divert or take away) any funds or investment accounts
with respect to which the Company or any subsidiary or Affiliate thereof provides Investment Management Services; or



iv. contact or communicate with, whether directly or indirecily, diy Past Clients, Present Clients or
Potential Clients in connection with providing Investment Management Services to such Persons;

provided, however, that this Section 7(c) shall not be applicable to Clients (including Potential
Clients) who are also immediate family members of the Grantee.

d. The Grantee understands that the restrictions set forth in Sections 7(a), (b) and (c) of this Agreement are
intended and necessary to protect the Company’s and its subsidiaries’ and Affiliates’ interests in its and their Proprietary
Information (as hereinafter defined) and established employee and client relationships and goodwill, and agrees that such
restrictions are reasonable and appropriate for this purpose.

e. The Grantee agrees and acknowledges that any and all presently existing business of the Company and its
subsidiaries and Affiliates and all business developed by the Company, any of its subsidiaries or Affiliates, the Grantee and/or
any other employee (or other service provider) of the Company and its subsidiaries and Affiliates, including, without limitation,
all client lists, the Company’s deal structures (as represented by the transactions it has completed, attempted or actually
proposed), compensation records, agreements, and any other incident of any business developed by the Company or carried on by
the Company, and all trade names, service marks and logos under which the Company, its subsidiaries and its and their Affiliates
do business, including, without limitation, “Affiliated Managers Group” and any combinations or variations thereof and all
related logos, are and shall be the exclusive property of the Company or such subsidiary or Affiliate, as applicable, for its or their
sole use, and (where applicable) amounts received in respect of the foregoing shall be payable directly to the Company or such
subsidiary or Affiliate. The Grantee acknowledges that, in the course of performing services for the Company and otherwise, the
Grantee will from time to time have access to information concerning the Company’s, its subsidiaries’ or its Affiliates’ current or
proposed businesses, technologies, business relationships, clients, personnel, processes, operations, strategies, plans, methods,
investments, investment recommendations, investment processes, investment methodologies, products, confidential records,
manuals, data, client and contact lists, trade secrets, or financial, corporate, sales, marketing or personnel affairs, which the
Company or such subsidiary or Affiliate has not released to the general public, and all memoranda, notes, papers, items, tangible
media, electronic files and communications related thereto (collectively, “Proprietary Information™). The Grantee agrees that
Proprietary Information of the Company or any subsidiary or Affiliate thereof is and will be the exclusive property of the
Company or such subsidiary or Affiliate, as the case may be, and further agrees to always keep secret and never (during the term
of this Agreement or thereafter) publish, divulge, furnish; use or make accessible to anyone (other than in the regular course of
business of the Company or any subsidiary or Affiliate thereof or otherwise at the Company’s request) such Proprietary
Information. Anything contained herein to the contrary notwithstanding, this Section 7(e) shall not (i) apply to any knowledge,
information or property which (x) is generally known or available to the public or in the public domain, (y) has been previously
dicclosed or made available to the public, unless the Crantee knows or has reason to know that such disclosure or availability was
the direct or indirect result of the violation or breach of a confidentiality or non-disclosure obligation, or (z) is required to be
disclosed or delivered by any couit, ageucy or other governental authority o is otherwise required to be disclosed by law, or (ii)
preclude the Grantee [iotn couperating witl any govermnental process, or any governmental or law enforcement agency in any
investigation, or from making any other communications (without notice to or consent



from the Company) with a governmental agency. The Grantee understands that the Grantee will not be held criminally or civilly
liable under any federal or state trade secret law for disclosing a trade secret (i) in confidence to a federal, state, or local
government official, either directly or indirectly, or to an attorney, solely for the purpose of reporting or investigating a suspected
violation of law, or (ii) in a complaint or other document filed under seal in a lawsuit or other proceeding; provided, however,
that notwithstanding this immunity from liability, the Grantee may be held liable if the Grantee accesses trade secrets by
unauthorized means. :

f. The Grantee will make full and prompt disclosure to the Company of all inventions, discoveries, designs,
developments, methods, modifications, improvements, processes, algorithms, databases, computer programs, formulae,
techniques, trade secrets and other works of authorship (collectively, “Developments”), whether or not patentable or
copyrightable, that are created, made, conceived, or reduced to practice by the Grantee (alone or jointly with others) or under
Grantee’s direction during Grantee’s Employment. The Grantee acknowledges and confirms that the Grantee hereby assigns and
transfers, and will assign and transfer, to the Company and its successors and assigns all the Grantee’s right, title and interest in
all Developments that (i) relate to the business of the Company, any subsidiary or Affiliate or any customer of or supplier to the
Company or any of the products or services being researched, developed, manufactured, serviced, licensed or sold by the
Company or which may be used with such products or services; or (ii) result from tasks assigned to the Grantee by the Company,
a subsidiary or an Affiliate; or (iii) result from the use of premises or personal property (whether tangible or intangible) owned,
leased or contracted for by the Company, a subsidiary or an Affiliate (“Company-Related Developments”), and all related
patents, patent applications, trademarks and trademark applications, copyrights and copyright applications, and other intellectual
property rights in all countries and territories worldwide and under any international conventions (“Intellectual Property Rights”).

g. Upon termination of the Grantee’s Employment for any reason, the Grantee shall, and agrees to, return all
Proprietary Information in the Grantee’s possession or control to the Company and such Proprietary Information shall remain in
the Company’s possession. The Grantee will cooperate fully with the Company and its subsidiaries and Affiliates, both during
Employment and following termination of Employment for any reason, in order for the Company and its subsidiaries and
Affiliates to enforce and protect any of their rights and interests with respect to Proprietary Information, Company-Related
Developments, and Intellectual Property Rights in Company-Related Developments, including, without limitation whatsoever,
signing all papers, copyright applications, patent applications, declarations, oaths, assignments of priority rights, and powers of
attorney which the Company may deem necessary or desirable in order to protect such rights and interests.

h. The Grantee and the Company agree that, in the event that any provision of this Section 7 is determined by
any court of competent jurisdiction to be unenforceable by reason of its being extended over too great a time, too large a
geographic arca or too great a range of activities; the applicable provision shall be deemed to be modified to permit its
enforcement to the maximum extent permitted by law.

i. Notwithstanding the foregoing or anything to the contrary herein, if this Award qualifies as a Retirement

Eligible Award, as set forth on Exhibit A, the Grantee may be subject to additional terms and conditions regarding non-
competition, and any such terms and conditions are in
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addition to, and not in limitation of, the terms and conditions set forth herein, including, without limitation, the provisions
addressing non-competition and non-solicitation.

8. Remedies Upon Breach. In the event that the Grantee breaches any of the provisions of Section 7 of this
Agreement, including without limitation, following the termination of the Grantee’s Employment, the entire value of the vested
Award (as of the date Grantee’s Employment is terminated, whether or not paid, settled or distributed by the Company), shall be
paid to or retained by the Company, as applicable, as liquidated damages (the “Liquidated Damages”). The parties agree that in
the event of such breach by the Grantee it will be difficult to ascertain with certainty the amount of damages suffered by the
Company and its subsidiaries and Affiliates. The amount of the Liquidated Damages represents a reasonable estimate of the
damages expected to be suffered by the Company and its subsidiaries and Affiliates as a result of the Grantee’s default and, in
any such event, in addition to (and not in limitation of) such other remedies as the Company may have against the Grantee, until
the Liquidated Damages are recovered in their entirety, (x) the Company shall be entitled to withhold any payments to which the
Grantee otherwise would be entitled (whether pursuant to this Agreement or any other agreement, plan or policy, including,
without limitation, distributions hereunder), and (y) the Grantee, at the request of the Company, shall return all or some incentive
compensation (which shall include any compensation distributed or awarded to the Grantee other than base compensation);
provided that, any amounts so withheld or returned shall be promptly released to the original payee to the extent it is determined
(whether by settlement, judgment or arbitral decision) that such amounts are required to be so released, together with interest
thereon as may be agreed or determined in connection with such settlement, judgment or decision. The Grantee agrees that the
remedies provided in this Section 8 are reasonably related to anticipated losses that the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries or
Affiliates would suffer upon a breach of such provisions by the Grantee. The Grantee recognizes and agrees that the Company’s
remedies at law for any breach, or threatened breach, of the provisions of this Agreement would be inadequate, and that for any
breach or threatened breach of such provisions by the Grantee, the Company shall, in addition to such other remedies as may be
available to it at law or in equity or as provided in this Agreement, be entitled to injunctive relief and enforcement of its rights by
an action for specific performance to the extent permitted by law (and without having to post bond), and to an award of
reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs incurred in connection with securing any of its rights hereunder. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, the Grantee recognizes and agrees that if this Award qualifies as a Retirement Eligible Award, as set forth on Exhibit
A, the Retirement Policy, to the extent applicable, may provide for alternative remedies upon any breach of the terms and
conditions set forth therein.

9. Notice of Termination.

a. Grantee’s Employment may be terminated at any time by the Company or, if different, any subsidiary or
Affiliate of the Company that is the Grantee’s employer (the “Grantee’s employer”), or by the Grantee; provided that, the Grantee
(but not the Company or, if different, the Grantee’s employer) shall be required to provide at least six (6) months advance written
notice of such termination. For the avoidance of doubt, for purposes of Section 7 of this Agreement, termination of Employment
shall be deemed to occur upon delivery of notice of termination by the Grantee.
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b. Where notice of termination has been delivered by the Grantee, the Company (and, if different, the
Grantee’s employer) shall be under no obligation to provide any activities to Grantee to carry out on behalf of the Company or its
subsidiaries or Affiliates, and may require the Grantee (i) not to attend any premises of the Company or any subsidiary or
Affiliate thereof, (ii) to resign with immediate effect from any offices the Grantee holds with the Company or any subsidiary or
Affiliate thereof (or any Client thereof), (iii) to refrain from any business contact with any Clients, partners or employees of the
Company or any subsidiary or Affiliate thereof, and (iv) to take any leave time the Grantee has accrued under the policies of the
Company (or any of its subsidiaries or Affiliates, as applicable).

C. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Grantee is a party to an employment agreement with the Company
or any subsidiary or Affiliate thereof, and/or if this Award qualifies as a Retirement Eligible Award, as set forth on Exhibit A, any
applicable terms of such employment agreement and/or the Retirement Policy, as applicable, shall supersede and apply in
precedence to the provisions of clauses (a) and (b) of this Section 9, and clauses (a) and (b) of this Section 9 shall not be taken to
amend the related terms of such employment agreement and/or the Retirement Policy, as applicable.

d. In connection with the termination of Grantee’s Employment, the Grantee shall reasonably cooperate with
the Company and, if different, the Grantee’s employer, to prepare a communication plan regarding Grantee’s departure, and
Grantee shall not make any other public statement regarding the Grantee’s departure without the prior written consent of the
Company.

10. Nondisparagement. In exchange for the consideration herein, the Grantee agrees not to make any
disparaging, derogatory, damaging, and/or critical statements concerning the Company or any subsidiaries or any of their
respective affiliates, partners, officers, directors, employees, services, products and/or activities.

11.  Third-Party Agreements and Rights.

a. The Grantee hereby confirms that the Grantee is not bound by the terms of any agreement with any
previous employer or other party which restricts in any way the Grantee’s use or disclosure of information or the Grantee’s
engagement in any business. In the Grantee’s work for the Company or any of its subsidiaries or Affiliates, the Grantee will not
disclose or use any information in violation of any rights of any such previous employer or other party.

b. The Grantee’s employer, if different than the Company, is an intended third-party beneficiary under this
Agreement and may enforce the terms of Sections 7, 8, 9, 12, 13 and 14 of this Agreement. This right is subject to (i) the rights of
the parties hereto to rescind or vary this Agreement without the consent of any such subsidiary or Affiliate and (ii) the other terms
and conditions of this Agreement and the Plan.

12.  Transferability. This Agreement is personal to the Grantee, is non-assignable and is not transferable in any
manner, by operation of law or otherwise, other than by will or the laws of descent and distribution or as permitted by the
Administrator (or its delegee). The Grantee may transfer, without consideration for the transfer, the Award to members of the
Grantee’s immediate
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family, to trusts for the benefit of such family members, or to partnerships in which such family members are the only partners,
provided that the transferee (and, as required by the Administrator, the beneficiaries or members of such transferee) agrees in
writing with the Company to be bound by all of the terms and conditions of the Plan and this Agreement.

13.  Certain Tax Matters. To the extent permitted by law, the Company, the Grantee’s employer or their agents
shall have the right to withhold or deduct from any distributions (including any Shares acquired or otherwise deliverable and the
payment of other amounts with respect to the Units) or payments to the Grantee the amount of all taxes, at a rate up to the
maximum applicable withholding rate, and any social security contributions required to be withheld or deducted by federal, state
or local governments, in any case, as determined by the Company (or the Grantee’s employer, if different) in its discretion. The
Grantee expressly acknowledges and agrees that the Grantee’s rights hereunder are subject to the Grantee promptly paying to the
Company or the Grantee’s employer in cash (or by such other means as may be acceptable to the Company or the Grantee’s
employer in its discretion, including, if the Administrator so determines, by the delivery of previously acquired Shares or Shares
acquired hereunder or by the withholding of amounts from any payment hereunder) the applicable tax withholding obligation and
any social security contributions required to be withheld in connection with such award, vesting, issuance, distribution or
payment. Such payment by the Grantee shall be made no later than the date as of which any Shares or other amounts provided
hereunder first become includable in the gross income of the Grantee for U.S. federal income tax purposes or as otherwise
required by the Company or the Grantee’s employer under applicable law.

14.  Miscellaneous.
a. The Units are subject to adjustment in accordance with the provisions of Section 7 of the Plan.

b. The Company shall maintain an account on its books in the name of the Grantee which shali reflect the
number of Units awarded to the Grantee and the number of Shares the Grantee is eligible to receive thereunder. The Grantee
acknowledges and agrees that the Company, in its sole discretion, may (i) hold all vested Units and all Shares issued and
distributed in respect thereof pursuant to this Award on behalf of the Grantee, until such time as the Grantee submits a request for
delivery, and, in such case, will exercise voting rights and take all other corporate actions for any Shares issued pursuant to this
Award for such time as such Shares may be held by the Company on behalf of the Grantee, unless the Grantee provides written
notice to the Human Resources Department to the contrary, or (ii) release any such Shares issued and distributed in respect hereof
pursuant to this Award to the Company’s designated broker, and such broker may hold such Shares until such time as they are
distributed to the Grantee. The Grantee further agrees to follow such administrative procedures as may be established from time
to time by the Company and/or its designated broker.

C. Notice hereunder shall be given (i) to the Company at its principal place of business, and (ii) to the Grantee
at the address on file in the Company’s records, or in either case at such other address as one party may subsequently furnish to
the other party in writing.

d. The Grantee hereby acknowledges and agrees to the following: (i) this Award is offered to the Grantee at

the complete discretion of the Company; (ii) the Plan, this Award and the Retirement Policy do not form part of any contract of
employment (or other provision of services)
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between Grantee and the Company or any of its subsidiaries or Affiliates and do not confer upon the Grantee any rights with
respect to continuance as an employee (or other service provider) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or Affiliates; (iii) this
Award will not affect any right the Company or any of its subsidiaries or Affiliates may have under any employment agreement
with the Grantee or under applicable law to terminate the Employment of the Grantee at any time with or without Cause; (iv) this
Award is not part of the Grantee’s base salary or wages and will not be taken into account in determining any other employment-
related rights that the Grantee may have, such as any rights the Grantee may have to pension or severance pay; and (v) this Award
does not confer on the Grantee any implied right or entitlement to the exercise of any discretion in the Grantee’s favor with
respect to any discretionary terms in this Award.

e. The Grantee hereby waives all and any rights to compensation or damages in consequence of the
termination of Grantee’s Employment with the Company, or any of its subsidiaries or Affiliates, for any reason whatsoever
(whether lawfully or unlawfully) insofar as those rights arise or may arise from the Grantee ceasing to have rights under or be
entitled to this Award as a result of such termination or from the loss or diminution in value of such rights or entitlements. In the
event of any conflict between the terms of this Section 14(e) and the Grantee’s terms of employment, this Section 14(e) shall take
precedence (except as required by applicable legislation).

f. Pursuant to Section 10 of the Plan, the Administrator may at any time amend or cancel any outstanding
portion of this Award for any purpose that may at the time be permitted by law, but no such action may be taken that materially
and adversely affects the Grantee’s rights under this Agreement without the Grantee’s consent.

g. If the Grantee is resident outside of the United States, to the extent permitted by applicable law, the
Grantee hereby consents to the holding, processing and transfer of data relating to the Grantee (including sensitive personal data
as defined in the UK Data Protection Act 1998) by: (i) the Company and any of its subsidiaries and Affiliates; (ii) any person
providing services to the Company, its subsidiaries or Affiliates (including, but not limited to, any third party broker, registrar or
administrator); and (iii) any trustee appointed by the Company, its subsidiaries or Affiliates, in each case for all purposes relating
to the administration or operation of the Plan, including the grant, holding or vesting of an Award and the delivery, holding or
sale of Stock and, to the extent permitted by applicable law, this consent includes consent to the transfer of such data to countries
outside the European Economic Area even if the country in question does not maintain adequate data protection standards.

h. The provisions of this Agreement and all claims or disputes arising out of or based upon this Agreement or
relating to the subject matter hereof or thereof will be governed by and construed in accordance with the domestic substantive
laws of the State of Delaware without giving effect to any choice or conflict of laws provision or rule that would cause the
application of the domestic substantive laws of any other jurisdiction. Notwithstanding the foregoing or anything to the contrary
herein, if the Grantee is a resident of, or employed in, the Commonwealth of Massachusetts for at least 30 days prior to the
termination of the Grantee’s Employment with the Company or any of its subsidiaries or Affiliates, Section 7(a) and all claims or
disputes arising out of or based upon such section or relating to the subject matter thereof, will be governed by and construed in
accordance with the domestic substantive laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts without giving effect to any
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choice or conflict of laws provision or rule that would cause the application of the domestic substantive laws of any other
jurisdiction.

i. The Grantee hereby acknowledges that the Grantee (i) has read thoroughly this Agreement, including,
without limitation, Section 7(a), and if this Award qualifies as a Retirement Eligible Award, the Retirement Policy, (ii) is satisfied
that the Grantee understands completely this Agreement and, to the extent applicable, the Retirement Policy, and (iii) agrees to be
bound by the terms and conditions set forth herein and, to the extent applicable, in the Retirement Policy. The Grantee
understands that the Grantee has the right to consult an attorney before signing this Agreement. Notwithstanding anything to the
contrary herein, Sections 3(b) and 7(a) shall not take effect until ten (10) business days after the Grant Date listed on Exhibit A
hereto.

j. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, this Award shall be, and the Grantee hereby
acknowledges that it is, subject to and governed by all the terms and conditions of the Plan.

[Remainder of this page is intentionally left blank]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Agreement has béen executed and delivered by the parties hereto as of the Grant Date.

AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUP, INC.

By:
Name: David M. Billings
Title: Executive Vice President, General
Counsel and Secretary

DPlease cxecute this Agreement and return it to the Human Resources Department.

Grantee:
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Exhibit 10.28

STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT
PURSUANT TO AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUP, INC.
2020 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN

Pursuant to the Affiliated Managers Group, Inc. 2020 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended and restated from time to time
(the “Plan™), and subject to the terms of this agreement (the “Agreement”), Affiliated Managers Group, Inc. (the “Company”)
hereby grants to the optionee named on Exhibit A hereto (the “Optionee”) an option (the “Stock Option™) to purchase on or prior
to the Expiration Date specified on Exhibit A all or part of the number of shares of common stock, par value $0.01 per share, of
the Company (such stock, the “Stock,” and such shares, the “Option Shares™) specified on Exhibit A at the Option Exercise Price
per Share specified on Exhibit A, to be issued and distributed to the Optionee according to the terms set forth herein and in the
Plan, and the vesting schedule and performance requirements (if any) set forth herein. This Stock Option is intended to be an
“incentive stock option” within the meaning of Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code™), to
the extent permitted by Section 6(b)(viii) of the Plan and is granted to the Optionee in connection with the Optionee’s
Employment by the Company or a “subsidiary” corporation of the Company, as such term is defined in Section 424 of the Code.

1. Vesting; Exetcisability and Performance Measure.

a. Vesting. Except as set forth below, and subject to the discretion of the Administrator to accelerate the
vesting schedule, this Stock Option shall become vested with respect to the number of Option Shares on the dates indicated on
Exhijbit A; provided that, Optionee’s Employment is through the applicable vesting date or this Stock Option qualifies as a
Retirement Eligible Award, in each case, as set forth on Exhibit A. In addition, if this Stock Option is subject to a Performance
Measure (but not otherwise), Section 1(b) shall apply. For the avoidance of doubt, the vesting of this Stock Option may be
accelerated automatically in certain circumstances described herein.

b. Exercisability and Performance Measure. No portion of this Stock Option may be exercised unless such
portion has vested. Further, if this Stock Option is subject to a Performance Measure (as defined herein), vested portions of this
Stock Option shall be exercisable only if the Compensation Committee has certified the attainment of the Performance Measure
with respect to all or any portion thereof, and following such certification shall be exercisable into the number of Option Shares
set forth on Exhibit A; it being understood that if vesting of this Stock Option is accelerated pursuant to Sections 1(c)(y) or 4(a)
(ii) hereof, such vested Stock Option shall remain subject to the attainment of the Performance Measure, and this Stock Option
shall not be exercisable unless and until the Compensation Committee has certified that the Performance Measure has been
attained with respect to all or any portion thereof and following such certification shall be exercisable into the number of Option
Shares set forth on Exhibit A. If such Performance Measure remains in effect and the Compensation Committee certifies that it
has not been attained with respect to all or any, portion of this Stock Option (including any portion of this Stock Option that has
vested pursuant to Sections 1(c)(y) or 4(a)(ii) hereof), this Stock Option shall terminate immediately and be of no further force or
effect with respect to all of the Option Shares or such portion thereof, as applicable.



C. Change of Control. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in the Plan, in the évent of
termination of the Optionee’s Employment (i) by the Company without Cause or (ii) by the Optionee for Good Reason, in either
case occurring within the two-year period following a Change of Control, this Stock Option shall automatically fully vest at the
time of such termination; provided that, if subject to a Performance Measure, this Stock Option shall only be exercisable pursuant
to this Section 1(c) if (x) the Compensation Committee has certified that the Performance Measure has been attained with respect
to all or any portion thereof on or before the date of termination, and in such case shall vest at the time of such termination and
shall be exercisable into the number of Option Shares set forth on Exhibit A, or (y) the attainment of the Performance Measure is
not yet determinable as of such date, and in such case shall fully vest at the time of such termination but the vested Stock Option
shall remain subject to the attainment of the Performance Measure and shall not be exercisable unless and until the Compensation
Committee has certified that the Performance Measure has been attained with respect to all or any portion thereof, and following
such certification shall be exercisable into the number of Option Shares set forth on Exhibit A. (For the avoidance of doubt, if this
Stock Option (including any portion thereof that vested pursuant to sub-clause (y) above) is subject to a Performance Measure
that the Compensation Committee has certified has not been attained with respect to all or any portion thereof, this Stock Option
shall terminate with respect to all of the Option Shares or such portion thereof, as applicable, in accordance with Section 1(b)
hereof.)

2. Manner of Exercise.

a. The Optionee may exercise this Stock Option only in the following manner: from time to time on or prior
to the Expiration Date of this Stock Option, the Optionee may give written notice to the Chief Administrative Officer or General
Counsel of the Optionee’s election to purchase some or all of the vested Option Shares purchasable at the time of such notice.
Such notice shall specify the number of Option Shares to be purchased.

Payment of the purchase price for the Option Shares may be made by one or more of the following methods: (i) in cash or
by certified or bank check or other instrument acceptable to the Administrator; (ii) through the delivery of previously acquired
unrestricted shares of Stock, or the withholding of unrestricted shares of Stock otherwise deliverable upon exercise, in either
case, that have an aggregate Fair Market Value equal to the exercise price; (iii) by the Optionee delivering to the Company a
properly executed exercise notice in a form acceptable to the Company together with irrevocable instructions to a broker to
promptly deliver to the Company cash or a check payable and acceptable to the Company to pay the option purchase price;
provided that, in the event the Optionee chooses to pay the option purchase price as so provided, the Optionee and the broker
shall comply with such procedures and enter into such agreements of indemnity and other agreements as the Administrator shall
prescribe as a condition of such payment procedure and shall comply with all applicable laws, which laws may in certain cases
restrict the availability of this method; or (iv) a combination of (i), (ii), and (iii) above. Payment instruments will be received
subject to collection.

Stock Option exercises and any sales of Option Shares will be subject to the Company’s insider trading policy, equity
ownership guidelines and other Company policies as may be in effect from time to time or otherwise established by the
Administrator.



b. The issuance of Stock representing the Option Shares will be contingent upon the Company’s receipt from
the Optionee of full payment for the Option Shares, as set forth above, and any agreement, statement or other evidence that the
Company and/or the Administrator may require to satisfy itself that the issuance of Stock to be purchased pursuant to the exercise
of this Stock Option and any subsequent resale of the shares of Stock will be in compliance with all applicable laws and
regulations and with the requirements hereof and of the Plan. The determination of the Administrator as to such compliance shall
be final and binding on the Optionee. The Optionee is not entitled to vote any shares of Stock subject to this Stock Option by
reason of the granting of this Stock Option or to receive or be credited with any dividends declared and payable on such shares
prior to the payment date with respect to the Option Shares, subject to clause (c) below. This Stock Option shall not be interpreted
to bestow upon the Optionee any equity interest or ownership in the Company or any subsidiary or Affiliate, and the Optionee
shall not be deemed to be the holder of, or to have any of the rights of a holder with respect to, any shares of Stock subject to this
Stock Option unless and until this Stock Option shall have been exercised pursuant to the terms hereof and of the Plan, and the
Optionee’s name shall have been entered as the stockholder of record on the books of the Company. Thereupon, the Optionee
shall have full voting, dividend and other ownership rights with respect to such shares of Stock, subject to clause (c) below.

C. The Company shall maintain an account on its books in the name of the Optionee which shall reflect this
Stock Option and the number of Option Shares set forth on Exhibit A. The Optionee acknowledges and agrees that, upon exercise
of all or any portion of this Stock Option in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, the Company, in its sole discretion,
may (i) hold all Option Shares on behalf of the Optionee, until such time as the Optionee submits a request for delivery, and in
such case, the Company will exercise voting rights and take all other corporate actions for such Option Shares for such time as
such Option Shares may be held by the Company on behalf of the Optionee, unless the Optionee provides written notice to the
Human Resources Department to the contrary, or (ii) release any such Option Shares to the Company’s designated broker, and
such broker may hold such Option Shares until such time as they are distributed to the Optionee. The Optionee further agrees to
follow such administrative procedures as may be established from time to time by the Company and/or its designated broker.

d. The minimum number of shares with respect to which this Stock Option may be exercised at any one time
shall be 100 shares, unless the number of shares with respect to which this Stock Option is being exercised is the total number of
shares that may be exercised under this Stock Option at the time or unless otherwise permitted by the Human Resources
Department.

e. Notwithstanding any other provision hereof or of the Plan, no portion of this Stock Option shall be
exercisable after the Expiration Date hereof. For the avoidance of doubt, any portion of this Stock Option that is not exercised by
the Expiration Date will thereupon immediately terminate.

3. Definitions. Except as otherwise expressly provided, all terms used herein shall have the same meaning as
in the Plan, as applicable and as may be amended from time to time. For purposes of this Agreement, as applicable, the following
terms shall have the following meanings:



a. “Cause” means any of the following:

i. the Optionee’s engagement in any criminal act which is or involves a serious felony offense, a
violation of federal or state securities laws (or equivalent laws of any country or political subdivision thereof), embezzlement,
fraud, wrongful taking or misappropriation of property, or theft or any other crime involving dishonesty;

ii. the Optionee’s willful or grossly negligent failure to perform duties owed to the Company or an
Affiliate;

iii. the Optionee’s willful violation of any securities or commodities laws, any rules or regulations
issued pursuant to such laws, or the rules and regulations of any securities or commodities exchange or association of which the
Company or any of its subsidiarics or Affiliates is a member; or

iv. the Optionee’s willful violation of any Company policy or any applicable policy of any of its
subsidiaries or Affiliates concerning confidential or proprietary information, or material violation of any other Company or
applicable subsidiary or Affiliate policy or written agreement as in effect from time to time; and

V. for purposes of Section 5(a) and the Retirement Policy, “Cause” also means the occurrence of any
of the following, as determined by the Company: (a) the Optionee’s performance of the Optionee’s duties and responsibilities to
the Company or its subsidiaries or Affiliates, as applicable, in a manner deemed by the Company to be in any way unsatisfactory
and/or inconsistent with the needs of the business; (b) the Optionee’s breach of this Agreement or any other agreement between
the Optionee and the Company or any of its subsidiaries or Affiliates; or (c) the Optionee’s misconduct, including, but not limited
to, fraud, violation of or disregard for the rules, policies, and procedures of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or A ffiliates,

. dishonesty, insubordination, theft, or other illegal or inappropriate conduct.

The determination as to whether “Cause” has occurred shall be made by the Administrator. The Administrator shall also have the
authority to waive the consequences under the Plan of the existence or occurrence of any of the events, acts or omissions
constituting “Cause.” If, subsequent to the Optionee’s termination of Employment for other than Cause, it is determined that the
Optionce’s Employment could have been terminated for Cause; the Optionee’s Employment chall be deemed to have been
terminated for Cause retroactively to the date the events giving rise to such Cause occurred. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if
Optionee is party to an employment, severance-benefit, change of control or similar agreement with the Company (or any of its
subsidiaries or Affiliates, as applicable) that contains a definition of “Cause” (or a correlative term), such definition will apply (in
the case of such Optionee for purposes of this Agreement) in lieu of Sections 3(a)(i) through (iv) of the definition of “Cause” set
forth above during the term of such other agreement, provided that Section 3(a)(v) of the definition set forth above will always
apply for purposes of this Agreement.

b. “Client” shall mean all Past Clients, Present Clients and Potential Clients, subject to the following general
rules:



i. with respect to each Client, the term “Client” shall also include any Persons who are Affiliates of
such Client and, to the extent known by the Optionee to have such connection with such Client (and the Optionee shall be
deemed to have such knowledge if the Optionee would reasonably have been expected to have such knowledge in the ordinary
course of the Optionee’s duties while the Optionee was employed by the Company or any of its subsidiaries or Affiliates, as
applicable), directors, officers or employees of such Client or any such subsidiaries or Affiliates thereof, or Persons who are
members of the immediate family of such Client or any of the other foregoing Persons or Affiliates of any of them;

ii. with respect to any Present Client or Past Client (as applicable) that is a Fund, the term “Client”
shall also include (x) the sponsor of such Client, and any other Fund sponsored by such Person or its Affiliates, and (y) any
investor in such Client (provided that, except to the extent the Optionee had knowledge of the identity of an investor therein
while the Optionee was employed by the Company or any of its subsidiaries or Affiliates, as applicable (and the Optionee shall
be deemed to have had such knowledge if the Optionee would reasonably have been expected to have had such knowledge in the
ordinary course of the Optionee’s duties while the Optionee was employed by the Company or any of its subsidiaries or
Affiliates, as applicable), in the case of any Fund, an investor therein shall not be deemed a Present Client or Past Client (as
applicable) hereunder);

iii. with respect to any Client that is a trust or similar entity, the term “Client” shall include the settlor
and, to the extent such beneficiary is known to the Optionee to be such a beneficiary (and the Optionee shall be deemed to have
had such knowledge if the Optionee would reasonably have been expected to have had such knowledge in the ordinary course of
the Optionee’s duties while the Optionee was employed by the Company or any of its subsidiaries or Affiliates, as applicablc),
any Person who is a beneficiary of such Client and the Affiliates and immediate family members of any such Persons;

iv. with respect to so-called “wrap programs,” “SMA programs” or similar programs, the term “Client”
shall include (x) the sponsor of such program, and (y) the underlying participants in such program (provided that, except to the
extent the Optionee had knowledge of the identity of a participant therein while the Optionee was employed by the Company or
any of its subsidiaries or Affiliates, as applicable (and the Optionee shall be deemed to have had such knowledge if the Optionee
would reasonably have been expected to have had such knowledge in the ordinary course of the Optionee’s duties while the
Optionee was employed by the Company or any of its subsidiaries or Affiliates, as applicable), a participant therein shall not be
deemed a Present Client or Past Client (as applicable) hereunder); and

V. with respect to each Client, the term “Client” shall also include any Persons who (x) in U.S. retail
markets, serve as intermediaries, including, but not limited to, broker-dealers and financial advisers, and, (y) in all other markets,
serve as an intermediary with discretion as to whether or not to make Affiliate products available to their underlying clients.

c. “Fund” shall mean any collective investment vehicle (whether open-ended or closed-ended), including,
without limitation, an investment company (whether or not registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended),
a general or limited



partnership, a trust or a commingled fund, in any such case organized (or otherwise formed) in any jurisdiction.

d. “Good Reason” shall mean any of the following events or conditions occurring without the Optionee’s
express written consent, provided that the Optionee shall have given notice of such cvent or condition within 90 days of the initial
existence of such event or condition and the Company shall not have remedied such event or condition within 30 days after
receipt of such notice:

i. a materially adverse alteration in the nature or status of the Optionee’s duties or responsibilities;

ii. a material reduction in the Optionee’s annual base salary or any target bonus, other than an across-
the board reduction that applics to the Optionee and similarly-situated employces; or

iii. a change of 50 miles or more in the Optionee’s principal place of Employment, except for required
ravel on business to an extent substantially consistent with the Optionee’s business travel abligations.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Optionee is party to an employment, severance-benefit, change of control or
sirnilar agreement with the Company (or any of its subsidiaries or Affiliates; as applicahle) thar coniains A definiiion of “Good
Reason” (or a carrelative term), such definition will apply (in the case of the Qptionee for purposes of this Agreement) in lien of
the definition set forth ahove during the term of such agreement.

e. “Investment Management Services” shall mean any services which involve: (i) the management of an
investment account or Fund (or portions thereof or a group of investment accounts or Funds); (ii) the giving of advice with
respect to the investment and/or reinvestment of dsseis or finds (or any group of assets or funds); or (iii) oiherwise acting as an
“investment adviser” within the meaning of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, as amended, including, without limitation, in
each of the foregoing cases, perfarming activities related or incidental thereto.

£ “Past Client” shall mean, subject to the general rules under the definition of Client, at any particular time
of determination, any Person (i) who at any point prior to such time of determination had been, directly or indirectly (and
including, without limitation, throngh one ar more intermediaries siich as a wrap sponsor or as an investar in a Fund for which
the Company or any subsidiary or Affiliate thereof acts (or acted) as a sponsor, adviser or sub-adviser or in a similar capacity), an
advisee or investment advisory customer or client of, or otherwise a recipient of Investmenr Management Services from, (x) the
Cotpatty or any subsidiary or Affiliate thereof, and/or {y) any owner, part owner, shareholder, parwer, inember, direcuor, officer,
trustee, employee, agent or consultant of the Company or any subsidiary or Affiliate thereof acting on behalf of the Company or
any of its suhsidiaries or Affiliates, hut at shch rime is not an advisee or investment advisory customer or client of (or atherwise a
direct or indirect recipient of Investment Management Services from) the Company or any suhsidiary or A ffiliate thereof (or any
of the foregoing Persons acting on their behalf), and (ii) with which Optionee or Optionee’s department had material, direct
interaction with and/or with respect to



which Optionee had access to proprietary or confidential information; provided, however, that, from and after the termination of
Optionee’s Employment, the term “Past Client” shall thereafter be limited (solely with respect to the Optionee) to those Past
Clients who were (directly or indirectly) advisees or investinent advisory customers or clients of, or recipients of Investment
Management Services from, the Company or any subsidiary or Affiliate thereof, or any owner, part owner, shareholder, partner,
member, director, oflicer, buslee, euployee, agent or consultant (or persons dcting in any similar capacity) ol ihe Company or
any subsidiary or Affiliate thereof, at any time during the two (2) years immediately preceding the date of such termination.

¥ “Performunce Measure” shall inean the iarget(s) for the applicable Performduce Period(s) (wach as sei forih
on Exhibit A, as applicable), as established by the Compensation Committee.

h. “Person” shall mean any individual, partnership (limited or general), corporation, limited liability
company, limited liability partnership, association, trust, joint venture, unincorporated organization or other entity.

i. “Potential Client” shall mean, subject to the general rules under the definition of Client, at any particular
time of determination, any Person (i) to whom (x) the Company or any subsidiary or Affiliate thereof, and/or (y) any owner, part
owner, shareholder, partner, member, director, officer, trustee, employee, agent or consultant (or persons acting in any similar
capacity) of the Company or any snbsidiary or Affiliate thereof, acting on hehalf of the Company or any subsidiary or Affiliate
thereof in any such case has within one (1) year prior to such time of determination offered (whether by means of a personal
meeling, lelephone call, letter, wrillen proposal or otherwise) to serve as investment adviser or otherwise provide Investment
Management Services, but who is not at such tire an advisee or investineut advisory customer or client of (or otherwise a direct
ar indirect recipient of Investment Management. Services from) the Company or any subsidiary or Affiliate thereof (or any of rhe
{uregoiug Persons dcting ou theiv behalf), and (it) with which Optionee vt Optionee’s departinent liad materidl, divect interaction
with and/or with respect to which Optivnee had access o proprietary or confidential information; provided, however, that, [rom
and after the termination of Optionee’s Employment, the term “Potential Client” shall thereafter be limited (solely with respect to
the Optionee) to those Potential Clients to whom such an offer to provide Investment Management Services was made at any
time during the nne (1) year immediately preceding the date of such termination. The preceding sentence is meant to exclude
advertising, if any, through mass media in which the offer, if any, is available to the general public, such as magazines,
newspapers and sponsorships of public events.

J- “Present Client” shall mean, subject to the geneval rules under the definiiion of Client, at any particular
time of determination, any Person (i) who is at such time of determination, directly or indirectly (and 1nc1ud1ng, without
limitarion, through one or more intermediaries such as a wrap sponsor, or as an investor in a Fund for which the Company or any
subsidiary or Affiliate thereof acts as a sponsor, adviser or sub-adviser or in a similar capacity), an advisee or investment advisory
customer or client of (or otherwise a divect vr indirect recipient of Tnvestrnent Management Services from) (x) the Company or
any subsidiary or Affiliate thereof and/or (y) any owner, part owner, shareholder, partner, member, director, officer, trustee,
employee, agent or consultant (or persons acting in any similar capacity) of the Company or any subsidiary or Affiliate thereof
acting on behalf of the Company or any



subsidiary or Affiliate thereof, and (ii) with which Optionee or Optionee’s department had material, direct interaction with and/or
with respect to which Optionee had access to proprietary or confidential information.

k. “Retirement Eligible Award” shall have the meaning set forth in the Company’s Employee Equity
Retirement Policy, as may be in effect from time to time (the “Retirement Policy”).

4. Termination of Service. If the Optionee’s Employment terminates, this Stock Option may be subject to
earlier termination or accelerated vesting as set forth below.

a. Termination by _Reason of Death or Disability. If the Optionee’s Employment terminates by reason of death
or disability, this Stock Option shall automatically fully vest at the time of such termination and may thereafter be exercised by
the Optionee or the Optionce’s legal representative or legatee; or by the Optionee’s permitted transferee, if any, for a period of
twelve (12) months from the date of death or disability, as the case may be, or until the Expiration Date, if earlier; provided that,
if subject to a Performance Measure, this Stock Option shall only be exercisable pursuant to this Section 4(a) if (i) the
Compensation Committee has certified that the Performance Measure has been attained with respect to all or any portion thereof
on or before the date of termination; and in such case shall vest at the time of such termination and shall be exercisable into the
number of Option Shares set forth on Exhibit A, or (ii) the attainment of the Performance Measure is not yet determinable as of
such date, and in such case this Stock Option shall fully vest at the time of such termination but the vested Stock Option shall
remain subject to the attainment of the Performance Measure, and this Stock Option shall not be exercisable unless and until the
Compensation Committee has certified that the Performance Measure has been attained with respect to all or any portion thereof,
and following such certification shall be exercisable into the number of Option Shares set forth on Exhibit A (in each case, by the
Optionee or the Optionee’s legal representative or legatee, or by the Optionee’s permitted transferee, if any, for a period of twelve
(12) months from the date of such certification or until the Expiration Date, if earlier). (For the avoidance of doubt, if this Stock
Option (including any portion thereof that vested pursuant to sub-clause (ii) above) is subject to a Performance Measure that the
Compensation Committee has certified has not been attained, this Stock Option shall terminate in accordance with Section 1(b)
hereof.) In the case of termination by reason of disability, the death of the Optionee during the twelve-month period provided in
this Section 4(a) shall extend such period for another twelve (12) months from the date of death or until the Expiration Date, if
earlier.

b. Retirement. If this Stock Option qualifies as a Retirement Eligible Award, as indicated on Exhibit A, then
the applicable provisions of the Retirement Policy shall apply to this Stock Option.

C. Termination for Cause. If the Optionee’s Employment terminates for Cause, this Stock Option shall
terminate immediately and be of no further force and effect.

d. Other Termination. If the Optionee’s Employment terminates for any reason other than death or disability,
Retirement (as such term is defined in the Retirement Policy), for Cause, or in connection with a Change of Control described in
Section 1(c), and unless a longer period is determined by the Administrator, this Stock Option may be exercised by




the Optionee, to the extent exercisable on the date the Optionee’s Employment terminates, for a period of ninety (90) days from
the date the Optionee’s Employment terminates or until the Expiration Date, if earlier. Any portion of the Stock Option that is not
exercisable at such time shall terminate immediately and be of no further force or effect; it being understood that this Stock
Option shall remain outstanding following the date of any termination due to death, disability or in connection with a Change of
Control described in Section 1(c) with respect to any portion of this Stock Option that has vested pursuant to Sections 1(c)(y) or
4(a)(ii) hereof until this Stock Option is exercised or terminated in accordance with Section 1(c) or 4(a), as applicable.

The Administrator’s determination of the reason that the Optionee’s Employment has terminated shall be conclusive and binding
on the Optionee and the Optionee’s representatives, legal guardians or legatees.

5. Noncompetition, Intellectual Property and Confidentiality.

a. In consideration of the Stock Option granted herein, the Optionee agrees that during the term of the
Optionee’s Employment with the Company or any of its subsidiaries or Affiliates and for one (1) year thereafter (or two (2) years
if the Optionee breaches the Optionee’s fiduciary duty to the Company or its subsidiaries or Affiliates, or unlawfully takes,
physically or electronically, property belonging to the Company or its subsidiaries or Affiliates) for any reason other than
termination by the Company without Cause, the Optionee: (i) will not, directly or indirectly, whether as owner, partner,
shareholder, member, consultant, agent, employee, co-venturer or otherwise, engage, participate or invest in any Competing
Business (as hereinafter defined) (provided, however, that nothing in this clause (i) shall prohibit the Optionee from acting as an
agent for a Competing Business in the course of the Optionee’s employment (or other applicable service relationship) for a
business which is not a Competing Business); (ii) will not, directly or indirectly, take any action to negotiate or discuss with any
person or entity or solicit or entertain from any person or entity, any investment, purchase, proposal, offer or indication of interest
regarding (A) any investment in any entity in which the Company or any of its subsidiaries or Affiliates holds any securities or
other investment interests or (B) any investment in any other entity with whom the Company or any of its subsidiaries or
Affiliates is or was discussing or negotiating any possible investment therein at any time during the one (1) year preceding the
termination (if any) of the Optionee’s Employment (or other applicable service relationship) with the Company or any of its
subsidiaries or Affiliates.

For purposes of this Agreement, the term “Competing Business” shall mean a business or a division of a business,
conducted anywhere in the world, which invests in or acquires boutique or specialist investment managers or advisers, or has
adopted a strategy or developed a business plan to invest in or acquire multiple boutique or specialist investment managers or
advisers. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Optionee may own up to five percent (5%) of the outstanding stock of a publicly
held corporation which constitutes or is affiliated with a Competing Business.

b. During the term of the Optionee’s Employment with the Company or any of its subsidiaries or Affiliates
and for two (2) years thereafter, the Optionee will refrain from directly or indirectly employing, attempting to employ, recruiting
or otherwise soliciting, inducing or influencing any person to leave Employment with the Company or its subsidiaries or



Affiliates (other than terminations of Employment of subordinate employees undertaken in the course of the Optionee’s
Employment with the Company or any of its subsidiaries or Affiliates).

c. In addition to (and not in limitation of) the provisions of Sections 5(a) and (b) of this Agreement, the
Optionee agrees, for the benefit of the Company and its subsidiaries and Affiliates, that the Optionee shall not, during the term of
the Optionee’s Employment (or other applicable service relationship) with the Company or any of its subsidiaries or Affiliates
and for one (1) year thereafter, directly or indirectly (whether individually or as owner, part owner, shareholder, partner, member,
director, officer, trustee, employee, agent, consultant or in any other capacity, on behalf of the Optionee or any other Person
(other than the Company or a subsidiary or Affiliate thereof while employed by the Company)):

i provide Investment Management Services to any Person that is a Client (which includes Past
Clients, Present Clients, and Potential Clients);

ii. solicit or induce (whether directly or indirectly) any Person for the purpose (which need not be the
sole or primary purpose) of (A) causing any funds or accounts with respect to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries or
Affiliates provides Investment Management Services to be withdrawn from such management or other services, or (B) causing
any Client (including any Potential Client) not to engage the Company or any of its subsidiaries or Affiliates to provide
Investment Management Services for any additional funds or accounts (or otherwise attempt to cause any of the foregoing to
occur);

iii. otherwise divert or take away (or seek to divert or take away) any funds or investment accounts
with respect to which the Company or any subsidiary or Affiliate thereof provides Investment Management Services; or

iv. contact or communicate with, whether directly or indirectly, any Past Clients, Present Clients or
Potential Clients in connection with providing Investment Management Services to such Persons;

provided, however, that this Section 5(c) shall not be applicable to Clients (including Potential
Clients) who are also immediate family members of the Optionee.

d. The Optionee understands that the restrictions set forth in Sections 5(a), (b) and (c) of this Agreement are
intended and necessary to protect the Company’s and its subsidiaries’ and Affiliates’ interests in its and their Proprictary
Information (as hereinafter defined) and established employee and client relationships and goodwill, and agrees that such
restrictions are reasonable and appropriate for this purpose.

e. The Optionee agrees and acknowledges that any and all presently existing business of the Company and its
subsidiaries and Affiliates and all business developed by the Company, any of its subsidiaries or Affiliates, the Optionee and/or
any other employee (or other service provider) of the Company and its subsidiaries and Affiliates, including, without limitation,
all client lists, the Company’s deal structures (as represented by the transactions it has completed, attempted or actually
proposed), compensation records, agreements, and any other incident of any business developed by the Company or carried on by
the Company, and all trade names, service marks and logos under which the Company, its subsidiaries and its and their
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Affiliates do business, including, without limitation, “Affiliated Managers Group” and any combinations or variations thereof and
all related logos, are and shall be the exclusive property of the Company or such subsidiary or Affiliate, as applicable, for its or
their sole use, and (where applicable) amounts received in respect of the foregoing shall be payable directly to the Company or
such subsidiary or Affiliate. The Optionee acknowledges that, in the course of performing services for the Company and
otherwise, the Optionee will from time to time have access to information concerning the Company’s, its subsidiaries’ or its
Affiliates’ current or proposed businesses, technologies, business relationships, clients, personnel, processes, operations,
strategies, plans, methods, investments, investment recommendations, investment processes, investment methodologies, products,
confidential records, manuals, data, client and contact lists, trade secrets, or financial, corporate, sales, marketing or personnel
affairs, which the Company or such subsidiary or Affiliate has not released to the general public, and all memoranda, notes,
papers, items, tangible media, electronic files and communications related thereto (collectively, “Proprietary Information”). The
Optionee agrees that Proprietary Information of the Company or any subsidiary or Affiliate thereof is and will be the exclusive
property of the Company or such subsidiary or Affiliate, as the case may be, and further agrees to always keep secret and never
(during the term of this Agreement or thereafter) publish, divulge, furnish, use or make accessible to anyone (other than in the
regular course of business of the Company or any subsidiary or Affiliate thereof or otherwise at the Company’s request) such
Proprietary Information. Anything contained herein to the contrary notwithstanding, this Section 5(e) shall not (i) apply to any
knowledge, information or property which (x) is generally known or available to the public or in the public domain, (y) has been
previously disclosed or made available to the public, unless the Optionee knows or has reason to know that such disclosure or
availability was the direct or indirect result of the violation or breach of a confidentiality or non-disclosure obligation, or (z) is
required to be disclosed or delivered by any court, agency or other governmental authority or is otherwise required to be
disclosed by law, or (ii) preclude the Optionee from cooperating with any governmental process, or any governmental or law
enforcement agency in any investigation, or from making any other communications (without notice to or consent from the
Company) with a governmental agency. The Optionce understands that the Optionee will not be held criminally or civilly liable
under any federal or state trade secret law for disclosing a trade secret (i) in confidence to a federal, state, or local government
official, either directly or indirectly, or to an attorney, solely for the purpose of reporting or investigating a suspected violation of
law, or (ii) in a complaint or other document filed under seal in a lawsuit or other proceeding; provided, however, that
notwithstanding this immunity from liability, the Optionee may be held liable if the Optionee accesses trade secrets by
unauthorized means.

f. The Optionee will make full and prompt disclosure to the Company of all inventions, discoveries, designs,
developments, methods, modifications, improvements, processes, algorithms, databases, computer programs, formulae,
techniques, trade secrets and other works of authorship (collectively, “Developments”), whether or not patentable or
copyrightable, that are created, made, conceived, or reduced to practice by the Optionee (alone or jointly with others) or under the
Optionee’s direction during the Optionee’s Employment. The Optionee acknowledges and confirms that the Optionee hereby
assigns and transfers, and will assign and transfer, to the Company and its successors and assigns all the Optionee’s right, title
and interest in all Developments that (i) relate to the business of the Company, any subsidiary or Affiliate or any customer of or
supplier to the Company or any of the products or services being researched, developed, manufactured, serviced, licensed or sold
by the Company or which may
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be used with such products or services; or (ii) result from tasks assigned to the Optionee by the Company, a subsidiary or an
Affiliate; or (iii) result from the use of premises or personal property (whether tangible or intangible) owned, leased or contracted
for by the Company, a subsidiary or an Affiliate (“Company-Related Developments”), and all related patents, patent applications,
trademarks and trademark applications, copyrights and copyright applications, and other intellectual property rights in all
countries and territories worldwide and under any international conventions (“Intellectual Property Rights”).

g. Upon termination of the Optionee’s Employment for any reason, the Optionee shall, and agrees to, return
all Proprietary Information in the Optionee’s possession or control to the Company and such Proprietary Information will remain
in the Company’s possession. The Optionee will cooperate fully with the Company and its subsidiaries and Affiliates, both during
Employment and following termination of Employment for any reason, in order for the Company and its subsidiaries and
Affiliates to enforce and protect any of their rights and interests with respect to Proprietary Information, Company-Related
Developments, and Intellectual Property Rights in Company-Related Developments, including, without limitation whatsoever,
signing all papers, copyright applications, patent applications, declarations, oaths, assignments of priority rights, and powers of
attorney which the Company may deem necessary or desirable in order to protect such rights and interests.

h. The Optionee and the Company agree that, in the event that any provision of this Section 5 is determined
by any court of competent jurisdiction to be unenforceable by reason of its being extended over too great a time, too large a
geographic area or too great a range of activities, the applicable provision shall be deemed to be modified to permit its
enforcement to the maximum extent permitted by law.

i. Notwithstanding the foregoing or anything to the contrary herein, if this Stock Option qualifies as a
Retirement Eligible Award, as set forth on Exhibit A, the Optionee may be subject to additional terms and conditions regarding
non-competition, and any such terms and conditions are in addition to, and not in limitation of, the terms and conditions set forth
herein, including, without limitation, the provisions addressing non-competition and non-solicitation.

6. Remedies Upon Breach. In the event that the Optionee breaches any of the provisions of Section 5 of this
Agreement, including without limitation following the termination of the Optionee’s Employment, the entire intrinsic value of the
vested Stock Option (as of the date the Optionee’s Employment is terminated, whether or not exercised or paid, settled or
distributed by the Company), shall be paid to or retained by the Company, as applicable, as liquidated damages (the “Liquidated
Damages”). The parties agree that in the event of such breach by the Optionee it will be difficult to ascertain with certainty the
amount of damages suffered by the Company and its subsidiaries and Affiliates. The amount of the Liquidated Damages
represents a reasonable estimate of the damages expected to be suffered by the Company and its subsidiaries and Affiliates as a
result of the Optionee’s default and, in any such event, in addition to (and not in limitation of) such other remedies as the
Company may have against the Optionee, until the Liquidated Damages are recovered in their entirety, (x) the Company shall be
entitled to withhold any payments to which the Optionee otherwise would be entitled (whether pursuant to this Agreement or any
other agreement, plan or policy, including without limitation distributions hereunder), and (y) the Optionee, at the request of the
Company,

12



shall return all or some incentive compensation (which shall include any compensation distributed or awarded to the Optionee
other than base compensation); provided that, any amounts so withheld or returned shall be promptly released to the original
payee to the extent it is determined (whether by settlement, judgment or arbitral decision) that such amounts are required to be so
released, together with interest thereon as may be agreed or determined in connection with such settlement, judgment or decision.
The Optionee agrees that the remedies provided in this Section 6 are reasonably related to anticipated losses that the Company
and/or any of its subsidiaries or Affiliates would suffer upon a breach of such provisions by the Optionee. The Optionee
recognizes and agrees that the Company’s remedies at law for any breach, or threatened breach, of the provisions of this
Agreement would be inadequate, and that for any breach or threatened breach of such provisions by the Optionee, the Company
shall, in addition to such other remedies as may be available to it at law or in equity or as provided in this Agreement, be entitled
to injunctive relief and enforcement of its rights by an action for specific performance to the extent permitted by law (and without
having to post bond), and to an award of reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs incurred in connection with securing any of its
rights hereunder. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Optionee recognizes and agrees that if this Stock Option qualifies as a
Retirement Eligible Award, as set forth on Exhibit A, the Retirement Policy, to the extent applicable, may provide for alternative
remedies upon any breach of the terms and conditions set forth therein.

7. Notice of Termination.

a. The Optionee’s Employment may be terminated at any time by the Company or, if different, any subsidiary
or Affiliate of the Company that is the Optionee’s employer (the “Optionee’s employer”), or by the Optionee; provided that, the
Optionee (but not the Company or, if different, the Optionee’s employer) shall be required to provide at least six (6) months
advance written notice of such termination. For the avoidance of doubt, for purposes of Section 5 of this Agreement, termination
of Employment shall be deemed to occur upon delivery of notice of termination by the Optionee.

b. Where notice of termination has been delivered by the Optionee, the Company and, if different, the
Optionee’s employer shall be under no obligation to provide any activities to Optionee to carry out on behalf of the Company or
its subsidiaries or Affiliates, and may require the Optionee (i) not to attend any premises of the Company or any subsidiary or
Affiliate thereof, (ii) to resign with immediate effect from any offices the Optionee holds with the Company or any subsidiary or
Affiliate thereof (or any Client thereof), (iii) to refrain from any business contact with any Clients, partners or employees of the
Company or any subsidiary or Affiliate thereof, and (iv) to take any leave time the Optionee has accrued under the policies of the
Company (or any of its subsidiaries or Affiliates, as applicable).

C. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Optionee is a party to an employment agreement with the Company
or any subsidiary or Affiliate thereof, and/or if this Stock Option qualifies as a Retirement Eligible Award, as set forth on Exhibit
A, any applicable terms of such employment agreement and/or the Retirement Policy, as applicable, shall supersede and apply in
precedence to the provisions of clauses (a) and (b) of this Section 7, and clauses (a) and (b) of this Section 7 shall not be taken to
amend the related terms of such employment agreement and/or the Retirement Policy, as applicable.
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d. In connection with the termination of the Optionee’s Employment, the Optionee shall reasonably cooperate
with the Company and, if different, the Optionee’s employer, to prepare a communication plan regarding the Optionee’s
departure, and the Optionee shall not make any other public statement regarding the Optionee’s departure without the prior
written consent of the Company.

8. Nondisparagement. Tn exchange for the consideration herein, the Optionee agrees not to make any
disparaging, derogatory, damaging, and/or critical statements concerning the Company or any subsidiaries or any of their
respective affiliates, partners, officers, directors, employees, services, products and/or activities.

9. Third-Party Agreements and Rights.

a. The Optionee hereby confirms that the Optionee is not bound by the terms of any agreement with any
previous employer or other party which restricts in any way the Optionee’s use or disclosure of information or the Optionee’s
engagement in any business. In the Optionee’s work for the Company or any of its subsidiaries or Affiliates, the Optionee will not
disclose or use any information in violation of any rights of any such previous employer or other party.

b. The Optionee’s employer, if different than the Company, is an intended third-party beneficiary under this
Agreement and may enforce the terms of Sections 5, 6, 7, 8, 11 and 12 of this Agreement. This right is subject to (i) the rights of
the parties hereto to rescind or vary this Agreement without the consent of any such subsidiary or Affiliate and (ii) the other terms
and conditions of this Agreement and the Plan.

10.  Transferability. This Agreement is personal to the Optionee, is non-assignable and is not transferable in
any manner, by operation of law or otherwise, other than by will or the laws of descent and distribution or as permitted by the
Administrator (or its delegee). This Stock Option is exercisable, during the Optionee’s lifetime, only by the Optionee or the
Optionee’s legal guardian, if any, and thereafter, only by the Optionee’s legal representative or legatee. Notwithstanding anything
to the contrary, to the extent that the Administrator, in its sole discretion, determines that all or any portion of this Stock Option
does not qualify as an “incentive stock option” under Section 422 of the Code, whether pursuant to Section 6(b)(viii) of the Plan
or otherwise, the Optionee may transfer, without consideration for the transfer, such part of this Stock Option to members of the
Optionee’s immediate family, to trusts for the benefit of such family members, or to partnerships in which such family members
are the only partners, provided that the transferee (and, as required by the Administrator, the beneficiaries or members of such
transferee) agrees in writing with the Company to be bound by all of the terms and conditions of the Plan and this Agreement.
Following such a permitted transfer, the provisions of this Agreement providing for the exercise of this Stock Option by the
Optionee shall be deemed to permit exercises by a permitted transferee to whom all or a part of this Stock Option has been
permissibly transferred.

11. Status of the Stock Option; Certain Tax Matters.

a. While all or a portion of this Stock Option may be intended to qualify as an “incentive stock option” under
Section 422 of the Code, the Company does not represent or
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warrant that this Stock Option qualifies as such, and none of the Company, any of its Affiliates, the Administrator or any person
acting on behalf of the Company, any of its Affiliates or the Administrator, will be liable to the Optionee or to the estate or
beneficiary of the Optionee or to any person by reason of the failure of the Stock Option to satisfy the requirements of Section
422 of the Code. The Optionee should consult with the Optionee’s own tax advisors regarding the tax effects of this Stock Option
and the requirements necessary to obtain favorable income tax treatment under Section 422 of the Code, including, but not
limited to, holding period and exercise requirements. The Optionee acknowledges and agrees that the Company or the
Administrator may take any action permitted under the Plan without regard to the effect such action may have on the status of the
Stock Option as an incentive stock option and that such actions may cause the Stock Option to fail to be treated as an incentive
stock option.

b. With respect to any portion of this Stock Option that is intended to qualify as an “incentive stock option”
under Section 422 of the Code, if the Optionee intends to dispose or does dispose (whether by sale, gift, transfer or otherwise) of
any shares of Stock underlying this Stock Option within the one-year period beginning on the date after the transfer of such
shares to the Optionee, or within the two-year period beginning on the day after the grant of this Stock Option, the Optionee will
notify the Company in writing within fifteen (15) days after such disposition.

C. To the extent that the aggregate Fair Market Value (determined at the time of grant) of the Option Shares
subject to the portion of the Stocl Option, if any, intended to qualify as an incentive stock option, and all other incentive stock
options the Optionee holds that are exercisable for the first time during any calendar year (under all plans of the Company and its
subsidiaries), exceeds $100,000, the Stock Options held by the Optionee or portions thereof that exceed such limit (according to
the order in which they were granted in accordance with the regutations under Section 422 of the Code) shall be treated as Non-
Qualified Stock Options. '

d. T at the time this Stock Option is exercised the Company determines that under applicable law and
regulations it could be liable for the withholding of any federal, state or local tax or employee’s social security contributions upon
such exercise or with respect to a disposition of any shares of Stock acquired upon such exercise, the Optionee expressly
acknowledges and agrees that the Optionee’s rights hereunder, including the right to be issued shares of Stock upon exercise, are
subject to the Optionee promptly paying to the Company in cash (or by such other means as may be acceptable to the
Administrator in its discretion, including, if the Administrator so determines, by the delivery of previously acquired shares of
Stock or Option Shares acquired hereunder or by the withholding of amounts from any payment hereunder) all such taxes, at a
rate up to the maximum applicable withholding rate, and employee’s social security contributions, in any case, as determined by
the Administrator in its discretion. Mo shares of Stocl: will be transferred pursuant to the exercise of this Stock Option unless and
until the person exercising this Stock Option has remitted to the Company an amount in cash sufficient to satisfy any federal,
state, or local withholding tax and employee’s social security contributions requirements, or has made other arrangements
satisfactory to the Company with respect to such taxes and employee’s social security contributions. The Optionee authorizes the
Company and its subsidiaries to withhold such amount from any amounts otherwise owed to the Optionee, but nothing in this
sentence shall be construed as relieving the Optionee of any liability for satisfying the Optionee’s obligation under the preceding
provisions of this Section 11(d).
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12.  Miscellaneous.
a. This Stock Option is subject to adjustment in accordance with the provisions of Section 7 of the Plan.

b. Notice hereunder shall be given (i) to the Company at its principal place of business, and (ii) to the
Optionee at the address on file in the Company’s records, or in either case at such other address as one party may subsequently
furnish to the other party in writing.

c. The Optionee hereby acknowledges and agrees to the following: (i) this Stock Option is offered to the
Optionee at the complete discretion of the Company; (ii) the Plan, this Stock Option and the Retirement Policy do not form part
of any contract of employment (or other provision of services) between the Optionee and the Company or any of its subsidiaries
or Affiliates and do not confer upon the Optionee any rights with respect to continuance as an employee (or other service
provider) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or Affiliates; (iii) this Stock Option will not affect any right the Company or
any of its subsidiaries or Affiliates may have under any employment agreement with the Optionee or under applicable law to
terminate the Employment of the Optionee at any time with or without Cause; (iv) this Stock Option is not part of the Optionee’s
base salary or wages and will not be taken into account in determining any other employment-related rights that the Optionee
may have, such as any rights the Optionee may have to pension or severance pay; and (v) this Stock Option does not confer on
the Optionee any implied right or entitlement to the exercise of any discretion in the Optionee’s favor with respect to any
discretionary terms in this Stock Option.

d. The Optionee hereby waives all and any rights to compensation or damages in consequence of the
termination of Optionee’s Employment with the Company, or any of its subsidiaries or Affiliates, for any reason whatsoever
(whether lawfully or unlawfully) insofar as those rights arise or may arise from the Optionee ceasing to have rights under or be
entitled to this Stock Option as a result of such termination or from the loss or diminution in value of such rights or entitlements. -
In the event of any conflict between the terms of this Section 12(d) and the Optionee’s terms of employment, this Section 12(d)
shall take precedence (except as required by applicable legislation).

e. Pursuant to Section 10 of the Plan, the Administrator may at any time amend or cancel any outstanding
portion of this Stock Option for any purpose that may at the time be permitted by law, but no such action may be taken that
materially and adversely affects the Optionee’s rights under this Agreement without the Optionee’s consent.

f. If the Optionee is resident outside of the United States, to the extent permitted by applicable law, the
Optionee hereby consents to the holding, processing and transfer of data relating to the Optionee (including sensitive personal
data as defined in the UK Data Protection Act 1998) by: (i) the Company and any of its subsidiaries and Affiliates; (ii) any person
providing services to the Company, its subsidiaries or Affiliates (including, but not limited to, any third party broker, registrar or
administrator); and (iii) any trustee appointed by the Company, its subsidiaries or Affiliates, in each case for all purposes relating
to the administration or operation of the Plan, including the grant, holding, vesting or exercise of a Stock Option and the delivery,
holding or sale of Stock and, to the extent permitted by applicable
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law, this consent includes consent to the transfer of such data to countries outside the European Economic Area even if the
country in question does not maintain adequate data protection standards.

g. The provisions of this Agreement and all claims or disputes arising out of or based upon this Agreement or
relating to the subject matter hereof or thereof will be governed by and construed in accordance with the domestic substantive
laws of the State of Delaware without giving effect to any choice or conflict of laws provision or rule that would cause the
application of the domestic substantive laws of any other jurisdiction. Notwithstanding the foregoing or anything to the contrary
herein, if the Optionee is a resident of, or employed in, the Commonwealth of Massachusetts for at least 30 days prior to the
termination of the Optionee’s Employment with the Company or any of its subsidiaries or Affiliates, Section 5(a) and all claims
or disputes arising out of or based upon such section or relating to the subject matter thereof will be governed by and construed in
accordance with the domestic substantive laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts without giving effect to any choice or
conflict of laws provision or rule that would cause the application of the domestic substantive laws of any other jurisdiction.

h. The Optionee hereby acknowledges that the Optionee (i) has read thoroughly this Agreement, including,
without limitation, Section 5(a), and if this Stock Option qualifies as a Retirement Eligible Award, the Retirement Policy, (ii) is
satisfied that the Optionee understands completely this Agreement, and to the extent applicable, the Retirement Policy, and (iii)
and agrees to be bound by the terms and conditions set forth herein and, to the extent applicable, in the Retirement Policy. The
Optionee understands that the Optionee has the right to consult an attorney before signing this Agreement. Notwithstanding
anything to the contrary herein, Sections 4(b) and 5(a) shall not take effect until ten (10) business days after the Grant Date listed
on Exhibit A hereto.

i. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, this Stock Option shall be, and the Optionee hereby

acknowledges that it is, subject to and governed by all the terms and conditions of the Plan.

[Remainder of this page is intentionally left blank]

17



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Agreement has been executed and delivered by the parties hereto as of the Grant Date.

AFFILTIATED MANAGERS GROUP, INC.

By:
Name: David M. Billings
Title: Executive Vice President,
General Counsel and Secretary

Pleuse execuie this Agreement and return it to the Human Resources Department.

Optionee:

[Stock Option Award Agreement]



Exhibit 10.33

Annual Director Compensation

Board of Directors:

Annual Equity Awards
Restricted Stock Units $ 140,000
Stock Options $ 60,000
Base Annual Fee — Restricted Stock Units $ 80,000
Board Chair Annual Fee — Restricted Stock Units $ 100,000

Committee Fees — Restricted Stock Units

Audit Committee Membership Annual Fee $ 20,000
Audit Committee Chair Annual Fee $ 35,000
Compensation Committee Membership Annual Fee $ 17,000
Compensation Committee Chair Annual Fee $ 20,000
Nominating and Governance Committee Membership Annual Fee $ 13,000

Nominating and Governance Committee Chair Annual Fee $ 15,000



Exhibit 21.1

SCHEDULE OF SUBSIDIARIES
(in alphabetical order)

Below is a list comprised of (i) wholly-owned subsidiaries of Affiliated Managers Group, Inc. (the “Company™), (ii) Affiliates in which the Company has a
majority interest (direct and indirect) and (iii) Affiliates in which the Company has a minority investment (direct and indirect), as of December 31, 2020.
Subsidiaries of majority- and minority-owned Affiliates are not listed. Minority investments are ‘indicated via asterisk (*).

Abacos Atlantic Holdings Ltd., a Bahamas international business company

Abax Investments Proprietary Limited, a limited liability private company incorporated in South Africa*
Affiliated Managers Group (Asia) Limited, a Cayman Islands exempted company

Affiliated Managers Group (Europe) Limited, a Malta limited liability company

Affitiated Managers Group (Hong Kong) Limited, a limited company incorporated in Hong Kong
Affiliated Managers Group Limited, a limited company incorporated in the United Kingdom
Affiliated Managers Group Pty Ltd, a limited company incorporated in Australia

AMG 2014 Capital LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

AMG Andros Holdings Ltd., a Bahamas international business company

AMG Arrow Holdings Ltd., a Bahamas international business company

AMG Adantic Holdings Ltd., a Bahamas international business company

AMG Boston Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

AMG CA Holdings Corp., a New Jersey corporation

AMG CA Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

AMG CA Holdings LP, a Delaware limited partnership

AMG Canada Corp., a Nova Scotia corporation

AMG Canada Holdings LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

AMG Capital (Cayman) LLC, a Cayman Islands limited liability company

AMG Conception Holdings 1 Ltd., a Bahamas international business company

AMG Conception Holdings 3 Ltd., a Bahamas international business company

AMG CVC Holdings LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

AMG Distributors, Inc., a Delaware corporation

AMG Edison Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

AMG FCMC Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

AMG Funds LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

AMG Gamma Holdings Ltd., a Bahamas international business company .
AMG Genesis, LL.C, a Delaware limited liability company

AMG Global, Inc., a Delaware corporation

AMG Gotham Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

AMG GWK Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

AMG ICN Holdings LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

AMG New York Holdings Corp., a Delaware corporation

AMG Northeast Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporation

AMG Northeast Investment Corp., a Delaware corporation

AMG PA Holdings Partnership, a Delaware general partnership

AMG PFM Holdings LP, a Delaware limited partnership

AMG Plymouth UK Holdings (1) Limited, a limited company incorporated in England and Wales
AMG Properties LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

AMG Renaissance Holdings LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

AMG SA Holdings Proprietary Limited, a limited liability private company incorporated in South Africa
AMG TBC, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ’

AMG UK Holdings Ltd., a Bahamas international business company

AMG Wealth Partners, LP, a Delaware limited partnership

AMG WF Holdings LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

AMG Windermere Holdings Ltd., a Bahamas international business company

AMG WP GP Holdings Corp., a Delaware corporation

AMG WP LP Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

AMG/FAMI Investment Corp., a Nova Scotia corporation



AMG/Midwest Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporation

AMG/Midwest Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

AMG/North America Holding Corp., a Delaware corporation '

AQR Capital Management Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company*
Arrow Acquisition LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

Arrow Bidco Limited, a limited company incorporated in the United Kingdom
Artemis Asset Management Limited, a limited company incorporated in the United Kingdom
Artemis Investment Management LLP, a United Kingdom limited liability partmership
Artemis Strategic Asset Management Limited, a limited company incorporated in the United Kingdom
Baker Street Advisors LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

Baring Private Equity Asia Group Limited, a Cayman Islands exempted company*
Beutel, Goodman & Company Ltd., a limited company incorporated in Canada*
Bimini Atlantic Holdings Ltd., a Bahamas interational business company

Capeview Capital LLP, an England and Wales limited liability partnership*

Capula Investment Management LLP, an England and Wales limited liability partnership*
Capula Management Limited, a Cayman Islands exempted company*

Catalyst Acquisition 11, Inc., a Delaware corporation

CGH Acquisition TI LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

CGH Acquisition LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

CML Holdings LL.C, a Cayman Islands limited liability company

Comvest Group Holdings LP, a Delaware limited partnership*

Comvest Group Holdings IT LP, a Delaware limited partnership*

Comvest Group GP IT LLC, a Delaware limited liability company*

CVC Holdings LLC, a Cayman Islands limited liability company

EIG Asset Management, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company*

EIG Principals Incentive Carry Vehicle, LP, a Delaware limited partnership*

EIG Principals Incentive Carry Vehicle II, LP, a Delaware limited partnership*

EIG Principals Incentive Carry Vehicle II-A, LP, a Scotland limited partnership*

EIG Principals Incentive Carry Vehicle IIT, LP, a Cayman Islands limited partnership*
FA (WY) Acquisition Company, Inc., a Delaware corporation

El-Train Acquisition LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

FCMC Holdings LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

First Asset Capital Management (IIT) Inc., an Ontario corporation

First Quadrant, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership

Foyston, Gordon & Payne Inc., a Canada corporation

Frontier Capital Management Company, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
Garda Capital Partners LP, a Delaware limited partnership*

GCP Acquisition LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

Genesis Investment Management, LLP, a United Kingdom limited liability partnership
Gotham Acquisition GP, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

Gotham Acquisition LP, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

GW&K Investment Management, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
Harding Loevner LP, a Delaware limited partnership

HWL Holdings Corp., a Delaware corporation

Inclusive Capital Partners Holdco, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership*

Institutional Capital Network, Inc., a Delaware corporation*

Jackson Square Partners, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company*

JSP Acquisition LL.C, a Delaware limited liability company

Moncrusco Bolton Investments Inc., a Canada corporation*

myCIO Wealth Partners, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

Pantheon Capital (Asia) Limited, a limited company incorporated in Hong Kong
Pantheon Holdings Limited, a limited company incorporated in England and Wales
Pantheon Ventures (Asia) Limited, a Cayman Islands exempted company

Pantheon Ventures Inc., a California corporation

Pantheon Ventures (Ireland) Designated Activity Company, an Ireland designated activity company
Pantheon Ventures Limited, a limited company incorporated in England and Wales
Pantheon Ventures (UK) LLP, an England and Wales limited liability partnership
Partner Advisory Services, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership*

Partner Asset Management LLC, a Delaware limited liability company*



PFM Acquisition LP, a Delaware limited partnership

Prides Crossing Holdings LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

River Road Asset Management, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
RRAM Acquisition, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

Spring GP I, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership*

Squam Acquisition GP, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

Squam Acquisition LP, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
Systematic Financial Management, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership
Systematica Investments GP Limited, a registered private company incorporated in Jersey*
Systematica Investments Limited, a registered private company incorporated in Jersey™
Systematica Investments LP, a Guernsey limited partnership*

The Renaissance Group LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

Third Avenue Holdings Delaware LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
TimesSquare Capital Management, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
TimesSquare Manager Member, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
Titan NJ GP Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporation

Titan NJ LP Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

TMF Corp., a Delaware corporation

Topspin Acquisition, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

Tweedy, Browne Company LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
Union Acquisition, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

ValueAct Holdings 11, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership*

ValueAct Holdings GP, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company* -
ValueAct Holdings, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership*

VAM Bidco Limited, a private UK limited company

Veritable, LP, a Delaware limited partnership

Veritas Asset Management LLP, a UK limited liability partnership

Watson Acquisition, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

Wealth Partners Capital Group, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company*
Welch & Forbes LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

Windermere Cayman LP, a Cayman Islands exempted limited partnership
Winton Group Limited, a UK private limited company*

Yacktman Asset Management LP, a Delaware limited partnership
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Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-3 (No. 333-230423) and S-8 (No. 333-240091, No. 333-
190412, No. 333-175912, No. 333-135416, No. 333-129748, No. 333-100628, No. 333-84485, and No. 333-72967) of Affiliated Managers Group, Inc. of
our report dated February 19, 2021 relating to the financial statements and financial statement schedule and the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting, which appears in this Form 10-K.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Boston, MA
February 19, 2021
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Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302(a)
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

1, Jay C. Horgen, certify that:

L
2.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Affiliated Managers Group, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; '

The registrant's other certifying officer and T are respensible for establishing and maintaining disclosure contrals and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) Allsignificant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: February 19, 2021

/s/ JAY C. HORGEN

Jay C. Horgen
President and Chief Executive Officer
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Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302(a)
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
1, Thomas M. Wojcik, certify that:
1. Thave reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Affiliated Managers Group, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and T are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and T have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) Allsignificant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: February 19, 2021

/s/ THOMAS M. WOJCIK

Thomas M. Wojcik
Chief Financial Officer
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Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Affiliated Managers Group, Inc. (the "Company") for the period ended December 31, 2020 as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report”), the undersigned, Jay C. Horgen, President and Chief Executive
Officer of the Company, hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that:

(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: February 19, 2021

/s/ JAY C. HORGEN

Jay C. Horgen
President and Chief Executive Officer
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Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Affiliated Managers Group, Inc. (the "Company") for the period ended December 31, 2020 as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), the undersigned, Thomas M. Wojcik, Chief Financial Officer of the
Company, hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that:

(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: February 19, 2021

/s THOMAS M. WOJCIK

Thomas M. Wojcik
Chief Financial Officer




